
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
June Gurry, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

 (1) 

 

 
 

 
 

Wednesday, 30 November 2022 
 
 

Meeting of the Council 
 
Dear Member 
 
I am pleased to invite you to attend a meeting of Torbay Council which will be held in The 
Burdett Room, Riviera International Conference Centre, Chestnut Avenue, Torquay, TQ2 
5LZ on Thursday, 8 December 2022 commencing at 5.30 pm 
 
The items to be discussed at this meeting are attached.   
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Anne-Marie Bond 
Chief Executive 
 
 
(All members are summoned to attend the meeting of the Council in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and Standing Orders A5.) 

 

 

 

Together Torbay will thrive 

 
 
 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


(2) 

Meeting of the Council 
Agenda 

 
1.   Opening of meeting 

 
 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Minutes (Pages 4 - 11) 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 

Council and Extraordinary meeting of the Council held on 13 and 27 
October 2022. 
 

4.   Declarations of interests 
 

 

(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect 
of items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

5.   Communications  
 To receive any communications or announcements from the: 

 Civic Mayor, to include the presentation of Long Service 
Certificate Awards; 

 Leader of the Council; 
 Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordinator;  
 Council’s representative on the Heart of the South West Joint 

Committee; and  
 Chief Executive. 

 
6.   Petitions (Page 12) 
 To receive petitions and any oral representations from the public in 

accordance with Standing Order A12. 
 



(3) 

7.   Members' questions (Pages 13 - 14) 
 To respond to the submitted questions asked under Standing Order 

A12. 
 

8.   Proposed Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 (Pages 15 - 165) 
 To consider a report that provides the background of the current 

scheme and recommendations for the 2023/24 local Council Tax 
Support scheme. 
 

9.   Council Tax Base 2023/2024  
 To consider a report on the above. 

 
10.   Torbay Economic Growth Strategy (Pages 166 - 264) 
 To consider the recommendation of the Cabinet in respect of the 

Torbay Economic Growth Strategy. 
 

11.   Standing Order D11 (in relation to Overview and Scrutiny) - 
Call-in and Urgency 

(Pages 265 - 266) 

 To note the schedule of Executive decisions to which the call-in 
procedure does not apply. 
 

12.   Composition and Constitution of the Cabinet and Record of 
Delegations of Executive Functions 

(Pages 267 - 271) 

 To receive details from the Leader of the Council of the composition 
and constitution of the Cabinet, together with the record of 
delegations of Executive functions (in accordance with Standing 
Order C2). 
 

 Meeting Attendance  
 Please note that whilst the Council is no longer implementing Covid-

19 secure arrangements attendees are encouraged to sit with space 
in between other people.  Windows will be kept open to ensure good 
ventilation and therefore attendees are recommended to wear 
suitable clothing. 
 
If you have symptoms, including runny nose, sore throat, fever, new 
continuous cough and loss of taste and smell please do not come to 
the meeting. 
 

 

 Live Streaming  
 To encourage more people to engage in our public meetings the 

Council is trialling live streaming our Council meetings on our 
YouTube channel in addition to recording the meetings and 
publishing the recording on our website.  To watch the meeting live 
please visit https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil. 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil


  
 

Minutes of the Council 
(Council decisions shown in bold text) 

 
13 October 2022 

 
-: Present :- 

 
The Worshipful The Mayor of Torbay (Councillor Mandy Darling) (In the Chair) 

 

Councillors Amil, Atiya-Alla, Barrand, Brooks, Bye, Carter, Cowell, Steve Darling, 
Douglas-Dunbar, Dudley, Ellery, Foster, Hill, Johns, Kavanagh, Law, Barbara Lewis, 

Chris Lewis, Long, Mills, Morey, O'Dwyer, Pentney, Stockman, David Thomas, 
Jacqueline Thomas and John Thomas 

 
 

 
34 Opening of meeting  

 

The Worshipful the Mayor of Torbay gave apologies from her Chaplain and opened 
the meeting with a minute’s silence for personal reflection. 

 
35 Apologies for absence  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Barnby, Brown, Dart, 
Howgate, Kennedy, Loxton, Manning and Sykes. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that Councillor Amil had indicated she would be leaving 
the meeting early. 
 

36 Minutes  
 
The Worshipful the Mayor of Torbay proposed and Councillor Long seconded a 
motion, which was agreed (unanimously) by the Council as set out below: 
 

that the Minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 21 July and 15 
September 2002 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Worshipful the Mayor of Torbay. 

 
37 Declarations of interests  

 
Councillor O’Dwyer declared a non-pecuniary interest in Minute 44 as he was a 
Council appointed member on the TDA Board. 
 

38 Communications  
 
The Worshipful the Mayor of Torbay: 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Council Thursday, 13 October 2022 
 

 

 
a) thanked those who attended her Civic Cream Tea which included a 

presentation by guest speaker Kevin Dixon on the history of Torre Abbey and 
Torbay.  The event raised over £500 for the Worshipful the Mayor of Torbay’s 
charities, Guide Dogs Torbay Branch and The Phoenix Project; 
 

b) referred to the recent British Citizenship Ceremony, which she conducted and 
welcomed those receiving citizenship and who had chosen to live in Torbay; 
 

c) updated members on her recent visit to St Marychurch to bring the Civic 
Mayoralty to the community.  The visit included meeting nurses undertaking 
home visits at St Edmunds, holiday-makers and charity shops; 

 
d) advised she had been invited to the Women of the Year Awards in London, 

which provided an opportunity to promote Torbay;  and 
 

e) encouraged members to attend the next Civic Coffee Morning due to be held 
on 19 November 2022 at Oldway Mansion, Paignton. 

 
The Leader of the Council: 
 
a) highlighted the importance of the Worshipful the Mayor of Torbay being invited to 

attend the Women of the Year Awards, with only 450 attendees across the 

country being invited to attend, and acting as an ambassador for Torbay at the 

event; 

 

b) notified the Council that the Royal Palace had announced that Torbay will 

receive one of the Queen’s platinum trees which would be planted in the gardens 

at Oldway Mansion, Paignton;  and 

 
c) invited Councillor Law, the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, to provide 

an update on the pressures within Children’s Services.  Councillor Law updated 

members on the impact the hotel accommodating asylum seekers was having on 

Children’s Services due to the additional pressures arising from the need to 

support those staying at the hotel. 

 
39 Petitions  

 
In accordance with Standing Order A23, the Council received a petition requesting 
the removal of limitations in respect of the Recycling Centre booking slots. 
 
The Chief Executive advised that, at the request of the petitioners, the petition would 
be referred to the Divisional Director Economy, Environment and Infrastructure for 
consideration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, 
Environment and Culture.  
 

40 Members' questions  
 

Page 5



Council Thursday, 13 October 2022 
 

 

Members received a paper detailing questions, notice of which had been given in 
accordance with Standing Order A13. The paper also contained the answers to the 
questions which had been prepared by Councillors Carter, Law, Long, Morey and 
Stockman and was circulated prior to the meeting. 
 
The Chief Executive reported that in the absence of Councillors Kennedy and 
Loxton, questions 1, 4 and 9 had been withdrawn.  Supplementary questions were 
put and answered by Councillors Long and Morey, arising from their responses to 
the questions in respect of questions 5, 10 11 and 15.   
 

41 English Riviera Destination Management Plan Review  
 
The Council considered the recommendations of the Cabinet on the adoption of 
Destination Management Plan 2022-2030 which set out the vision and objectives, 
markets for growth, destination development, management and delivery model to 
take forward Torbay as a destination. 
 
Councillor Long proposed and Councillor Cowell seconded a motion, which was 
agreed (unanimously) by the Council as set out below: 
 

that the Destination Management Plan be approved as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the submitted report. 

 
42 Amendment to the Resources and Waste Management Strategy 2020-2023  

 
The Council received the Cabinet’s recommendation to amend the Resources and 
Waste Management Strategy 2020-2023 to remove the reference to undertaking a 
trial to reduce the frequency of residual waste collections, in order to provide focus 
on improving levels of household recycling in Torbay. 
 
Councillor Morey proposed and Councillor Steve Darling seconded a motion, which 
was agreed (unanimously) by the Council as set out below: 
 
 

1. that within Action 2 of the approved Resources and Waste Management 
Strategy 2022-2023: 

a. The sixth paragraph be deleted; and 

b. The words “To support any changes to the frequency of residual 
waste collections” be deleted from the start of the seventh 
paragraph;  and 

2. that within the Regional Context section of the Strategy: 

a. The first sentence of the final paragraph be deleted; and 

b. The start of the second sentence of the final paragraph be 
amended to read “East Devon District Council found…” 

Page 6



Council Thursday, 13 October 2022 
 

 

 
(Note:  Councillor Amil left the meeting prior to consideration of this item.) 
 

43 SWISCo Vehicle, Equipment and Building Structure Replacement  
 
The Council considered the Cabinet’s recommendation to provide a loan to SWISCo 
to fund replacement vehicles and equipment and investment in SWISCo’s premises 
to ensure health and safety, environmental and other legislative requirements were 
met. 
 
Councillor Cowell proposed and Councillor Steve Darling seconded a motion, which 
was agreed (unanimously) by the Council as set out below: 
 

1. that a loan for a capital purpose of up to £4m is approved by the 
Council to fund the replacement of SWISCo vehicles, equipment 
and building structures over the next 3 financial years.  The loan 
to be funded from prudential borrowing with SWISCo repaying the 
loan on an annuity basis over the expected asset life, typically 7 
years for a vehicle; and 

2. that Council delegate the approval of each drawdown to the 
Deputy Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance.  

 
44 Budget Monitoring 2022/23 - April to July 2022 Revenue Outturn Forecast and 

April to June 2022 Capital Outturn Forecast  
 
The Council received the submitted report which provided a high-level budget 
summary of the Council’s final revenue and capital position for the financial year 
2022/23 and subsequent revised officer recommendations (dated 12 October 2022).  
The Council also received the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board (arising 
from its meeting on 12 October 2022) and noted that the Cabinet had held an extra 
meeting met prior to the Council meeting to review the report. 
 
Councillor Cowell proposed and Councillor Steve Darling seconded a motion, which 
was agreed by the Council as set out below: 
 

That Council be recommended: 

 
1. to defer consideration of the Officer revised recommendations 1, 2 

and 3 (published on 11 October 2022) in light of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board’s recommendation (arising from its meeting on 12 
October 2022) for the Council to receive further information and the 
Directors of Place and Finance be requested to report the further 
information and recommendations to an additional Overview and 
Scrutiny Board and Extraordinary Council, both meetings to be held 
by the end of October 2022; and  

 

Page 7



Council Thursday, 13 October 2022 
 

 

2. that the TorVista Homes working capital facility be increased from 
£1.0m to £1.5m with the rate of interest on the loan to be determined 
by the Chief Finance Officer linked to prevailing council investment 
returns on the date of drawdown. 

 
(Note: Prior to consideration of Minute 44, Councillor O’Dwyer declared his non-
pecuniary interest as a Council’s appointed member on the TDA Board.) 
 

45 Future Approach to Constitution Amendments  
 
The Council considered the submitted report on a review and resulting 
recommendations on the way the Council undertakes changes to its Constitution in 
order to provide greater transparency and accountability. 
 
Councillor Carter proposed and Councillor Cowell seconded a motion, which was 
agreed (unanimously) by the Council as set out below: 
 

that the proposed amendments to Article 13 of the Constitution, as set 
out in Appendix 1 attached to the submitted report, be approved. 

 
46 Treasury Management Mid - Year Review 2022/23  

 
Members noted the submitted report in respect of the Treasury Management Outturn 
for 2022/2023. 
 

47 Standing Order D11 (in relation to Overview and Scrutiny) - Call-in and 
Urgency  
 
Members noted the submitted report setting out the executive decisions taken 
(Leadership and Management Training and Print Services Contracts Approvals) to 
which the call-in procedure did not apply.   
 
 

The Worshipful The Mayor of Torbay 

Page 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 9



  
 

Minutes of the Extraordinary meeting of the Council 
(Council decisions shown in bold text) 

 
27 October 2022 

 
-: Present :- 

 
The Worshipful The Mayor of Torbay (Councillor Mandy Darling) (In the Chair) 

Deputy Civic Mayor of Torbay (Councillor Brown) 
 

Councillors Amil, Atiya-Alla, Barrand, Brooks, Bye, Carter, Cowell, Steve Darling, 
Douglas-Dunbar, Dudley, Ellery, Johns, Kavanagh, Kennedy, Law, Barbara Lewis, 

Chris Lewis, Long, Mills, Morey, O'Dwyer, Pentney, Stockman, Sykes, David Thomas 
and Jacqueline Thomas 

 
 

 
48 Opening of meeting  

 
The meeting was opened with a prayer. 
 

49 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Barnby, Dart, Foster, Hill, 
Howgate, Loxton, Manning and John Thomas. 
 

50 Capital Projects Additional Funding  
 
Further to the Council meeting held on 13 October 2022, Members received the 
submitted report setting out the further information requested by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board in respect of Harbour View and proposals for increasing the Capital 
Contingency Fund.  The Overview and Scrutiny Board considered the submitted 
report at its meeting on 25 October 2022 and made recommendations to the Council 
(as set out in the Board’s draft minutes circulated on 26 October 2022). 
 
Councillor Cowell proposed and Councillor Long seconded a motion, which was 
agreed by the Council as set out below: 

 
1. that the capital contingency budget be increased by £1.4 million to 

a total of £5.4 million to be funded from prudential borrowing, with 
the allocation of the same to be delegated to the Chief Finance 
Officer in consultation with the Cabinet Capital Contingency Fund 
Working Party be approved. In increasing the capital contingency 
budget Council recognise that the increased costs of schemes 
may mean that the revised total scheme costs would be outside of 
the thresholds set for the Economic Growth Fund at the time of 
approval;  

Page 10

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 1



Extraordinary Council Thursday, 27 October 2022 
 

 

 

2. that, an additional £6.6 million, to be funded from prudential 
borrowing, be allocated to the Harbour View project, and 
 

3. that the additional ongoing annual cost (approx. £0.6m) for the 
additional £8 million borrowing in 1 and 2 above be included in 
future year budgets. 

 
(Note:  Councillors Johns and Pentney left the meeting during consideration of this 
item.) 
 
 

The Worshipful The Mayor of Torbay 

Page 11



 

 

Petition to make the junction at Barnfield Road and Marldon Road Safe – Council 8 

December 2022 

 

118 Signatures 

We the undersigned call on Torbay Council to provide road markings (double yellow lines) on the 

junction of Barnfield Road and Marldon Road, Paignton, to ensure better road safety for motorists 

and cyclists on this junction. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



Meeting of the Council, Thursday, 8 December 2022  

Questions Under Standing Order A12 
 

A member may only submit three questions for consideration at each Council Meeting.  Each 

member will present their first question in turn, when all the first questions have been dealt with 

the second and third questions may be asked in turn.  The time for member’s questions will be 

limited to a total of 30 minutes. 

First Round 

Question (1) from 
Councillor Foster to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Infrastructure, 
Environment and 
Culture (Councillor 
Morey) 
 

Can the Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, Environment and Culture 
please give me an update of the spending of the extra £600,000 (£570,000 
plus £30,000) that was added into Torbay Council Highways Budget for 
2022 – 2023, could he please list: 
 

1) What works have already been started or completed between 1 April 
2022 to date and the costs of these works? and 
 

2) What works are programmed between now and 31 March 2023 and 
the anticipated costs of these works? 

 

Question (2) from 
Councillor Bye to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance (Councillor 
Cowell) 

How much has Torbay Council's borrowing increased since May 2019 and 
how much is it likely to increase by May 2023? 

Question (3) from 
Councillor O’Dwyer to 
the Cabinet Member for 
Infrastructure, 
Environment and 
Culture (Councillor 
Morey) 
 

Torbay Council declared a climate emergency almost 4 years ago. 
Since that declaration how many vehicles hired or owned by the Council or 
our wholly owned subsidiary companies have been fully electric vehicles or 
hybrids? In order to allow a comparison please also provide the number of 
owned or hired petrol and diesel vehicles. 
 
Further, since that declaration what percentage of our energy usage across 
Council owned offices and properties come from actual renewable sources 
and how much renewable energy production per annum does the authority 
generate across its estate? 
 

 

Second Round 

Question (4) from 
Councillor Foster to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Corporate and 
Community Services 
(Councillor Carter) 

How many homes in Torbay are currently empty and have been empty for 
longer than 6 Months? 

Question (5) from 
Councillor Bye to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Infrastructure, 
Environment and 
Culture (Councillor 
Morey) 

An elderly Wellswood resident was knocked down and hospitalised on 
Christmas Eve 2020 at the pedestrian crossing on Babbacombe Road by 
Wellswood Avenue, Torquay, and he now wants to ensure the crossing is 
made safe and at the very least requests that the white lines are refreshed.  
 
I made an enquiry to Highways in this respect on 1 August 2022, and it 
took 10 weeks for them to acknowledge.  Why did it take this time to 
respond and when will the white lines get refreshed at this pedestrian Page 13

Agenda Item 7



crossing and at the crossing by Lisburne Square, Torquay which is also in 
a very poor state? 
 

Question (6) from 
Councillor O’Dwyer to 
the Cabinet Member for 
Finance (Councillor 
Cowell) 
 
 

On 27 October 2022 the Council took a decision to fund the completion of 
the Harbour View Hotel and decided to create a Capital Contingency Fund. 
The revenue costs in future years of both of these decisions will be an 
'average' of £600,000.  
 
How many years will the Capital Contingency Fund of an average of 
£600,000 need to be built into future years budget and what services will 
have to be cut to fund this and could the Cabinet Member for Finance 
reconsider whether there are any impacts to public health and socio-
economic deprivation factors that weren’t covered in the original report. 

 

Third Round 

Question (7) from 
Councillor Foster to the 
Climate Change 
Member Champion 
(Councillor Atiya-Alla) 

Will the Climate Change Member Champion please say how many of the 
Torbay Climate Partnership meetings he has attended in the last 12 
months? 

Question (8) from 
Councillor Bye to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Infrastructure, 
Environment and 
Culture (Councillor 
Morey) 

The Council Car Park nearest to Kilmorie Flats by Meadfoot Beach, 
Torquay, has become a place in the evening and late at night for people 
racing cars to congregate, creating excessive noise, anti-social behaviour 
as well as being a danger to themselves and others, behaviour that has 
had a substantial impact on the quality of life for residents.  When will a 
barrier at the entrance be re-instated? 
 

Question (9) from 
Councillor O’Dwyer to 
the Cabinet Members 
for Infrastructure, 
Environment and 
Culture (Councillor 
Morey) 

At the Council meeting on 13 October 2022, I asked a question regarding 
the number of enforcement notices issued and the number of planning 
enforcement orders and breach of conditions notices issued.  Given the low 
numbers provided in the answer to this question, can the Cabinet Member 
for Infrastructure, Environment and Culture confirm that we are protecting 
local heritage and offering the services residents expect? In order to add 
context to your answer, please provide the number of open planning 
enforcement cases, how many are received each month and how many are 
being investigated and closed off each month? 
 

 

Page 14



 

Meeting:  Council  Date: 8 December 2022 

Wards Affected:  All Wards 

Report Title:  Proposed Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 

Cabinet Member Contact Details:  Councillor Christine Carter – Cabinet Member for Corporate 

and Community Services, email: christine.carter@torbay.gov.uk 

Director/Assistant Director Contact Details:  Martin Phillips, Director of Finance, email: 

martin.phillips@torbay.gov.uk 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report provides members with the background of the current scheme and 
recommendations for the 2023/24 local Council Tax Support scheme.   
 

1.2 Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities     to 
annually review their local scheme.   
 

NB: Pension Age households are not affected. The DWP retain control of the regulations applied for 

local authorities to pay Council Tax Support to pension age customers. As pension age claims are 

protected by legislation, these proposed changes will only affect claims from those of working age: 

2. Reason for Proposal and its benefits 

We want Torbay and its residents to thrive. 

We want Torbay to be a place where we have turned the tide on poverty and tackled inequalities; 

where our children and older people will have high aspirations and where there are quality jobs, 

good pay and affordable housing for our residents. 

We want Torbay to be the premier resort in the UK, with a vibrant arts and cultural offer for our 

residents and visitors to enjoy; where our built and natural environment is celebrated and where 

we play our part in addressing the climate change emergency. 

2.1 The Council has a statutory duty to provide a local Council Tax Support Scheme for 
working-age households within its area. Pension age households are subject to statutory 
provisions determined on a national basis that must be incorporated within each authority’s 
local scheme.  To enable the taxbase to be set the Council must approve the final scheme 
by end January 2023 for operation by 1 April 2023.  The scheme cannot be changed mid-
financial year. 
 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



 

 

2.2 It is proposed that Personal Allowances and Premiums are uprated from 1 April 2023 in line 
with the prescribed Pensioner scheme and national working-age benefits, which are both 
set by the Government.   

 
Failure to make this change would result in a cut in entitlement should there be an increase 
in household income. 

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 

3.1  That the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2023/24 be approved. 
 
3.2 That Council notes the scheme for 2023/2024 includes the standard annual uprating of the 

personal allowances and premiums.  These values consider the statutory inflationary 
increase in personal allowances used to calculate entitlement to Council Tax Support.  
These allowances represent a households basic living needs. 

 
3.3 That Personal Allowances and Premiums, used to calculate Council Tax Support, are 

uprated from 1 April 2023 in line with the prescribed Pensioner scheme and national 
working-age benefits, which are both set by the Government. 
 

3.4 That the Director of Finance be given delegated authority, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Corporate and Community Services, to make any further adjustments required 
to the Exceptional Hardship Policy and fund. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1:  Current Council Tax Support Scheme: 

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/17973/torbay-s13a-202223-scheme-final.pdf 

Background Documents  

None 

   

Page 16

https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/17973/torbay-s13a-202223-scheme-final.pdf


 

 

Supporting Information 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Council Tax Support scheme was first approved by members at Full Council in 
December 2016. 

 
1.2 For each financial year, the Council must consider whether to revise its scheme or to 

replace it with a replacement scheme. Any proposed revisions to the format of the scheme 
requires a 6-to-12-week public consultation process.   It must make any revision to its 
scheme, or apply any replacement scheme, no later than 11 March for the subsequent 
financial year commencing 1 April. 

 
1.3 Entitlement to Council Tax Support is based on a means test, by taking into consideration a 

person’s income and comparing this with any personal allowances, premiums and 
disregards to which they may be entitled. 

 
1.4 The current scheme needs to be updated each year to consider the inflationary increase in 

the personal allowances used to calculate entitlement to Council Tax Support.  These 
allowances represent a households basic living needs.  
 

1.5 This will ensure the scheme is compliant with the Prescribed Requirements for all local 
schemes, determined by the Department for Communities and Local Government and also 
aligned to national working-age benefits, determined by the Department for Work and 
Pensions. 

 
1.6  For people of working age, the current scheme has the following key elements:  
 

 All awards are based on 70% of the Council Tax charge for the property. This means 
that the maximum a working age household can receive is 70% of the Council Tax 
due. These households have to pay a minimum of 30% of the Council Tax due; 
 

 No entitlement if working age households have savings over £6,000; 
 

 Restrict working age households to the equivalent of a Band D property charge and 
apply the 70% restriction detailed above; 
 

 A hardship fund is provided for additional financial assistance within the scheme.  This 
is available to households should they be experiencing hardship as a result of their 
Council Tax Support award. 

 

1.7     Under the current scheme pensioners are protected and the level of entitlement for them  
 must remain. Protection will be achieved by keeping in place the existing national rules, 
with eligibility and rates defined in the Prescribed Pensioners Scheme. 

 
1.8     The components used to calculate Council Tax Support consist of the following:  

 Personal Allowances - the basic amounts of money the government says a claimant 
needs to live on. The level depends on the claimant’s age and whether they are part 
of a couple. There are additional allowances for dependent children.  
 

 Premiums - additional amounts added to the personal allowance because of 
claimant’s personal circumstances. The government recognises that it is more Page 17



 

 

expensive to live with a family or if someone has a disability or caring responsibilities. 
Extra amounts are added to income based benefits to account for this.  
 

 Disregards - the amount of earnings not taken into account when calculating 
entitlement to benefits. There are standard earnings disregards for singles, couples 
and lone parents. People in certain groups, such as carers and people with disabilities 
are eligible for a higher disregard. 
 

 Non Dependant Deductions - the amount that is deducted for other people who are 
18 or over and live in the household. The deduction rates for non-dependants are set 
according to their income, as it is assumed that they can make a financial contribution 
to the household.  

 

2. Options under consideration 

2.1      None for 2023/24, however Taxbase 2023/24 report will include a proposal for   

consultation prior to 2024/25. 

3. Financial Opportunities and Implications 

3.1 The Council’s requirement to review its Council Tax Support scheme annually must 
consider both the application of the scheme itself and to consider the financial 
implications of its administration.  

 
3.2      This report is integral to the revenue budget and Council Tax setting process for 2023-24. 

The financial and resource implications as well as underlying assumptions are dealt with 
in that report. 

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities to 
consider whether to revise or to replace its scheme each year.   

 

Page 18



 

 

5. Engagement and Consultation 

5.1 There are no requirements to undertake a public consultation.  The scheme does not 
include any revisions to the format and remains unchanged within its replacement.  

 

6. Purchasing or Hiring of Goods and/or Services 

6.1 The purchasing or hiring of good and/or services is not relevant for this report. 

7. Tackling Climate Change 

7.1 Tackling climate change is not relevant for this report. 

8. Associated Risks 

8.1 The scheme that will be adopted for 2023/24 is the same as the scheme that was adopted 

for 2022/23.  The reasons for this are it: 

 is based on the previous scheme and involves no additional new risk; 
 

 does not disproportionately affect any particular group – disabled persons, single 
parents, etc; 
 

 presents a very low risk of legal challenge. 
 

 Torbay’s most vulnerable groups will continue to be protected as the scheme will retain 
the current scheme characteristics 
 

 the continuation of the hardship scheme will also help cushion the effect of the changes 
and should mitigate any adverse impacts where possible. 

9. Equality Impacts - Identify the potential positive and negative 

impacts on specific groups 

 

 Positive Impact Negative Impact & 
Mitigating Actions 

Neutral Impact 

Older or younger 
people 

If Personal 
Allowances and 
Premiums were not 
uprated in line with 
the prescribed 
pensioner scheme 
and national working-
age benefits 

  

Page 19



 

 

residents would 
effectively have a cut 
in their entitlement 
should their income 
increase. 
 

People with caring 
Responsibilities 

  Protection for those 
receiving a carers 
allowance is in line 
with the old Council 
Tax Benefit scheme. 

People with a disability   Protection for disabled 
people is in line with 
the old Council Tax 
Benefit scheme. 
Disability benefits, 
such as Disability 
Living Allowance, will 
continue to be fully 
disregarded as well as 
the associated 
personal allowances 
and premiums that are 
currently awarded to 
people with disabilities 

Women or men   Although this 
information is 
recorded, there is no 
adverse impact on the 
grounds of gender. 
Torbay’s scheme is 
open to applications 
from persons of any 
gender and there are 
no aspects of the 
scheme which impact 
in any way on the 
availability of support 
to claimants based 
solely on gender. 

People who are black 
or from a minority 
ethnic background 
(BME) (Please note 
Gypsies / Roma are 
within this community) 

  There is no differential 
impact 

Religion or belief 
(including lack of belief) 

  This information is not 
collected as part of the 
administration of the 
Council Tax Support Page 20



 

 

Scheme however there 
is no record of having 
received any 
comments or 
complaints or 
challenges regarding 
this particular group in 
respect of the design 
and operation and 
administration of the 
Torbay Council Tax 
Support Scheme. 

People who are lesbian, 
gay or bisexual 

  This information is not 
collected as part of the 
administration of the 
Council Tax Support 
Scheme however there 
is no record of having 
received any 
comments or 
complaints or 
challenges regarding 
this particular group in 
respect of the design 
and operation and 
administration of the 
Torbay Council Tax 
Support Scheme. This 
information is not 
collected as part of the 
administration of the 
Council Tax Support 
Scheme however there 
is no record of having 
received any 
comments or 
complaints or 
challenges regarding 
this particular group in 
respect of the design 
and operation and 
administration of the 
Torbay Council Tax 
Support Scheme. 

People who are 
transgendered 

  This information is not 
collected as part of the 
administration of the 
Council Tax Support 
Scheme however there 
is no record of having 
received any 
comments or 

Page 21



 

 

complaints or 
challenges regarding 
this particular group in 
respect of the design 
and operation and 
administration of the 
Torbay Council Tax 
Support Scheme. 

People who are in a 
marriage or civil 
partnership 

  This information is not 
collected as part of the 
administration of the 
Council Tax Support 
Scheme however there 
is no record of having 
received any 
comments or 
complaints or 
challenges regarding 
this particular group in 
respect of the design 
and operation and 
administration of the 
Torbay Council Tax 
Support Scheme. 

Women who are 
pregnant / on maternity 
leave 

  There is no differential 
impact 

Socio-economic 
impacts (Including 
impact on child poverty 
issues and deprivation) 

  There is no differential 
impact 

Public Health impacts 
(How will your proposal 
impact on the general 
health of the population 
of Torbay) 

  There is no differential 
impact 

10. Cumulative Council Impact 

10.1 Not applicable for this proposal. 

11. Cumulative Community Impacts 

11.1 Not applicable for this proposal. 

 

Page 22



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
     

           
  

Torbay Council 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 1 Page 23

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



       	

 
    
          
      
        
          
    
                 
      
       

        
    

        
     

     
     
                 
         

   
          
     
       
         
         
         
       
     
        
      
        
       
         
           

     
      
      
     
     
     
           
    
      
      
     
       
     
     
      
      
           
      
       
        
           
        
       

       

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme .................................................................... 5 
2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme .................................... 12 
3.0 Definition of non-dependant..................................................................................................... 20 
4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number ............................................................ 21 
5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit ................................... 21 
6.0 Remunerative work ................................................................................................................... 21 
7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control .... 22 
8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence)................................................................................... 25 
9.0 Membership of a family............................................................................................................. 29 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person......................................................................................................................... 29 
11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 

of the household ....................................................................................................................... 30 
12.0 Applicable amounts ................................................................................................................... 32 
13.0 Polygamous marriages .............................................................................................................. 32 
14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit. 33 
15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 

marriage .................................................................................................................................... 35 
16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 36 
17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis ................................................................................... 36 
18.0 Treatment of child care charges ................................................................................................ 36 
19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners......................................................................... 40 
20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners.................................................................. 41 
21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings ............................................................................ 41 
22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits............................................................ 41 
23.0 Calculation of weekly income.................................................................................................... 42 
24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. ......................................................................... 42 
25.0 Earnings of employed earners................................................................................................... 42 
26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners...................................................................... 43 
27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners ............................................................................................ 44 
28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners.................................................................... 45 
29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners.................................................. 46 
29A.0 Minimum Income Floor ............................................................................................................. 47 
30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings ............................................................................... 48 
31.0 Capital treated as income.......................................................................................................... 49 
32.0 Notional income ........................................................................................................................ 50 
33.0 Capital limit................................................................................................................................ 54 
34.0 Calculation of capital ................................................................................................................. 54 
35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person ......................................................................... 54 
36.0 Income treated as capital .......................................................................................................... 54 
37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom ............................................................................ 54 
38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom ................................................................... 55 
39.0 Notional capital ......................................................................................................................... 55 
40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule............................................................................................... 56 
41.0 Capital jointly held..................................................................................................................... 59 
42.0 Not Used.................................................................................................................................... 59 
43.0 Student related definitions........................................................................................................ 61 
44.0 Treatment of students............................................................................................................... 64 
45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax reduction.................................... 64 
46.0 Calculation of grant income....................................................................................................... 65 
47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ........................................... 66 
48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed................................ 67 
49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard ................................................. 67 
50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded ............................................................................................. 67 
51.0 Treatment of student loans....................................................................................................... 67 
51A.0 Treatment of fee loans .............................................................................................................. 69 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 2 Page 24



       	

         
      
      
    
         
      
     
          
    

        
       

      
          

      
     

           
          
       
         

         
       

     
            

         
      
          

    
         

               
       

         
    
        
         
      
      
        
           
       
         
    
         

      
                 

      
     
     
      
       
      
     
    
            

  
   

         
   

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds ............................................................................... 69 
53.0 Disregard of contribution .......................................................................................................... 69 
54.0 Further disregard of student’s income ...................................................................................... 69 
55.0 Income treated as capital .......................................................................................................... 70 
56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation ......................................................... 70 
57.0 Maximum council tax reduction................................................................................................ 72 
58.0 Non-dependant deductions....................................................................................................... 72 
59.0 Council tax reduction taper (applies to persons defined within Class E)................................... 74 
60.0 Extended reductions.................................................................................................................. 74 
60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period..................................................................................... 75 
60B.0 Amount of extended reduction ................................................................................................. 75 
60C Extended reductions – movers .................................................................................................. 75 
60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax reduction under the 

general conditions of entitlement ............................................................................................. 76 
61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)............................................................ 76 
61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) .............................. 77 
61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) ........................................... 77 
61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers............................................ 77 
61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 

council tax reduction under the general conditions of entitlement.......................................... 78 
62.0 - 63.0 Not Used......................................................................................................................... 78 
Sections 64 – 67 .................................................................................................................................... 79 
Dates on which entitlement and changes of circumstances are to take effect.................................... 79 
64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin ...................................................................................... 80 
65.0 - 66.0 Not Used ............................................................................................................................ 80 
67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect ......................................................... 80 
Sections 68– 74A................................................................................................................................... 82 
Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council tax reduction purposes .......................................... 82 
69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme ......... 84 
70.0 Submission of evidence electronically....................................................................................... 87 
71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence......................................................................................... 87 
72.0 Information and evidence ......................................................................................................... 87 
73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application.............................................................................. 88 
74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances................................................................................... 89 
75.0 Decisions by the authority......................................................................................................... 92 
76.0 Notification of decision.............................................................................................................. 92 
77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax reduction ................................................................. 93 
78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid .................................................................................... 93 
79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction ................................................................................................. 94 
80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled ........................................................................... 94 
81.0 Offsetting................................................................................................................................... 94 
82 .0 Payment where there is joint and several liability .................................................................... 94 
83.0 – 90.0 Not used............................................................................................................................. 95 
91.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs (HMRC) ................................................................................................ 97 
92.0 Collection of information........................................................................................................... 97 
93.0 Recording and holding information........................................................................................... 97 
94.0 Forwarding of information ........................................................................................................ 97 
95.0 Persons affected by Decisions ................................................................................................... 99 
96.0 Revisions of Decisions................................................................................................................ 99 
97.0 Written Statements ................................................................................................................... 99 
98.0 Terminations.............................................................................................................................. 99 
99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority 

101 
100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 

Act............................................................................................................................................ 103 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 3 Page 25



       	

   
    
        
      
        
            
        

        
    

    
    

    
    

   
    

        
     

   
     

    
        
         

     
    

    
      
    

    
    

          
    

            
    

    
  

Electronic Communication.................................................................................................................. 104 
101.0 Interpretation .......................................................................................................................... 105 
102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication .............................................................. 105 
103.0 Use of intermediaries .............................................................................................................. 105 
104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication ............................... 105 
105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information........................................................... 106 
106.0 Proof of delivery of information .............................................................................................. 106 
106A.0Proof of content of information.............................................................................................. 106 
107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance................................................................................................. 108 
Schedule 1........................................................................................................................................... 109 
Applicable Amounts............................................................................................................................ 109 
Personal Allowance............................................................................................................................. 110 
Family Premiums ................................................................................................................................ 110 
Premiums............................................................................................................................................ 111 
Disability Premium.............................................................................................................................. 111 
Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums .............................................................................. 111 
Severe Disability Premiums ................................................................................................................ 112 
Enhanced Disability Premium ............................................................................................................. 112 
Disabled Child Premium...................................................................................................................... 112 
Carer Premium.................................................................................................................................... 112 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments................................................................................... 112 
Persons in receipt of benefit for another ........................................................................................... 112 
Amounts of Premium.......................................................................................................................... 112 
The components ................................................................................................................................. 113 
Transitional Addition .......................................................................................................................... 113 
Amount of transitional addition ......................................................................................................... 113 
Schedule 2........................................................................................................................................... 114 
Not Used ............................................................................................................................................. 114 
Schedule 3........................................................................................................................................... 115 
Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings....................................................................... 115 
Schedule 4........................................................................................................................................... 121 
Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings ........................................ 121 
Schedule 5........................................................................................................................................... 133 
Capital to be disregarded.................................................................................................................... 133 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 4 Page 26



       	

 
        

 
         

       
 

            
          

                
           

 
           

 
        
        

  
         
       

   
       

   
          

    
          

  
          

  
          
       

  
       

   
       

   
       

   
       

   
         

 
         

       
 

              
            

      
             

        
  

       
    

    
 
  

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

1.1 The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme 
for the period from 1st April 2022. 

1.2 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working 
age applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2022 for a period of one financial year. 

1.3 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 
following: 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2012; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 

Regulations 2013; 
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Regulations 2014 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2018; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2020: 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2021; 
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2022; 
• The Council Tax (Demand Notices and Reduction Schemes) (England) (amendment) 

Regulations 2022; and 
• Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 

2012). 
The scheme for pension age applicants – Central Government’s scheme as defined by the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

1.4 There are three main classes under the prescribed pension credit age scheme, for each of which 
there are a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction, such as a person subject to immigration control with limited 
leave to remain. The definition of a pension credit age person is a person who; 

a. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
b. is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not; 

i. a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or 

ii. a person with an award of universal credit 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 5 Page 27



       	

      
 

        
 

             
                       
                

           
           

                  
             

  
                

     
        
              

 
        

 
             

                       
              

         
           

             
             

  
             

         
  

               
   

                
      

         
              

 
      

 
             

                
                

         
  

      
                  

            
              
  

 
          

          
           

           
 

        
                    

The three prescribed classes are as follows; 

Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount. 

On any day Class A consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of persons prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated 
in accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
f. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount. 

On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 to the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where; 
(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and   
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount; 

g. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
h. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class C: alternative maximum Council Tax Reduction 

On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; 

c. in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 
d. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
e. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme; and 
f. in relation to whom the condition below is met. 

The condition referred to in sub-paragraph f. is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to 
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum Council 
Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, 
or aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

The above applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 
a. is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 6 Page 28



       	

   
                  

           
                   

               
             

         
    

               
               

      
                 

             
   

                   

           
    

  
 

              
       

         
    
       
        

        
          

         
   
            

       
        

         
        

                 
  
       
 

     
 

            
           

            
        

    
         
               

     
       

 
               

                
             

         

the purposes of discount; 
b. is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
c. is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 
(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; or 
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

d. is not a person who, jointly with the applicant, falls within the same paragraph of section 
6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the 
applicant; or 

e. is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount. 

Disregard of certain incomes 

1.5 For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, the Council has resolved 
to enhance the government scheme (as defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 to disregard in full the following: 
a. a war disablement pension; 
b. a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
c. a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence 
of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

d. a guaranteed income payment; 
e. a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
f. a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
g. pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 

The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme. 

THE SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE APPLICANTS – THE COUNCIL’S LOCAL SCHEME 

1.6 The adopted scheme for working age applicants is a means test, which compares income against 
an assessment of applicable amounts (unless otherwise stated). Full details of the working age 
scheme of the authority are contained within this document from section 2 onwards. The 
authority is required to specify a scheme for working age and therefore this scheme only applies 
to a person who; 
a. has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
b. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 

on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or on universal credit. 

1.7 The Council has resolved that there will be three classes of persons who will receive a reduction 
in line with adopted scheme. There will be three main classes prescribed for, for each of which 
there will be a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed 
class exempted from reduction as specified within section 7 of this scheme. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 7 Page 29



       	

 
  

       
        
              

        
        

  
           
  
            

       
           

 
       
                 

           
      

      
     

  
             

 
  

       
        
              

        
         

  
            

      
           

         
 

       
            

       
          

 
       

           
         

     
   

            

 
     
      
        
         
        
       
     
      
        
         
        
      

Class D 
To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must: 
a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit1; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is solely or mainly resident; 
d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction2 amount can be 

calculated; 
g. not have capital savings above £6,0003; 
h. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income4 is less than their applicable amount5 or 
the applicant or partner is in receipt of income support, jobseekers allowance (income 
based) or employment and support allowance (income related); and 

i. has made a valid application for reduction6. 

Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 

Class E 
To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must: 
a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit7; or 
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, 

his partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
an income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit. 

c. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 
on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or in receipt of an award Universal Credit; 

d. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which they are solely or mainly 
resident; 

e. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling; 
f. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
g. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction8 amount can be 

calculated; 
h. not have capital savings above £6,0009; 
i. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 

a week in respect of which the person’s income10 is more than their applicable amount11; 
j. have made a valid application for reduction12; 
k. be a person in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where 

(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 

1 Section 5 of this scheme 
2 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
3 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
4 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
5 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
6 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 
7 Section 5 of this scheme 
8 Sections 57 to 63 of this scheme 
9 Sections 33 to 42 and Schedule 5 of this scheme 
10 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme 
11 Sections 12 to 14 and Schedule 1 of this scheme 
12 Sections 68 to 74a of this scheme 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 8 Page 30



       	

   
           

     
 

             
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

applicant’s case; and   
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 

week and his applicable amount. 

Maximum Council Tax Reduction stated above is defined within section 57 of this scheme 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 9 Page 31



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

             
 

  

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Details of support to be given for working age applicants for the financial year 
2022/23 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 10 Page 32



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

Sections 2- 8 

Definitions and interpretation 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 11 Page 33



       	

 

        
   

            
           
         
           
          

             
     
              

           
              
         

    
               

 
 

             
    

           
              

                  
           

                
    

    
        
          

            
      

             
       

            
    

                
 

               
        
             

       
   

                    
   

               
  

           
                
                

        
   

         
             

          
              

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme 
2.1 In this scheme– 

‘the Act’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
‘the Administration Act’ means the Social Security Administration Act 1992; 
‘the 1973 Act’ means the Employment and Training Act 1973; 
‘the 1992 Act’ means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
‘the 2000 Act’ means the Electronic Communications Act 2000; 
‘Abbeyfield Home’ means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or incorporate which are affiliated to that Society; 
‘adoption leave’ means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave 
by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘an AFIP’ means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an 
armed and reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the Armed 
Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004 
‘applicable amount’ means the amount determined in accordance with schedule 1 of this 
scheme 
‘applicant’ means a person who the authority designates as able to claim Council tax reduction 
– for the purposes of this scheme all references are in the masculine gender but apply equally 
to male and female; 

‘application’ means an application for a reduction under this scheme: 
‘appropriate DWP office’ means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing 
with state pension credit or office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of claims 
for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
‘assessment period’ means such period as is prescribed in sections 19 to 21 over which income 
falls to be calculated; 
‘attendance allowance’ means– 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the Act; 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of the Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) 

of Part 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under 
paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to the Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any analogous payment; or 

(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 
pension; 
‘the authority’ means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 
virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 
‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work 
Schemes) Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain 
Employment) Regulations 2013; 
‘basic rate’, where it relates to the rate of tax, has the same meaning as in the Income Tax Act 
2007 (see section 989 of that Act). 
‘the benefit Acts’ means the Act (SSBA) and the Jobseekers Act 1995 and the Welfare Reform 
Act 2007; 
‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided to a family, for a charge 
which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared 
meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the 
accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that 
accommodation or associated premises; 
‘care home’ has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in 
Scotland means a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the 
Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 and in Northern Ireland means a nursing home 
within the meaning of Article 11 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Quality, 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 12 Page 34



       	

          
         

               
        

          
         

         
          

  
           
                   
          

           
            

           
          

           
            

         
           

    
             

                 
             
                 

     
           

               
           

 
              

         
             
       

  
        

 
         

       
  

   
              

     
             

                  
            
          

                
     

     
             

 
           

  
           

  
           

Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 or a residential care home 
within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order; 
‘the Caxton Foundation’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
‘child’ means a person under the age of 16; 
‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child 
Benefit (General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit 
(General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015; 
‘the Children Order’ means the Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995; 
‘child tax credit’ means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
‘claim’ means a claim for council tax reduction; 
‘close relative’ means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one 
member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
‘concessionary payment’ means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund 
or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the 
benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act are charged; 
‘the Consequential Provisions Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit and Council tax 
reduction (Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2006; 
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance 
and a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has 
effect apart from those provisions; 
‘converted employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision 
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations 
2008; 
‘council tax benefit’ means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
‘council tax reduction scheme’ has the same meaning as ‘council tax reduction or reduction’ 
‘council tax support (or reduction) ’ means council tax reduction as defined by S13a Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended); 
‘couple’ means; 

(a) a man and a woman who are married to each other and are members of the same 
household; 

(b) a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living together as if they 
were a married couple or civil partners; 

(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 
same household; or 

(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 
as if they were civil partners, 

Two people of the same sex are to be treated as living together as if they were civil partners 
if, and only if, they would be treated as living together as husband and wife were they of 
opposite sexes. The above includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The 
Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014; 

‘date of claim’ means the date on which the application or claim is made, or treated as made, 
for the purposes of this scheme 
‘designated authority’ means any of the following; 
the local authority; or a person providing services to, or authorised to exercise any function of, 
any such authority; 
‘designated office’ means the office designated by the authority for the receipt of claims for 
council tax reduction; 
(a) by notice upon or with a form approved by it for the purpose of claiming council tax 

reduction; or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 13 Page 35



       	

      
          

              
         
          

                
             

   
          
    

                
                 

         
 

          
           

          
        

  
            

          
          

           
         
         

          
           

             
        

              
      

              
         

 
               

   
             

 
             

       
        

     
           
  

                
           

            
             
         

  
     

              
     

           
        

          
         

by electronic means or otherwise on application; or 
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above; 
‘disability living allowance’ means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
‘dwelling’ has the same meaning in section 3 or 72 of the 1992 Act; 
‘earnings’ has the meaning prescribed in section 25 or, as the case may be, 27; 
‘the Eileen Trust’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions; 
‘electronic communication’ has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Act 2000 ; 
‘employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the Act and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity 
pay; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate; 
‘Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations’ means the Employment 
and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) Regulations 2010; 
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes 
for assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State that is designed to assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-
employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered by The Jobseekers Allowance 
(Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended by the Jobseekers 
(Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’; 
‘employment zone’ means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 
60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and 2014 and an ‘employment zone 
programme’ means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist 
applicants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 
‘employment zone contractor’ means a person who is undertaking the provision of facilities in 
respect of an employment zone programme on behalf of the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions; 
‘enactment’ includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of 
the Scottish Parliament; 
‘extended reduction)’ means a payment of council tax reduction payable pursuant to section 
60; 
‘extended reduction period’ means the period for which an extended reduction is payable in 
accordance with section 60A or 61A of this scheme; 
‘extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)’ means a payment of council tax 
reduction payable pursuant to section 61; 
‘family’ has the meaning assigned to it by section 137(1) of the Act and Section 9 of this 
scheme; 
‘the Fund’ means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 
benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme 
established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
‘a guaranteed income payment’ means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) (injury benefits) 
or 29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) 
Order 2011; 
‘he, him, his’ also refers to the feminine within this scheme 
‘housing benefit’ means housing benefit under Part 7 of the Act; ‘the Housing Benefit 
Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006; 
‘Immigration and Asylum Act’ means the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; 
‘an income-based jobseeker’s allowance’ and ‘a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance’ have the 
meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995; 
‘income-related employment and support allowance’ means an income-related allowance 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 14 Page 36



       	

        
          

   
              

       
               
               

      
                

     
        

  
              

       
           

      
  

            
         
    

           
             
          

            
 

                
       
             

            
   

             
        

    
              

            
    
          

            
            

  
             

          
               

         
         

   
               

          
              

  
            

             
         

    
      

              
             

under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘Income Support Regulations’ means the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(a); 
‘independent hospital’– 

(a) in England, means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales, has the meaning assigned to it by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F of the 
National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978; 

‘the Independent Living Fund (2006)’ means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one 
part and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the 
other part; 
‘invalid carriage or other vehicle’ means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means 
the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as 
appropriate 
‘limited capability for work’ has the meaning given in section 1(4) of the Welfare Reform Act; 
‘limited capability for work-related activity’ has the meaning given in section 2(5) of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
‘the London Bombing Relief Charitable Fund’ means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the 
purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims 
(including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 
7th July 2005; 
‘lone parent’ means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of 
the same household as a child or young person; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 29th 
January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia; 
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No.2) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
‘the Macfarlane Trust’ means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among 
those suffering from haemophilia; 
‘main phase employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a 
component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 except in Part 1 of 
Schedule 1; 
‘the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme’ means a scheme within section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary 
of State that is designed to provide work or work related activity for up to 30 hours per week 
over a period of four consecutive weeks with a view to assisting applicants to improve their 
prospect of obtaining employment; 
‘maternity leave’ means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work 
either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996; 
‘member of a couple’ means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
‘MFET Limited’ means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements 
made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by 
the NHS with blood or blood products; 
‘mobility supplement’ means a supplement to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 refers; 
‘mover’ means a applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident and in 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 15 Page 37



       	

               
     

           
              

           
           

   
               

          
 

     
              

          
          

        
         

              
          

         
    

         
    

        
 
            

             
  

           
            

    
         

  
             

 
  
            
             

             
             

            
  
               

        
   

         
             
              

             
  

       
             

   
             

          
     

           
    

respect of which the applicant liable to pay council tax from a dwelling in the area of the 
appropriate authority to a dwelling in the area of the second authority; 
‘net earnings’ means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with section 26; 
‘net profit’ means such profit as is calculated in accordance with section 28; 
‘the New Deal options’ means the employment programmes specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and the training scheme specified in regulation 
75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
‘new dwelling’ means, for the purposes of the definition of ‘second authority’ and sections 60C, 
and 61C the dwelling to which a applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant 
is or will be resident; 
‘non-dependant’ has the meaning prescribed in section 3; 
‘non-dependant deduction’ means a deduction that is to be made under section 58; 
‘occasional assistance’ means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the 
Welsh Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of: 
(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need; 

(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or 
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and 

(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and— 
(i) ‘local authority’ has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 ;and 
(ii) ‘qualifying individuals’ means individuals who have been, or without the 
assistance might otherwise be: 
(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or other 
institution, or 
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life; and ’local authority’ 
means a local authority in England within the meaning of the Local Government 
Act 1972; 

‘occupational pension’ means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for 
relieving hardship in particular cases; 
‘occupational pension scheme’ has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes 
Act 1993 
‘ordinary clothing or footwear’ means clothing or footwear for normal daily use, but does not 
include school uniforms, or clothing or footwear used solely for sporting activities; 
‘partner’ in relation to a person, means 
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
(b) subject to paragraph (c), where that person is polygamously married to two or more 
members of his household, any such member to whom he is married; or 
(c) where that person is polygamously married and has an award of universal credit with 
the other party to the earliest marriage that still subsists, that other party to the earliest 
marriage; 
‘paternity leave’ means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A 
or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
‘payment’ includes part of a payment; 
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014; 
‘pension fund holder’ means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the 
scheme concerned; 
‘pensioner’ a person who has attained the age at which pension credit can be claimed; 
‘person affected’ shall be construed as a person to whom the authority decides is affected by 
any decision made by the council; 
‘person on income support’ means a person in receipt of income support; 
‘personal independence payment’ has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 and the Social Security (Personal Independence Payments) 2013; 
‘person treated as not being in Great Britain’ has the meaning given by section 7; 
’personal pension scheme’ means– 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 16 Page 38



       	

            
    

         
          

         
        

          
    

         
               

       
         

       
               

                 
   

               
 
              
 

              
    

       
                  
    

     
    
   

     
                  

   
    

  
   
    

              
         

   
               
     
             
          
                 
  
      

               
        

     
                         

         
                  

           
                 
   
    

         
   

a. a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as 
amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013;; 

b. an annuity contractor trust scheme approved under section 20 or 21of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) 
or that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004; 

c. a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme 
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

‘policy of life insurance’ means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on 
death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on 
human life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums 
for a term dependent on human life; 
‘polygamous marriage’ means a marriage to which section 133(1) of the Act refers namely; 
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which 
permits polygamy; and 
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the other 
party. 
’public authority’ includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public 
nature; 
‘qualifying age for state pension credit’ means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of 
the State Pension Credit Act 2002)– 
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the 
same day as the man; 
’qualifying contributory benefit’ means; 
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Job Seeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 
‘qualifying income-related benefit’ means 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
‘qualifying person’ means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 
‘reduction week’ means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and 
ending with a Sunday; 
‘relative’ means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
‘relevant authority’ means an authority administering council tax reduction; 
‘relevant week’ In relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in 
question falls; 
‘remunerative work’ has the meaning prescribed in section 6; 
‘rent’ means ‘eligible rent’ to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit Regulations refers less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under regulation 74 (non-
dependant deductions) of those Regulations; 
‘Scottish basic rate’ means the rate of income tax of that name calculated in accordance 
with section 6A of the Income Tax Act 2007; 
‘Scottish taxpayer’ has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 
‘resident’ has the meaning it has in Part 1 or 2 of the 1992 Act; 
’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the 
new dwelling; 
‘self-employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the Act; 
‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment 
whilst participating in– 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 17 Page 39



       	

     
          

           
         

     

                

         
            

           
  

       
     

           
                 

      
               

      
         

          
                 

         
  

                 
             
         

            
    

            
           

              
 

          
                    
   

             
 

            
       

           
  

          
               

          
       

        
 

          
          

           
             

      
          

           
     

       
   

(a) an employment zone programme; 
(b) a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act 

(functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); or 

(c) the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;� 

‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are to 

a. a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 

b. the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not 
being consulted as described in that sub-paragrap; 
‘single applicant’ means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
‘the Skipton Fund’ means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 
Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 
hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions. 
’special account’ means an account as defined for the purposes of Chapter 4A of Part 8 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or Chapter 5 of Part 10 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations; 
‘sports award’ means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of 
the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
‘the SSCBA’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 
‘State Pension Credit Act’ means the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
‘student’ has the meaning prescribed in section 43; 
‘subsistence allowance’ means an allowance which an employment zone contractor has agreed 
to pay to a person who is participating in an employment zone programme; 
‘support or reduction week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday; 
‘the Tax Credits Act’ means the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in 
the next; 
‘training allowance’ means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable– 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of 

State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, 
the Young People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or 
Welsh Ministers; 

(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 

instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, the department or 
approved by the department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf 
of the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and 
Islands Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers. 

It does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect of a 
person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than 
under arrangements made under section 2 of the 1973 Actor is training as a teacher; 
‘the Trusts’ means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust; 
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012, the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, 
Supplementary, Incidental and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2014; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 18 Page 40



       	

          
        

               
        

             
          

   
               

 
            
         

      
               
         

            
  

            
     

            
            

          
             
            
     

          
  

                
       

 
                   

               
 

 
           

        
 

              
             

          
         

 
                   

           
             

      
     

                 
          

          
      

           
         

       
 

 
               

    

‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating 
Order 2014 and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015; 
‘voluntary organisation’ means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of 
which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
’war disablement pension’ means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect 
of disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
‘war pension’ means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s 
pension; 
‘war widow’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in 
respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘war widower’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to 
a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
‘water charges’ means; 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 
of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under 
a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far 
as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 
‘week’ means a period of seven days beginning with a Monday; 
‘Working Tax Credit Regulations’ means the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum 
Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended13; and 
‘young person’ has the meaning prescribed in section 9(1) and in section 142 of the SSCBA. 

2.2 In this scheme, references to an applicant occupying a dwelling or premises as his home shall 
be construed in accordance with regulation 7 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006. 

2.3 In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 
shall be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and shall otherwise be treated as a whole 
penny. 

2.4 For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any 
day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any 
day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- based 

jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 
27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made 
under section 17A of the Jobseekers Act (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance 
is not payable); or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and 
which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- based jobseeker’s 
allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under 
section 17A of that Act; 

(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for 
the purposes of section 20A of that Act; 

(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 
9 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

13 The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 19 Page 41



       	

          
     
     

            
        

          
              

             
           

   
 

            
        

 
                

                  
       

 
    

 
             

       
 

    
       
            

                  
           

    
             

                   
       

            
            

 
            

              
         

 
           

      
          

   
       
           

  
         

        
        

            
          

 
        

             
            

           
      

2.4A For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support 
allowance is payable to him and on any day; 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- related 

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act disqualification; or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and 
which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- related employment 
and support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 
of that Act. 

2.5 For the purposes of this scheme, two persons shall be taken to be estranged only if their 
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 

2.6 In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person 
who would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

23.0 Definition of non-dependant 

3.1 In this scheme, ‘non-dependant’ means any person, except someone to whom paragraph 3.2 
applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides. 

3.2 This paragraph applies to; 
a. any member of the applicant’s family; 
b. if the applicant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person 

who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 
c. a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his 

household by virtue of section 11(membership of the same household); 
d. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally 

liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under sections 6, 7 or 75 of 
the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

e. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling; 

f. a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the 
applicant or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

3.3 Excepting persons to whom paragraph 3.2 a) to c) and f) refer, a person to whom any of the 
following sub-paragraphs applies shall be a non-dependant– 
a. a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect 

of the dwelling and either; 
i. that person is a close relative of his or her partner; or 

ii. the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 
commercial basis; 

b. a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 
authority to have been created to take advantage of the council tax reduction scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of 
the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to 
make payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 

c. a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to 
his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that 
dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the authority is satisfied that the change 
giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of the support scheme. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 20 Page 42



       	

 
      

 
         

               
 

 
    

       
          

         
           

    
         

        
      

 
 

     
                  
  

  
             

 
     

 

        
 

     
            
               
       

      
     

    
 

   
 

              
          
               

         
 

              
                
 
                

               
  

                  
           

      
 

                
 

         

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number14 

4.1 No person shall be entitled to support unless the criteria below in 4.2 is satisfied in relation both 
to the person making the claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is claiming 
support. 

4.2 This subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if– 
a. the claim for support is accompanied by; 

i. a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 

ii. information or evidence enabling the national insurance number that has been 
allocated to the person to be ascertained; or 

b. the person makes an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 
which is accompanied by information or evidence enabling such a number to be so allocated 
and the application for reduction is accompanied by evidence of the application and 
information to enable it to be allocated. 

4.3 Paragraph 4.2 shall not apply– 
a. in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom council tax reduction is claimed; 
b. to a person who; 

i. is a person in respect of whom a claim for council tax reduction is made; 
ii. is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act; and 
iii. has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit 

5.1 This scheme applies to a person if: 
(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a 

partner, his partner, is; 
(a) a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 

income-related employment and support allowance; or 
(b) a person with an award of universal credit. 

6.0 Remunerative work 

6.1 Subject to the following provisions of this section, a person shall be treated for the purposes of 
this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of work 
fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment. 

6.2 Subject to paragraph 6.3, in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged in 
work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard shall be had to the average of hours worked 
over; 

a. if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, 
where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but 
disregarding any other absences); 

b. in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to that date of claim, or 
such other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person’s weekly 
average hours of work to be determined more accurately, 

6.3 Where, for the purposes of paragraph 6.2 a), a person’s recognisable cycle of work at a school, 

14 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 21 Page 43



       	

             
            

          
                

 
                 

               
   

 
                 

            
      

 
          

              
     

 
                  

              
 

 
                  

       
          
          

 
              

 
       

 
                 

          
   

 
      

               
 

 
              

                 
     

 
               

      
        
              

     
         

      
       

  
             

         
              

            
         

 

other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes periods 
of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any 
other periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to 
work shall be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 

6.4 Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, regard shall be 
had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which 
he is expected to work in a week. 

6.5 A person shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is 
absent from work referred to in paragraph 6.1 if the absence is either without good cause or by 
reason of a recognised customary or other holiday. 

6.6 A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week shall be treated 
as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

6.7 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person 
is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, or is absent from work because he is 
ill. 

6.8 A person shall not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is 
engaged in an activity in respect of which; 
a. a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
b. no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

7.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control 

Persons treated as not being in Great Britain 

7.1 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for the purposes 
of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.2 Except where a person falls within paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being 
in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

7.3 A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in 
one of those places. 

7.4 For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right, which exists by 
virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations; 
(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 

that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 

of such a jobseeker; 
(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 

under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (5) of 
that regulation of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (in a case 
where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would otherwise be deprived 
of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen). 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 22 Page 44



       	

                
       

        
         

  
               
        

        
       

              
 

 
           

          
   

                 
              

   
 

           
        

      
      
         

    
       

            
  

           
   

    
         

        
        

             
           
   

          
      

      
                 
           

           
                

            
      

        
            

 
      
           

     
              

      

 
        

 

7.4A For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by 
virtue of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United 
Kingdom under the Immigration Act 1971 by virtue of— 
(a) (Removed by the Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 
(b) Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; 
(c) being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of Appendix EU 

to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; or 
(d) having arrived in the United Kingdom with an entry clearance that was granted under 

Appendix EU (Family Permit) to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of 
that Act. 

7.4B Paragraph (4A)(b) does not apply to a person who— 
(a) has a right to reside granted by virtue of being a family member of a relevant person of 

Northern Ireland; and 
(b) would have a right to reside under the EEA Regulations if the relevant person of Northern 

Ireland were an EEA national, provided that the right to reside does not fall within 
paragraph (4)(a) or (b) 

7.5 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is— 
(za) a person granted leave in accordance with the immigration rules made under section 

3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971, where such leave is granted by virtue of— 
(i)the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy; or 
(ii)the previous scheme for locally employed staff in Afghanistan (sometimes 
referred to as the ex-gratia scheme); 

(zb) a person in Great Britain not coming within sub-paragraph (za) or (e)(iv) who left 
Afghanistan in connection with the collapse of the Afghan government that took 
place on 15th August 2021 

(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 
or a self-employed person; 

(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a); 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 
(ca) a family member of a relevant person of Northern Ireland, with a right to reside 

which falls within paragraph (4A)(b), provided that the relevant person of Northern 
Ireland falls within paragraph (5)(a), or would do so but for the fact that they are not 
an EEA national; 

(cb) a frontier worker within the meaning of regulation 3 of the Citizens’ Rights (Frontier 
Workers) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020; 

(cc) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (cb), who has been granted 
limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom by virtue of Appendix EU 
to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 197115 where that 
leave is— 
(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession which 

came into effect on 1st April 2012; 
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the 

Displaced Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005; or 

15 As amended by the Immigration Act 2014 and the Immigration Act 2014 (Commencement No. 2) Order 2014 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 23 Page 45



       	

     
      
       

               
              

 
           

  
              

         
 

                 
     

 
          

             
              

   
 

   
          

   
        

        
         
               
         
    
   
            
             
    
              
          

        
 

     
 

              
         

  
                

              
             

            
   

 
             

 

   

              

                    
          

               

(iv) granted under the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme. 
(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules; 
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4)). 

7.6 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 
Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 

7.7 A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 
overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom. 

7.8 In this regulation— 
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999; 
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; and 
the Immigration (European Economic Area) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2014 and 
references to the EEA Regulations are to be read with Schedule 4 to the Immigration and 
Social Security Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 (Consequential, Saving, Transitional 
and Transitory Provisions) Regulations 2020 
“EEA national” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the EEA Regulations; 
“family member” has the meaning given in regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations, 
except that regulation 7(4) of the EEA Regulations does not apply for the purposes of 
paragraphs (4B) and (5)(ca); 
“relevant person of Northern Ireland” has the meaning given in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to 
the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971; and 
“Her Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006. 

Persons subject to immigration control 

7.9 Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of 
paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

7.10 A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social 
and Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified 
the Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is 
lawfully present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the 
purpose of paragraph 7.9 

7.11 “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 115(9) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

7A.0 Transitional provision 

7A.1 The above does not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2015— 

(a) is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an 
authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act; and 

(b) is entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, until the first of the events in 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 24 Page 46



       	

  

    

                        
        

           
 

            

    
 

                
 

 
                  

      
 

   
        

              
  

      
           
            

   
           
           

 
          

        
        
           
       

              
          
        
           
       
           

      

                 
            

          
      

          
             
    

       

                 
          

             
          

      

paragraph 7A.2 occurs. 

7A.2 The events are— 

(a) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme 
established under section 13A(2) of the Act; or 

(b) the person ceases to be entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 

7A.3 In this section “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) 

8.1 Where a person is absent from the dwelling throughout any day then no support shall be 
payable 

8.2 A person shall not, in relation to any day, which falls within a period of temporary absence from 
that dwelling, be a prescribed person under paragraph 8.1. 

8.3 In paragraph 8.2, a ‘period of temporary absence’ means– 
a. a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first 

whole day on which a person resides in residential accommodation in Great Britain where 
and for so long as; 

i. the person resides in that accommodation; 
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

iii. that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the 
dwelling of more than 52 weeks, 

where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his 
needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs; 

b. a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence 
from the dwelling, where and for so long as; 

i. the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 

iii. that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 
c. a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first 

whole day of absence, where and for so long as 
i. the person intends to return to the dwelling; 

ii. the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
iii. the person is a person to whom paragraph 8.4 applies; and 
iv. the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 

circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 

8.3A A person who is temporarily absent from a dwelling he occupies as his home and is absent 
outside Great Britain shall be treated as occupying that dwelling as his home whilst he is 
temporarily absent, for a period not exceeding 4 weeks beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain, provided that— 

(a) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; 
(b) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 
may be, sub-let; and 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks. 

8.3B A person who is temporarily absent from a dwelling he occupies as his home and is absent 
outside of Great Britain as a member of the armed forces away on operations, a mariner or a 
continental shelf worker shall be treated as occupying that dwelling as his home whilst he is 
temporarily absent, for a period not exceeding 26 weeks beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain, provided that— 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 25 Page 47



       	

          
             
    

           

      

      
              

              
     
         
        

  

           
              

   

          
                 
           

            
         

  

    
 

        
   
             

    
           
            

        
   

        
      
           

       
      

            
   

  
        

   
            

        
 

    
     

         
             

          

(a) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; 
(b) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 
may be, sub-let; and 
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks. 

8.3C This paragraph applies where— 

(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
(b) the temporary absence from Great Britain is in connection with the death of the— 

(i) person’s partner or a child or young person for whom he or his partner is responsible; 
(ii) person’s close relative; 
(iii) close relative of the person’s partner; or 
(iv) close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or their partner is 
responsible; 

(c) the person intends to return to occupy the dwelling as his home; and 
(d) the part of the dwelling normally occupied by the person has not been let or, as the case 

may be, sub-let. 

8.3D person to whom paragraph (8.3C) applies shall be treated as occupying a dwelling he is absent 
from as his home whilst he is temporarily absent for a period not exceeding 4 weeks beginning 
with the first day of that absence from Great Britain. 

8.3E The period of absence in paragraph (8.3D) may be extended by up to 4 further weeks if the 
relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person to return to Great Britain 
within the first 4 weeks 

8.4 This paragraph applies to a person who is; 

a. detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside; 
i. in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in paragraph 8.1, or 

ii. in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, 
or, detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction; 

b. resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
c. undergoing, or his partner or his dependent child is undergoing, in Great Britain or 

elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation 
other than residential accommodation; 

d. following, in Great Britain or elsewhere, a training course; 
e. undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in Great Britain or elsewhere; 
f. undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the 

dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving 
medically approved care of medical treatment; 

g. in Great Britain, receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other 
than residential accommodation; 

h. a student; 
i. receiving care provided in residential accommodation other than a person to whom 

paragraph 8.3a) applies; or 
j. has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a 

person who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 

8.5 This paragraph applies to a person who is: 
a. detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by 

a court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 (as amended by the Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 2013), 
or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 26 Page 48



       	

         
    

        
           

 
                  

              
               

            
               
             

             
 

  
        
          

       
        

               
              

              
   

        
                    

 

        
        

            
            

              
       

  
   
   
  
            

         
 

         
             
          
                 

       
              

            
       

     

(Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995) or, in Northern 
Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986; and 

b. on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the 
provisions of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989 

8.6 Where paragraph 8.5 applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release– 
a. if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 

under paragraph 8.3 b) or c), he shall be treated, for the purposes of paragraph 8.1, as if 
he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 

b. for the purposes of paragraph 8.4 a), he shall be treated as if he remains in detention; 
c. If he does not fall within sub-paragraph a), he is not considered to be a person who is liable 

to pay Council Tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is resident. 

8.7 In this section; 
• ‘medically approved’ means certified by a medical practitioner; 
• ‘continental shelf worker’ means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 

service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any activity 
mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998 

• ‘designated area’ means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order 
in Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the 
United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may 
be exercised; 

“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or 
member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or vessel, 
where: 

a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its 
crew or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 

b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its 
performance (in whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage 

• ‘patient’ means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in- patient 
in any hospital or similar institution; ‘residential accommodation’ means 
accommodation which is provided; 
a. in a care home; 
b. in an independent hospital; 
c. in an Abbeyfield Home; or 
d. in an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal 

Charter or constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services 
authority; 

• prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and 
subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of 
Norway or such member State or any other area which is from time to time specified under 
section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998 

• ‘training course’ means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or 
on behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a 
government department or the Secretary of State 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 27 Page 49



       	

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

   

    
 
  

Sections 9 - 11 

The family for Council tax reduction purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 28 Page 50



       	

 
     

 
          

   
               

           
  

     
              

      
             

            
       

                
         

        
 
            

                   
        

           
     

         
         

 
           

           
           

         
        

  
 

       
     
       

       
            

 
          

       
 

              
   

 
              

      
 

 
                 

              
        

         
  

                
    

9.0 Membership of a family 

9.1 Within the support scheme adopted by the Council ‘family’ means; 
a. a married or unmarried couple; 
b. married or unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom one of 

them is or both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; 
c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 

same household (with or without children); 
d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 

as if they were civil partners (with or without children), 
e. and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) two people of the same sex are to be regarded 

as living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as 
living together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex; 

f. except in prescribed circumstances, a person who is not a member of a married or 
unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom that person is 
responsible and who is a child or a young person; 

For the purposes of the scheme a child is further defined as a ‘child or young person’ 
A ‘child’ means a person under the age of 16 and a ‘Young Person’ is someone aged 16 or over 
but under 20 and who satisfies other conditions. These conditions are: 

• they are aged 16, have left 'relevant education' or training, and 31 August following 
the sixteenth birthday has not yet been passed; 

• they are aged 16 or 17, have left education or training, are registered for work, 
education or training, are not in remunerative work and are still within their 
'extension period'; 

• they are on a course of full-time non-advanced education, or are doing 'approved 
training', and they began that education or training before reaching the age of 19; 

• they have finished a course of full-time non-advanced education, but are enrolled on 
another such course (other than one provided as a result of their employment); 

• they have left 'relevant education' or 'approved training' but have not yet passed 
their 'terminal date'. 

9.2 Paragraph 9.1 the definition of child or young person shall not apply to a person who is; 
a. on income support ; 
b. an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income related employment and support 

allowance; or be entitled to an award of Universal Credit; or 
c. a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 applies. 

9.3 The definition also includes a child or young person in respect of whom there is an entitlement 
to child benefit but only for the period that Child Benefit is payable 

. 
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child 

or young person. 

10.1 Subject to the following paragraphs a person shall be treated as responsible for a child or young 
person who is normally living with him and this includes a child or young person to whom 
paragraph 9.3 applies 

10.2 Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person shall be 
treated for the purposes of paragraph 9.1 as normally living with; 
a. the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of him; or 
b. if there is no such person; 

i. where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the 
person who made that claim; or 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 29 Page 51



       	

  
 

               
       

       
 

             
    

 
              

         
          

         
          

   
 

            
  
  

       
          

            
           

       
 

                 
 

                   
  

         
  

         
        

        
  

 
                  

          
         

 
                 

       
 

                
         

            
       

           
             

     
  

ii. in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 

10.3 For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person shall be the responsibility of only one 
person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the 
child or young person under this section shall be treated as not so responsible. 

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a 
member of the household 

11.1 Subject to paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3, the applicant and any partner and, where the applicant or 
his partner is treated as responsible by virtue of section 10 (circumstances in which a person is 
to be treated as responsible or not responsible for a child or young person) for a child or young 
person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, shall be treated 
as members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent 
from that household. 

11.2 A child or young person shall not be treated as a member of the applicant’s household where 
he is; 

a. placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the 
Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in 
Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 

b. placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to adoption; or 
c. placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption 

and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 

11.3 Subject to paragraph 11.4, paragraph 11.1 shall not apply to a child or young person who is not 
living with the applicant and he– 

a. is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 
enactment; or 

b. has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior 
to adoption; or 

c. has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 
the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009; or in accordance with an adoption 
allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 
2007 (adoption allowances schemes). 

11.4 The authority shall treat a child or young person to whom paragraph 11.3 a) applies as being a 
member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where; 

a. that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; 
and 

b. the authority considers that it is responsible to do so taking into account the nature and 
frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 

11.5 In this paragraph ‘relevant enactment’ means the Army Act 1955, the Air Force Act 1955, the 
Naval Discipline Act 1957, the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958, the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968, the Family Law Reform Act 1969, the Children and Young Persons Act 1969, 
the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, the Children Act 1975, the Domestic Proceedings and 
Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978, the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 1978, the Family Law 
Act 1986, the Children Act 1989, the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Legal Aid, Sentencing 
and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 30 Page 52



       	

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

   
 
  

Sections 12 – 14 & Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts for Council tax reduction purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 31 Page 53



       	

 

    
 

               
        

              
         

    
       

         
                      

      
           

            
      

              
      
        

 
        

     
     

 
        

   
         

        
            

          
    

     
           

     
              

             

   
 

              
            

 
            

            
            

    
        

         
         

                      
      

           
            

     
                

12.0 Applicable amounts 

12.1 Subject to sections 13 and 14, an applicant’s weekly applicable amount shall be aggregate of 
such of the following amounts as may apply in his case: 
a. an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect 

of both of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 as the case may be, of 
Schedule 1 of this scheme; 

b. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 
respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family; 

c. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium). No 
family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on or 
after 1st April 2017 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family 
premium on or after 1st April 2017. 
i) Sub paragraph (c) shall not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2017, is entitled 
to Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a 
member of the same household. 

(ii)  (i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 12.1 c (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction. 

d. (iii) For the purpose of this section “child”, “polygamous marriage” and “young 
person” have the same meaning as in section 2 of this scheme; 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance 
with paragraphs 4 to 16 of Schedule 1 of this document (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the 
i. work-related activity component; or 

ii. support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 
17 and 18 of Schedule 1 of this document(the components) 

g. the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance 
with paragraph 19 to 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional addition). 

13.0 Polygamous marriages 

13.1 Subject to section 14, where an applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage, his weekly 
applicable amount shall be the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his 
case: 
a. the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1of Schedule 1 of this scheme as if he and that partner were a couple; 
b. an amount equal to the amount within paragraph 1 (3) (c) of Schedule 1 of this scheme in 

respect of each of his other partners; 
c. an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of this scheme 

(applicable amounts) in respect of any child or young person for whom he or a partner of 
his is responsible and who is a member of the same household; 

d. if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an 
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 1 (family premium). No 
family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on or after 
1st April 2017 or where the applicant would have become entitled to the family premium 
on or after 1st April 2017. 

i) Sub paragraph (d) shall not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2017, is entitled 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 32 Page 54



       	

      
            

 
         

     
     
    

        
 

        
        

             
            

    
    

            
  

               
        

 

           
       

    
      

            
               
          

         
     

             
             

 

  

to Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a 
member of the same household. 
(i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 13.1 d (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction. 
(ii) For the purpose of this section “child”, “polygamous marriage” and “young 
person” have the same meaning as in section 2 of this scheme; 

e. the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance 
with paragraphs 4 to 16 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (premiums). 

f. the amount of either the; 
i.work-related activity component; or 

ii.support component which may be applicable to him in accordance with paragraph 17 and 
18 of Schedule 1 (the components). 

the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with 
paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 1 of this scheme (transitional addition) 

14.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
14.1 In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant— 

a. who has, or 
b. who (jointly with his partner) has, 

an award of universal credit, the authority may use the calculation or estimate of the 
maximum amount of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case 
may be), subject to the adjustment described in sub-paragraph (2). 

14.2 The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by 12 
and divide the product by 52. 

14.3 In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the 
Secretary of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 33 Page 55



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

          

Sections 15 – 32 & Schedules 3 & 4 

Definition and the treatment of income for Council tax reduction purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 34 Page 56



       	

             
 

     
  

    
 

   
 

             
             
     
 

                 
    

          
    

            
        

 
            

 
  

    
       

         
              

               
   

 
          

         
  

            
       

            
           

   
           

        
 

           
        

 
             

         
 

          
          

          
 

  
  
     

            
          

         

15.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage 

15.1 The income and capital of: 
(a) an applicant; and 
(b) any partner of that applicant, 

is to be calculated in accordance with the following provisions. 

15.2 The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and 
capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to 
any partner of that applicant. 

15.3 Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married polygamously to two or 
more members of his household: 
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to 

each such member; and 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with 

the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

15A.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who have an award of universal credit 

15A.1 In determining the income of an applicant 
a. who has, or 
b. who (jointly with his partner) has, 

an award of universal credit the authority may, subject to the following provisions of this 
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and 
his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of 
determining the award of universal credit. 

15A.2 The authority may adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of 
(a) income consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with 
subparagraph (3); 
(b) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 3 to this scheme (sums to be 
disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners); 
(c) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs of Schedule 4 to this 
scheme (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners); 
(d) section 33 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 
treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's 
case; 
(e) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 

15A.3 The amount for the award of universal credit may be determined by multiplying the amount of 
the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

15A.4 sections 33 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) and 52 and 53 
(disregards from income) apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any 
adjustments, which fall to be made to the figure for income under sub-paragraph (2) 

15A.5 In determining the capital of an applicant; 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the 
Secretary of State for the purpose of determining that award 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 35 Page 57



       	

 

           
             

          
             

        
       
        

 
 

               
        

          
        

             

     
         

            
       

         
                    

  
        

           
      

             
           

      
            

      
 

       
          

              
 

          
    

 
         

               
       

               
       

         
     
 

          
        

    
 

      
 

          
   

16.0 Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 
16.1 Where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and the applicant have entered into 

arrangements in order to take advantage of the council tax reduction scheme and the non-
dependant has more capital and income than the applicant, that authority shall, except were 
the applicant is on income support, an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, treat the applicant as possessing capital and 
income belonging to that non-dependant, and, in such a case, shall disregard any capital and 
income which the applicant does possess.` 

16.2 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital and income belonging to a non-dependant 
under paragraph 16.1 the capital and income of that non-dependant shall be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions in like manner as for the applicant and any reference 
to the ‘ applicant’ shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be construed for the 
purposes of this scheme as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 

17.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
17.1 For the purposes of this scheme and in line with regulation 34 of the Housing Benefit 

Regulations 2006 (disregard to changes in tax, contributions etc.), the income of an applicant 
shall be calculated on a weekly basis; 

a. by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance 
with this Section and in line with Sections 2, 3, 4 and 5 of Part 6 of the Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006; 

b. by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated in line with regulation 52 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (calculation to tariff income from capital); and 

c. by then deducting any relevant child care charges to which section 18 (treatment of child 
care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of the average weekly income 
or, in a case where the conditions in paragraph 18.2 are met, from those earnings plus 
whichever credit specified in sub- paragraph (b) of that paragraph is appropriate, up to a 
maximum deduction in respect of the applicant’s family of whichever of the sums 
specified in paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

17.2 The conditions of this paragraph are that; 
a. the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the 

lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified 
in paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

b. that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is in 
receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

17.3 The maximum deduction to which paragraph 17.1 c) above refers shall be; 
a. where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child 

care charges are paid, £175.00 per week. 
b. where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom relevant 

child care charges are paid, £300.00 per week. 
The amounts stated in this paragraph shall be amended in accordance with the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

17.4 For the purposes of paragraph 17.1 ‘income’ includes capital treated as income under section 
31 (capital treated as income) and income, which an applicant is treated as possessing under 
section 32 (notional income). 

18.0 Treatment of child care charges 

18.1 This section applies where an applicant is incurring relevant child-care charges and; 
a. is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 36 Page 58



       	

   
                 

 
   
    
            

   
 

               
     

    
  
              

 
  
                

          
                 

         
 

       
             

        
    

              
 

                   
                  

    
 

           
     

 
          

                   
      

         
                   

       
        

 
              

   
  
         

              
 

                
 

       
           

                
    

    
              

     
    

b. is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
c. is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the 

other; 
i. is incapacitated; 

ii. is an in-patient in hospital; or 
iii. is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody 

awaiting trial or sentence). 

18.2 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 and subject to paragraph 18.4, a person to whom paragraph 
18.3 applies shall be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 
weeks during which he– 
a. is paid statutory sick pay; 
b. is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the 

Act; 
c. is paid an employment and support allowance; 
d. is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, 

and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support Regulations 1987; or 
e. is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for 

work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

18.3 This paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately before 
a. the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short-

term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on 
the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

b. the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

18.4 In a case to which paragraph 18.2 d) or e) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day on 
which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of which 
earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

18.5 Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which paragraphs 18.6 and 18.7 apply, 
and shall be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with paragraph 18.10. 

18.6 The charges are paid by the applicant for care, which is provided 
a. in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of the 

period beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 

b. in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the period 
beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

18.7 The charges are paid for care, which is provided by one, or more of the care providers listed in 
paragraph 18.8 and are not paid– 
a. in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
b. by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any child for 

whom either or any of them is responsible in accordance with section 10 (circumstances 
in which a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or 

c. in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 

18.8 The care to which paragraph 18.7 refers may be provided; 
a. out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority; 

i. for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their fifteenth birthday; or 

ii. for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eight 
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their sixteenth birthday; or 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 37 Page 59



       	

         
   

          
  

        
             

         
      

  
         

  
    

           
 

         
   

            
  

         
           

         
         

           
         

         
           

            
           

       
               

     
          

     
          

 
                 

        
 

              
       

            
  

 
         

 
         

           
     

           
          

      
   

       
         

               
       

       

b. by a child care provider approved in accordance with by the Tax Credit (New Category of 
Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; 

c. by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; 
or 

d. by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families 
(Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or 
establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care 
Exceptions (Wales) order 2010; or 

e. by; 
i. persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform Scotland Act 

2010; 
or 

ii. local authorities registered under section 8(1) of that Act, where the care provided 
is child minding or daycare within the meaning of that Act; or 

f. by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits 
Act 2002 or 

g. by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; 
or 

h. by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

i. by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act 
does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

j. by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of ‘childcare’ for the 
purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

k. by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002, the 
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) 
Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering 
or kinship carer is looking after; or 

l. by a domiciliary care worker under the Domiciliary Care Agencies Regulations 2002 or 
the Domiciliary Care Agencies (Wales) Regulations 2004; or 

m. by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 

18.9 In paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), ‘the first Monday in September’ means the Monday which first 
occurs in the month of September in any year. 

18.10 Relevant child care charges shall be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is 
appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard 
to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing 
the care. 

18.11 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where 

a. the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium on account of the other 
member’s incapacity or the support component or the work- related activity component 
on account of his having limited capability for work 

b. the applicant’s applicable amount would include a disability premium on account of the 
other member’s incapacity but for that other member being treated as capable of work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulation made under section 
171E of the Act; 

c. the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the work-
related activity component on account of the other member having limited capability for 
work but for that other member being treated as not having limited capability for work 
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 or Employment and Support Regulations 2013; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 38 Page 60



       	

           
        

               
                  
                

    
         

        
        

 
          
           

            
    

       
    

        
         
      
          
  
      
         

           
        

       
           

         
       

             
           

      
         

           
       

   
              

      
   

           
            

            
             

        
 

              
            

                
          

      
 

          
          

               
                    

    
 

d. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) is, or is treated as, incapable of work 
and has been so incapable, or has been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance 
with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the Act (incapacity for 
work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or 
more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days shall be treated 
as one continuous period; 

e. the applicant (within the meaning of this scheme) has, or is treated as having, limited 
capability for work and has had, or been treated as having, limited capability for work in 
accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 20018 or 
Employment and Support Regulations 2013 for a continuous period of not less than 196 
days and for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not 
more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

f. there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 
allowances– 

i. long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate 
under Schedule 4 to the Act; 

ii. attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act; 
iii. severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the Act; 
iv. disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act; 
v. personal independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 

vi. an AFIP; 
vii. increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the Act; 

viii. a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an 
industrial injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of 
disablement pension under head (ii), (iv) or (vii) above; 

ix. main phase employment and support allowance; 
g. a pension or allowance to which head (ii), (iv). (vi) or (viii) of sub-paragraph (f) above 

refers was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in 
consequence of his becoming a patient, which in this section shall mean a person (other 
than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody 
institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of 
social security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

h. an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which 
allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital 
or similar institution; 

i. paragraphs (f) or (g) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in those 
sub-paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; or 

j. he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State 
under section 5(2)(a) of and Schedule 2 to the National Health Service Act 1977 or under 
section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the 
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 
30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

18.12 For the purposes of paragraph 18.11 once paragraph 18.11d) applies to the applicant, if he then 
ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, 
that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at 
the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, 
or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

18.12AFor the purposes of paragraph 18.11, once paragraph 18.11e) applies to the applicant, if he then 
ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability for 
work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability for 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he has, or is 
treated as having, limited capability for work. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 39 Page 61



       	

              
            

         
                

       
        

         
             

            
    

 
             

                
    

               
           

    
          

  
        

          
           

 
 

             
        

     
                  

     
        

                  
         

           
    

     
 

  
               

         
             

         
 

     
    
       

    

      
              

           
  

        
       
       
       

            

18.13 For the purposes of paragraphs 18.6 and 18.8 a), a person is disabled if he is a person– 
a. in respect of whom disability living allowance or personal independence payment is 

payable, or has ceased to be payable solely because he is a patient; 
b. who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National 

Assistance Act 1948 welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in 
consequence he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council 
constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

c. who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 
weeks before the first Monday in September following that person’s fifteenth birthday 
and ending on the day preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

18.14 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption 
leave shall be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in 
paragraph 18.15 (‘the relevant period’) provided that– 
a. in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or shared parental 

leave effective from 5/4/2015 or adoption leave began she was in remunerative work or 
adoption leave began they were in remunerative work; 

b. the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of paragraph 
18.5; and 

c. They are entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the Act, 
statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of the Act statutory adoption 
pay by of section 171ZL of the Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of the Act or 
qualifying support. 

18.15 For the purposes of paragraph 18.14 the relevant period shall begin on the day on which the 
person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and shall end on– 

a. the date that leave ends; 
b. if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 

to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity 
pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 

c. if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement 
to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the child care element of 
the working tax credits ends. 

whichever shall occur first. 

18.16 In paragraphs 18.14 and 18.15 
a. ‘qualifying support’ means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of 

paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support Regulations 1987; and 
b. ’child care element’ of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit 

prescribed under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act (child care element) 2002. 

18.17 In this section ‘applicant’ does not include an applicant; 
a. who has, or 
b. who (jointly with his partner) has, 

an award of universal credit 

19.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners 
19.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as an employed earner 

his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that 
employment– 

a. over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or 
treated as made and being a period of 

i. 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
ii. 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 

b. whether or not sub-paragraph 19.1a i) or ii) applies, where an applicant’s earnings fluctuate, 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 40 Page 62



       	

        
           

  
 

                 
   

                  
         

        
              

       
           

 
 

               
       

          
       

 
           

   

       
 

              
          

           
    

 
           

      

      
 

            
           

               
      

       
 

             
      

 
           

        

     
 

       
 

                    
     

 
           

           
 

over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or treated 
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated 
more accurately. 

19.2 Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in paragraph 
19.1 a)(i) or (ii) 
a. if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and 

those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment 
his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to those earnings; 

b. in any other case, the authority shall require the applicant’s employer to furnish an 
estimate of the applicant’s likely weekly earnings over such period as the authority may 
require and the applicant’s average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to 
that estimate. 

19.3 Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes during an award the authority shall 
estimate his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment 
over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated 
accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

19.4 For the purposes of this section the applicant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 
sections 25 and 26 

20.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners 

20.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as a self-employed earner 
his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that 
employment over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may 
be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed a year. 

20.2 For the purposes of this section the applicant’s earnings shall be calculated in accordance with 
section 27 to 29 of this scheme 

21.0 Average weekly income other than earnings 

21.1 An applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings shall, except where paragraph 18.2 
applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly income 
may be estimated accurately but the length of the period shall not in any case exceed 52 weeks; 
and nothing in this paragraph shall authorise the authority to disregard any such income other 
than that specified in Schedule 4 of this scheme 

21.2 The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account shall be 
the period in respect of which that support is payable. 

21.3 For the purposes of this section income other than earnings shall be calculated in accordance 
with paragraphs 30 to 32 of this scheme 

22.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 

22.1 This section applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 

22.2 Where this section applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account shall 
be the period set out in paragraph 22.3 

22.3 Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is; 
a. a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is 

paid; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 41 Page 63



       	

          
   

        
     

         
 

 
        

    
 

           
            

        
             
       

               
   

                
          

 
 

           
           

         
   

       
 

   
 

   
  
            

            
            

   
                    

          
   

    
 

              
         

     
            

      
    
      

         
         

       
        

   
    

b. a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is due 
to be paid; 

c. a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on which 
the instalment is due to be paid; 

d. a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the instalment 
is due to be paid. 

22.4 For the purposes of this section ‘tax credit’ means child tax credit or working tax credit. 

23.0 Calculation of weekly income 

23.1 For the purposes of sections 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 21 (average 
weekly income other than earnings) and 22 (calculation of average weekly income from tax 
credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made; 
a. does not exceed a week, the weekly amount shall be the amount of that payment; 
b. exceeds a week, the weekly amount shall be determined– 

i. in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

ii. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the product 
by 7. 

23.2 For the purpose of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 
amount of earnings of an applicant shall be determined by dividing his earnings over the 
assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying 
the product by 7. 

24.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 

24.1 In calculating the applicant’s income the appropriate authority may disregard any 
legislative change 
a. in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
b. in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
c. in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the Act or in the lower 

earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under the Act, the lower 
or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under the Act or the amount specified 
in section11(4) of the Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions); 

d. in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, 
B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable 
under the Act; 

e. in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 

for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective. 

25.0 Earnings of employed earners 
25.1 Subject to paragraph 25.2, ‘earnings’ means in the case of employment as an employed earner, 

any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes– 
a. any bonus or commission; 
b. any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on 

account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
c. any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for 

the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
d. any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption 

of the employment; 
e. any payment by way of a retainer; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 42 Page 64



       	

           
       

 
           

  
           
            

          
        

           
       

      
             

   
      

       
    

          
          

      
        

         
      

 
      

       
       

      
   
           

 
 

          
 

        
 

           
        

      
 

           
        

 
             

             
     

      
  
  

        
  

        
    

 
  

       

f. any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, 
including any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of– 

g. (i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and his place of 
employment; 

(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a 
member of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 

h. any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 

i. any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension 
on medical or maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

j. any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Act (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes); 

k. any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay, shared parental 
pay or statutory adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland; 

l. any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave, shared parental pay or adoption leave or is 
absent from work because he is ill; 

m. the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 
3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended 16. 

25.2 Earnings shall not include– 
a. subject to paragraph 25.3, any payment in kind; 
b. any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 

performance of the duties of employment; 
c. any occupational pension 
d. any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service 

user. 

25.3 Paragraph 25.2 a) shall not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in paragraph 
25.1 m) 

26.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners 

26.1 For the purposes of section 19 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), the earnings of 
an applicant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be 
taken into account shall, subject to paragraph 26.2, be his net earnings. 

26.2 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, 
specified in paragraphs 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 

26.3 For the purposes of paragraph 26.1 net earnings shall, except where paragraph 26.6 applies, be 
calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less; 
a. any amount deducted from those earnings by way of 

i) income tax; 
ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the Act; 

b. one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 26.5 in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 

16 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 
2013 and Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 43 Page 65



       	

              
         

            
             

   
   

 
               

    
 

        
           

           
   

              
   

              
           

 
              

        
         

          
               

           
            

         
               
               

     
           

          
  

         
         

  

     
 

               
                

           
              
  

 
          

            
      
       
        

 
    

           
       

     
         

d. where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory 
maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted 
for those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions 
under the Act. 

26.4 In this section ‘qualifying contribution’ means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

26.5 The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
contribution shall be determined– 
a. where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 

26.6 Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 2) of 
the section 19 (average weekly earnings of employment earners), his net earnings shall be 
calculated by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less– 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic 
rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the 
applicant is entitled under sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish 
taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were 
actual earnings. 

27.0 Earnings of self-employed earners 

27.1 Subject to paragraph 27.2, ‘earnings’, in the case of employment as a self- employed earner, 
means the gross income of the employment plus any allowance paid under section 2 of the 
1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 to the applicant for 
the purpose of assisting him in carrying on his business unless at the date of claim the allowance 
has been terminated. 

27.2 ‘Earnings’ shall not include any payment to which paragraph 27 or 28 of Schedule 4 refers 
(payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under arrangements made 
by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health 
authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the 
applicant’s care) nor shall it include any sports award. 

27.3 This paragraph applies to– 
a. royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 

copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 
b. any payment in respect of any– 

(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 44 Page 66



       	

             
             

          
 

 
                

                
              

   
           

     
            

         
    

        
 

             
      
                 

     
               

              
          

          
       

     
         

 
 

           
 

 
             

        
    

        
      

    
  

          
         

         
 

 
               

        
      

    
 

            
 

   
       
        

 

(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to 
the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the applicant is the first owner of the 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original contributor to the book of work 
concerned. 

27.4 Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which paragraph 27.3 applies, those 
earnings shall be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to 
the number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) 
by dividing the earnings by

(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme which would be payable had the 
payment not been made, plus 

(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from the 
payment under Schedule 3 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings) as 
appropriate in the applicant’s case. 

28.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

28.1 For the purposes of section 20 (average weekly earnings of self- employed earners) the earnings 
of an applicant to be taken into account shall be 
a. in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment; 
b. in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in partnership or 

is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) 
Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less– 

i. an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions 
payable under the Act calculated in accordance with section 29 (deduction of tax 
and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

ii. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (11) in respect of 
any qualifying premium. 

28.2 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net profit, any sum, where applicable, specified 
in paragraph 1 to 14 of Schedule 3. 

28.3 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1 a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 
paragraph 28.9 applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings for the employment 
over the assessment period less 
a. subject to paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that 

period for the purposes of that employment; 
b. an amount in respect of; 

(i) income tax, and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance with 
section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph (28.11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 

28.4 For the purposes of paragraph 28.1b) the net profit of the employment shall be calculated by 
taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, subject to 
paragraphs 28.5 to 28.7, any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the 
purposes of the employment. 

28.5 Subject to paragraph 28.6 no deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4, in 
respect of– 
a. any capital expenditure; 
b. the depreciation of any capital asset; 
c. any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 45 Page 67



       	

        
            
     
           

    
 

                 
   

         
          

     
 

          
                   

 
 

     
            

      
       

              
  

         
         

           
 

                 
        

 
  
         

            
        

 
 

             
             

             
       

 
         

            
           

    
              

    
             

            
 

               
              

       
 

               
             

d. any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
e. the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 
f. any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment, and 
g. any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to 

any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 

28.6 A deduction shall be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of the repayment of 
capital on any loan used for– 
a. the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; and 
b. the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable 

under an insurance policy for its repair. 

28.7 The authority shall refuse to make deduction in respect of any expenses under paragraph 28.3 
a. or 28.4 where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has 
been reasonably incurred. 

28.8 For the avoidance of doubt– 
a. deduction shall not be made under paragraph 28.3 a) or 28.4 in respect of any sum unless 

it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 
b. a deduction shall be made thereunder in respect of– 

i. the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 
assessment period; 

ii. any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the 
extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 

iii. any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment 

28.9 Where an applicant is engaged in employment, as a child minder the net profit of the 
employment shall be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less an amount in respect 
of 

a. income tax; and 
b. national insurance contributions payable under the Act, calculated in accordance 

with section 29 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 
c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 28.1 in respect of 

any qualifying contribution 

28.10 For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 
earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or 
employed earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments shall not be offset against his 
earnings in any other of his employments. 

28.11 The amount in respect of any qualifying premium shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
premium shall be determined 
a. where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and divided the product by 365; 
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal 

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 

28.12 In this section, ‘qualifying premium’ means any premium which is payable periodically in respect 
of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of claim. 

29.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 

29.1 The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under section 28.1b) i), 28.3 b) i) or 28.9 
a) i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) shall be calculated on the basis of the 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 46 Page 68



       	

              
                 

         
        

            
                  

           
 

 
           

         
          

      
             

           
         

     
        

         
            

              
             

        
 

   
           

         
 

              
 

    
 

       
               

           
           
               

       
 

     
             

           
          

  
  

         
                
           

 
    

               
  

 
                  

  

amount of chargeable income and as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 
257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to 
his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the 
basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied 
and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph shall be calculated on a 
pro rata basis. 

29.2 The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under paragraphs 
28.1 1 b)(i); 28.3 b) ii) or 28.9 a shall be the total of– 
a. the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 

11(3) of the Act at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the 
applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of the 
Act (small profits threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if 
the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year shall be 
reduced pro rata; and 

b. the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of 
the Act (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage 
rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as 
exceeds the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains 
applicable for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment 
period is less than a year, those limits shall be reduced pro rata. 

29.3 In this section ‘chargeable income’ means– 
a. except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 

any expenses deducted under paragraph 28.3(a) or, as the case may be, 28.4 of section 
28; 

b. in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

29A.0 Minimum Income Floor 

29 A.1 Where no start up period (as defined within 29A.2) applies to the applicant or partner, the 
income used by the Council in the calculation of their award will be the gross amount declared 
by the applicant or a substituted amount whichever is the higher. This substituted amount 
shall not be less than 35 hours multiplied by the national living wage(or national minimum 
wage as appropriate) From that, the Council will deduct only an estimate for tax, national 
insurance and half a pension contribution (where a pension contribution is being made). 

29 A.2 The Council shall determine an appropriate start up period for the employment activity being 
conducted by the applicant or partner. This will normally be one year from the date of 
commencement of the employment activity. During this period, no Minimum Income Floor 
shall be applied. The start-up period ends where the person is no longer in gainful self-
employment. 

29 A.3 Where an applicant or partner holds a position in a company that is analogous to that of a sole 
owner or partner in the business of that company, he shall be treated as if he were such sole 
owner or partner and in such a case be subject to the substituted amount where appropriate. 

29 A.4 No start-up period may be applied in relation to an applicant where a start-up period has 
previously been applied, whether in relation to a current or previous award of a Council Tax 
Reduction. 

29 A.5 In order to establish whether to award a start up period, the applicant must satisfy the Council 
that the employment is 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 47 Page 69



       	

          
  

         
         

 
             

          
         

         
                

      
 

              
          

          
     

 
           

     
 

                   
          

  
 

                   
           

       
       

 
                

            
       

           
 

 
                  

      
 

             
           

          
 

              
                 

           
   
  
  

           
            

      
    

                 
          

• Genuine and effective. The Council must be satisfied that the employment activity is 
being conducted; and 

• Being conducted with the intention of increasing the income received to the level that 
would be conducive with that form of employment. 

29 A.6 For the purposes of determining whether an applicant is in gainful self-employment or meets 
the conditions for a start up-period, the Council will require the applicant to provide such 
evidence or information that it reasonably requires to make that decision, the Council may 
also require the self employed person to attend an interview for the purpose of establishing 
whether the employment is gainful or whether the conditions for a start up period are met. 

30.0 Calculation of income other than earnings 

30.1 For the purposes of section 21 (average weekly income other than earnings), the income of an 
applicant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account shall, subject to 
paragraphs 27.2 to 27.4, be his gross income and any capital treated as income under section 
31 (capital treated as income). 

30.2 There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income under paragraph 
30.2, any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 4. 

30.3 Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way 
of recovery the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 30.1 shall be the gross 
amount payable. 

30.4 Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 
employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008, the amount of that benefit to be 
taken into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 

30.5 Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act 2002 is 
subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax 
credit which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under paragraph 
27.1 shall be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of 
that deduction. 

30.6 In paragraph 30.5 ‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending 
with 5th April in the next. 

30.7 Paragraph 30.8 and 30.9 apply where a relevant payment has been made to a person in an 
academic year; and that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 
payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

30.8 Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken 
into account for the assessment period for the purposes of paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person 
to whom paragraph 30.7 applies, shall be calculated by applying the formula– 
A - (BxC) 
D 
Where 
A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he 
remained a student until he last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which 
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on 
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 48 Page 70



       	

         
                

          
          

      
        

 
                 

        
       

    
               

                
      

 
            

        
                 

          
       

            
 

                  
             

       
   
            

       
         

   
      
            

     
     
     
     

          
   

 
                 

 
       
                  

       
                

             
      

 

     
 

                  
                 

           
         

  

C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, 
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 51.2 had the person not 
abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled 
to council tax reduction immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, 
had that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 
D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

30.9 Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 
relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of 
paragraph 30.1 in respect of a person to whom paragraph (30.8) applies, shall be calculated by 
applying the formula in paragraph 30.8 but as if– 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, 
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was 
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 51.5 

30.10 In this section– ‘academic year’ and ‘student loan’ shall have the same meanings as for the 
purposes of sections 43 to 45, ‘assessment period’ means– 
a. in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 

reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last 
day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to 
that person; 

b. in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, 
the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the 
person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction 
week which includes– 

i. the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant 
payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 

ii. the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment 
was payable to that person. 

whichever of those date is earlier 
‘quarter’ in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on; 
a. 1st January and ending on 31st March; 
b. 1st April and ending on 30th June; 
c. 1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
d. 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
‘relevant payment’ means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 46.7 or both. 

30.11 For the avoidance of doubt there shall be included as income to be taken into account under 
paragraph 30.1 
a. any payment to which paragraph 25.2 (payments not earnings) applies; or 
b. in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of regulations 
made under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of 
essential living needs of the applicant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in 
regulations made under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act 
1999. 

31.0 Capital treated as income 

31.1 Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the claim is 
made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, shall, if 
the aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the applicant’s capital 
otherwise calculated in accordance with sections 33 to 42 of this scheme exceeds £6,000, be 
treated as income. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 49 Page 71



       	

 
            

 
                

 
              

    
 

                
            

               
           

   
 

                 
           

 
    

  
         
         

         
    

         
           

       
           
   
     

   
      

                 
                

 
   

 
            

              
               

      
        

               
 

               
              

          
               

               
      

   
              

         
               

          
 

31.2 Any payment received under an annuity shall be treated as income. 

31.3 Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income shall be treated as income. 

31.4 Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 Act shall be treated as income 

31.5 Where an agreement or court order provides that payments shall be made to the applicant in 
consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments are to be made, 
wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the 
applicant (but not a payment which is treated as capital), shall be treated as income. 

32.0 Notional income 

32.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the 
purpose of securing entitlement of support or increasing the amount of that support. 

32.2 Except in the case of– 
a. a discretionary trust; 
b. a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
c. a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the 

Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit; 

d. any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); 

e. any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; 
f. rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the 1973 Act; 
g. child tax credit; or 
h. working tax credit, 
i. any sum to which paragraph 32.13 applies; 

any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by the applicant but only 
from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

32.3 – 32.5 Not used 

32.6 Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in paragraph 32.7 made– 
a. to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under or by a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection 
Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that 
member; 

b. to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family 
(but not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred 
to in sub-paragraph a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that 
member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of 
that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable; 

c. to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept 
or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 50 Page 72



       	

            
            

           
         

         
           

         
  

         
      
           

  
          

   
         

         
     
              

           
        

      
               
     
                 
     

 
                  

                  
                

            
               

    
 

      
         
           

        
           

             
  

 
     

            
            

       
  

           
         

          
          

        
       

               
          

  
             

           

32.7 Paragraph 32.6 shall not apply in respect of a payment of income made– 
a. under the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 

(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

b. pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
c. pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation– 

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation75(1)(a)(iv)of those Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those 
Regulations or; 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

d. in respect of a previous participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
e. under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 

payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on 
behalf of the creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

32.8 Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit (other than council tax reduction) under the 
benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April 
in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter, the authority shall treat the applicant as 
possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in 
that year, whichever date the authority shall select to apply in its area, to the date on which the 
altered rate is to take effect. 

32.9 Subject to paragraph 32.10, where– 
a. applicant performs a service for another person; and 
b. that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 

employment in the area, the authority shall treat the applicant as possessing such 
earnings (if any) as is reasonable for that employment unless the applicant satisfies the 
authority that the means of that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for 
the service. 

32.10 Paragraph 32.9 shall not apply– 
a. to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 

volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to 
provide those services free of charge; or 

b. in a case where the service is performed in connection with– 
(i) the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance 
with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations, other than where the 
service is performed in connection with the applicant’s participation in the Intense 
Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations or 
(ii) the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training 
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training 
allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole 
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in 
that programme ; or 

c. to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of 
State (or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 51 Page 73



       	

 
 

       
  

 
                 

             
               

  
 

            
             

             
          

           
       

         
            

                 
         

         
                

             
      

           
            
  

         
    

 
                

          
   

  

starts. 

32.10A In paragraph 32.10 (c) ‘work placement’ means practical work experience which is not 
undertaken in expectation of payment. 

32.11 Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of paragraph 32.1 to (32.8), 
the foregoing provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount 
of that income as if a payment has actually been made and as if it were actual income which he 
does possess. 

32.12 Where an applicant is treated a possessing any earnings under paragraph 32.9 the foregoing 
provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those 
earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he 
does possess except that paragraph (3) of section 26 (calculation of net earnings of employed 
earners) shall not apply and his net earnings shall be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings which he is treated as possessing, less; 
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the starting rate or, as the case may be, the starting rate and the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under 
sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (personal allowances) as 
is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the 
earnings to which the starting rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rate basis; 

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were 
payable; and 

c. one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme. 

32.13 Paragraphs (32.1), (32.2), (32.6) and (32.9) shall not apply in respect of any amount of income 
other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s 
participation as a service user. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 52 Page 74



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

        
  

Sections 33 – 42 & Schedule 5 

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council tax reduction purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 53 Page 75



       	

   
             

       

    
               

            
        

 
           

     

        
 
              

     

     
                 

 
 

                 
          

 
               

    
 

               
              

          
 

                
       

 
                  

            
          

       
 

            
           

            
  

 
                

  
 

                 

       
 

           
     

               
        

33.0 Capital limit 
33.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the prescribed amount is £6,000 and no support shall be 

granted when the applicant has an amount greater than this level 

34.0 Calculation of capital 
34.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the capital of an applicant to be taken into account shall, 

subject to paragraph (34.2), be the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this 
scheme and any income treated as capital under section 36 (income treated as capital). 

34.2 There shall be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under paragraph (34.1), 
any capital, where applicable, specified in Schedule 5. 

35.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person 

35.1 The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant’s family shall not be 
treated as capital of the applicant. 

36.0 Income treated as capital 
36.1 Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 applies and paid at 

intervals of at least one year shall be treated as capital. 

36.2 Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable 
to income tax under Schedule D or E shall be treated as capital. 

36.3 Any holiday pay which is not earnings under section 25(1)(d) (earnings of employed earners) 
shall be treated as capital. 

36.4 Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28, 
47 or 48 of Schedule 5, any income derived from capital shall be treated as capital but only from 
the date it is normally due to be credited to the applicant’s account. 

36.5 In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made 
by the applicant’s employer shall be treated as capital. 

36.6 Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 
other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the 
London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, shall be treated as capital. 

36.7 There shall be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 
person in respect of which assistance is received under the self- employment route, but only in 
so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that 
person was receiving such assistance. 

36.8 Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum shall be 
treated as capital. 

36.9 Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit shall be treated as capital. 

37.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 

37.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom shall be calculated at its current 
market or surrender value less– 
a. where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent.; and 
b. the amount of any encumbrance secured on it; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 54 Page 76



       	

        
 
       

 
                  

               
 

                    
       

                
    

   
                 

         
         

    
     

    
          
      

   
         

     
         

  
     
   
    

       
                  

      
 

                
               

            
          

        
      

               
              

          
              

           
      

              
             
                
        

 
             

              
           

 
         

            

38.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 

38.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom shall be 
calculated 
a. in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 

Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value. 

b. in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in 
the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, 

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent. and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 

39.0 Notional capital 
39.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to council tax reduction or increasing the amount of that 
support except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with section 40 
(diminishing notional capital rule). 

39.2 Except in the case of 
(a) a discretionary trust; or 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 5; or 
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board 

of the Pension Protection Fund; or 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 47(2)(a) of Schedule 5 (capital to be disregarded) applies which 

is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 47(1)(a); or 
(f) any sum to which paragraph 48(a) of Schedule 5 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by him but only from the 
date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 

39.3 Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in paragraph (39.4), made 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member 

of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an occupational 
pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or 
a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in sub-
paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the 
extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of 
that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any 
council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect 
of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, 
as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him 
or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

39.4 Paragraph 39.3 shall not apply in respect of a payment of capital made 
(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 

Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 

(b) pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act in respect of a person’s participation 
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 55 Page 77



       	

  
  
            

 
             

  
  

   
  

             
 

         
          

     
          

            
        

       
         

     
           

         
 

         
               
    

             
    

           
               

         
       

 
              

         
 

                 
              

       

     
               

     
  

           
  

         
     

  
          
               
      

          
  

         

Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those 

Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation17A(7) of those 

Regulations; or 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 

(bb) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
Enterprise Scheme; 

(bc) in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme; 

(c) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 
payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund where– 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom 

the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject 
to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s estate 
under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on 
behalf of the creditors; and 

(iii) the person referred to in (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is 
not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

39.5 Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole 
owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole 
owner or partner and in such a case 

a. the value of his holding in that company shall, notwithstanding section 34 (calculation of 
capital) be disregarded; and 

b. he shall, subject to paragraph 39.6, be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal 
to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company 
and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating 
that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

39.6 For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 
the amount which, he is treated as possessing under paragraph 39.5 shall be disregarded. 

39.7 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs 39.1 to 39.2 the 
foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital, which he does possess. 

40.0 Diminishing notional capital rule 
40.1 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under section 39.1 (notional capital), the 

amount which he is treated as possessing; 
a. in the case of a week that is subsequent to 

(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in paragraph 40.2 are 
satisfied; or 

(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, shall be 
reduced by an amount determined under paragraph 40.3; 

b. in the case of a week in respect of which paragraph 40.1(a) does not apply but where 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in paragraph 40.4 is satisfied, shall be 
reduced by the amount determined under paragraph 40.4. 

40.2 This paragraph applies to a reduction week or part-week where the applicant satisfies the 
conditions that 
a. he is in receipt of council tax reduction; and 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 56 Page 78



       	

           
   

                
       

       
               

         
           

        
               

            
            

    
             

        
         

         
              

          
              

         
   

 
             

        
           

 
            

       
             

          
             

 
                

        
           

    
                

   
              

       
              

         
                

         
               

       
            

             
             

        
           

  
              

      
             

           

b. but for paragraph 39.1, he would have received an additional amount of council tax 
reduction in that week. 

40.3 In a case to which paragraph 40.2 applies, the amount of the reduction for the purposes of 
paragraph 40.1(a) shall be equal to the aggregate of 
a. the additional amount to which sub-paragraph 40.2 (b) refers; 
b. where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit 

or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect 
of the whole or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the 
application of regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

c. where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to 
which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week 
to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income 
Support Regulations (notional capital); 

d. where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole 
or part of the reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers but for the application of 
regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital) and 

e. where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount 
of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the whole or part of reduction week to which paragraph 40.2 refers 
but for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 

40.4 Subject to paragraph 40.5, for the purposes of paragraph 40.1(b) the condition is that the 
applicant would have been entitled to council tax reduction in the relevant week but for 
paragraph 39.1, and in such a case the amount of the reduction shall be equal to the aggregate 
of 
a. the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant would have been entitled in 

the relevant week but for paragraph 39.1; and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph is 
the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined by dividing the 
amount of council tax reduction to which he would have been so entitled by the number 
equal to the number of days in the part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained 
by 7; 

b. if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations, have 
been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect 
of the reduction week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount 
which is equal to– 
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would 

have been entitled; or 
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit 

to which he would have been entitled, 
and, for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, 
that amount shall be determined by dividing the amount of housing benefit to which he 
would have been so entitled by the number equal to that number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; 

c. if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support Regulations, have 
been entitled to income support in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning 
of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations, which includes the last day of the relevant week, 
the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income support to which he would have been so entitled 
by the number equal to the number of days in the part- week and multiplying the 
quotient so obtained by 7 

d. if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 
1996, have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the 
reduction week, within the meaning of this scheme, which includes the last day of the 
relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 57 Page 79



       	

              
      

          
          

              
        

         
        

         
             

        
                  

         
 

         
          

  
            

         
           

         
 

  
          

              
              

            
          

       
              

  
            

 
             

       
       

 
    

   
              

 
               

 
      
            

        
     

         
      

        
             

  
            

      
    

    
        

of this sub-paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount shall be 
determined by dividing the amount of the income-based jobseeker’s allowance to which 
he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in the part-
week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7; and 

e. if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance in respect of the reduction week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of 
those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled and, for the purposes of this sub-
paragraph, if the amount is in respect of a part-week, that amount must be determined 
by dividing the amount of the income-related employment and support allowance to 
which he would have been so entitled by the number equal to the number of days in that 
part-week and multiplying the quotient so obtained by 7. 

40.5 The amount determined under paragraph 40.4 shall be re-determined under that paragraph if 
the applicant makes a further claim for council tax reduction and the conditions in paragraph 
40.6 are satisfied, and in such a case– 

a. sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) of paragraph 40.4 shall apply as if for the words ‘relevant 
week’ there were substituted the words ‘relevant subsequent week’; and 
b. subject to paragraph 40.7, the amount as re-determined shall have effect from the 
first week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

40.6 The conditions are that 
a. a further claim is made 26 or more weeks after 

(i) the date on which the applicant made a claim for council tax reduction in respect of 
which he was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 39.1; 

(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with 
paragraph 40.5, the date on which he last made a claim for council tax reduction which 
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to council tax reduction, whichever last 
occurred; and 

b. the applicant would have been entitled to council tax reduction but for paragraph 39.1. 

40.7 The amount as re-determined pursuant to paragraph 40.5 shall not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a 
case the higher amount shall continue to have effect. 

40.8 For the purposes of this section 
a. ‘part-week’ 

(i) in paragraph40.4(a)means a period of less than a week for which council tax reduction 
is allowed; 
(ii) in paragraph 40.4(b)means a period of less than a week for which housing benefit is 
payable; 
(iii) in paragraph 40.4 (c),(d)and(e)means– 

aa. a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support , an 
income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

bb. any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
b. ‘relevant week’ means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question 

of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of section 39.1 
(i) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to council 
tax reduction; or 
(ii) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or 
re-determining his entitlement to council tax reduction on that subsequent occasion and 
that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing 
to receive, council tax reduction; 
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to heads (i) and (ii) 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 58 Page 80



       	

 
 

           
             

   

   
 

         
             

             
               

            
             

  

   
 
  

of this sub-paragraph the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the 
later or latest such part-week; 

c. ‘relevant subsequent week’ means the reduction week or part-week which includes the 
day on which the further claim or, if more than one further claim has been made, the last 
such claim was made. 

41.0 Capital jointly held 

41.1 Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 39(5) 
(notional capital) where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in 
possession to any capital asset they shall be treated, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, 
as if each of them were entitled in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal 
share and the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating the 
amount of capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which 
the applicant does possess 

42.0 Not Used 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 59 Page 81



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

        
  

 
                    

 

Sections 43 - 56 

Definition and the treatment of students for Council tax reduction purposes17 

17 Amounts shown in sections 43 to 56 will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as 
amended) 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 60 Page 82



       	

 

    
 

  
                 

           
       

        
           

   
            

      
          
         

             
          
           

 
 

         
        
       
  

           
             

       
  

         
          

         
        

         
      

         
  

      
   
         

                 
     

                
        

             
   

             
           

       
             

                
      

           
             

      
           

            

43.0 Student related definitions 

43.1 In this scheme the following definitions apply; 
‘academic year’ means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st July 
or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, 
the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the 
course during August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the 
academic year of the course shall be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 
‘access funds’ means; 
a. grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
b. grants made under section 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
c. grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 

1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1997in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other 
payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial 
difficulties; 

d. discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding 
under sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 
2009; or 

e Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
‘college of further education’ means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 
1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
’contribution’ means; 
a. any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary 

of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in 
ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

b. any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority consider that it is reasonable for the following person to contribute towards 
the holder’s expenses; 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holders parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 

‘course of study’ means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether 
or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 
‘covenant income’ means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of 
Covenant by his parent; 
‘education authority’ means a government department, a local authority as defined in 
section 579 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as 
defined in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education and 
library board established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1986, any body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and 
Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department, authority, board or body, 
of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great Britain; 
‘full-time course of study’ means a full time course of study which; 
a. is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a 
full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 61 Page 83



       	

             
          

                   
                

               
      

             
           

       
         

           
           
  

                  
     

        
        
            
         

            
            
            

      
              

 
           

       
          
    

   
      
          

              
     

      
                    

          
 

                   
       

    
                    

        
                     

              
    

  
               

         
           

   
               
  

                  
        

            
   

at a college of further education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher 
education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers;; 

b. is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves 
more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to 
the number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out— 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning 
agreement signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either 
of those persons for the delivery of that course; or 
(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on 
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that 
course; or 

c. is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at 
a college of further education and involves— 
(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the 
number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 
(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 
learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured 
learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours 
exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document 
signed on behalf of the college; 

‘full-time student’ means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course; 
‘grant’ (except in the definition of ‘access funds’) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition allowance or bursary but does 
not include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 
4 or paragraph 53 of Schedule 5 applies; 
‘grant income’ means 

(a) any income by way of a grant; 
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

‘higher education’ means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
‘last day of the course’ means; 
a. in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or 

the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever 
is the later; 

b. in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect 
of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

‘period of study’ means– 
a. in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the start 

of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
b. in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may 

be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the period 
beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, the year’s start and ending 
with either– 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s 
grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year, or, if 
he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate 
had he had one; or 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation appropriate 
to his course; 

c. in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning with 
that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

‘periods of experience’ means periods of work experience which form part of a 
sandwich course; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 62 Page 84



       	

                  
  

              
       

      
         

          
         

 
     

            
        

         
           

        
             

      
              

        
       

              
      

                 
      

                
  

       
   

            
                

          
       

      
 

            
              

                   
             
         

              
        

            
                 

          
           

 
        

  
               

             
           

         
      

            
        

               
 

‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations; 
‘modular course’ means a course of study which consists of two or more modules, the 
successful completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is considered 
by the educational establishment to have completed the course. 
’sandwich course’ has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans), (Scotland), 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 
‘standard maintenance grant’ means– 
a. except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or undertaking 

a course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the area 
comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified 
for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) 
Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) for such a student; 

b. except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, 
the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 

c. in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, the amount of money specified as ‘standard maintenance allowance’ for the 
relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide 
issued by the student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case of 
a bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education authority; 

d. in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 

‘student’ means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is 
attending or undertaking– 
a. a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
b. a qualifying course; 
‘student’ loan’ means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations 

made under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and shall include, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Student’s Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007 

43.2 For the purposes of the definition of ‘full-time student’, a person shall be regarded as attending 
or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course 
a. in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would 

be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on 
the day on which that part of the course starts and ending; 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 
attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 

b. in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts 
attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such 
earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

43.3 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 43.2, the period referred to in that sub-
paragraph shall include; 
a. where a person has failed examinations or has failed to successfully complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-
time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course 
for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

b. any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the 
course. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 63 Page 85



       	

    
 

        

     
 

              
       

 
                 

                  
          

 
     

          
   
     

           
   

             
         

    
                   

           
              

             
     

              
       

                
         

   
            

      
                 

             
        

  
               
                   
     
               
    

   
         

    
            
       

        
         

 
            

         
 

           
        

44.0 Treatment of students 

44.1 The following sections relate to students who claim Council tax reduction 

45.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to council tax reduction 

45.1 Students (except those specified in paragraph 45.3) are not able to claim Council tax reduction 
under Classes D and E of the Council’s reduction scheme. 

45.2 To be eligible for support, the student must be liable for Council Tax under Section 6 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and they must not be deemed to be a full time student or a 
persons from abroad within the meaning of section 7 of this scheme (persons from aboard). 

45.3 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a student 
(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this section, include the disability premium or 
severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated 
as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made 
under section 171E of the Act; 
(e)who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated 
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the Act (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for 
this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days 
shall be treated as one continuous period; 
(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated 
as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose 
any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be 
treated as one continuous period. 
(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person; 
(h)who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary 
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989, or, in Scotland, boarded out within 
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(i)who is— 

(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, 
(ii) aged 21 and attained that age during a course of study which is not a course of 
higher education, or 
(iii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the 
SSCBA (child and qualifying young person); 

(j) in respect of whom 
i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 
2 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes 
a sum under paragraph (1)(d) or regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances 
(Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of 
regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, 
in respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii) a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 or under 
or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching and Higher Education Act 
1998; 
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 64 Page 86



       	

      
         

        
         
   

 
     

 
            

       
 

            
           
               

                  
 

 
            

     
 

          
           

       
 

              
 

        
       

        
  
 

        
         

            
 

             
         

             
          
          

      
    

     
 

            
     

 
         

 
  
  
          

     
            

  

Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or 
(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, 

on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 

45.3A Paragraph 45.3(h)(i) only applies to an applicant until the end of the course during which 
the applicant attained the age of 21 

45.4 For the purposes of paragraph 45.3, once paragraph 45.3(e) applies to a full-time student, if he 
then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

45.5 In paragraph 45.3(h) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 
any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 

45.6 A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 45.3 applies, shall be treated as 
satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

45.7 Paragraph 45.2 shall not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in paragraph 45.8 
if; 
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is; 
(i) engaged in caring for another person; or 
(ii) ill; 

(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in engaging in caring for that person or, as 
the case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 

(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in 
paragraph 45.8. 

45.8 The period specified for the purposes of paragraph 45.7 is the period, not exceeding one year, 
beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before; 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 

resume attending or undertaking the course, 
which shall first occur. 

46.0 Calculation of grant income 

46.1 The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 
46.2 and 46.3, be the whole of his grant income. 

46.2 There shall be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment; 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study 

away from the student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he 

resides during his course; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 65 Page 87



       	

           
         

  
   
  

              
                    

       
         
         

    
          

  
              

          
        

    
 

            
 

               
        

               
         

      
                

                
         

            
 

                 
            

          
            

            
  

 
                    

            
              

            
           

 
                 

            
          

              
           

 

 

      
 

                     
          

(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside of the United 
Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 

(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course; 
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant. 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part III of the Children Act 1989. 

46.3 Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, 
there shall be excluded from the student’s grant income; 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b)the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or 
not any such costs are incurred. 
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended). 

46.4 There shall also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998. 

46.5 Subject to paragraphs 46.6 and 46.7, a student’s grant income shall be apportioned; 

(a) subject to paragraph 46.8, in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the period of study and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. 

46.6 Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2004 shall be apportioned equally 
over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the 
year, 53. 

46.7 In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 
student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants to which neither paragraph 46.6 nor section 50 (other amounts to 
be disregarded) apply, shall be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

46.8 In the case if a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 
study shall be excluded and the student’s grant income shall be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last 
day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 

47.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 

47.1 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 
contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 66 Page 88



       	

              
        

 
          

            
      

      
 

             
         
                

     
 

            
 

                     
    

       
             

            
          

             
      

         
             

          
 

                    
            

     
              

             
   

             
         

       
 

             
   

     
 

           
          

            
           

             
           

     

      
 

         
 

for that period and any summer vacation immediately following shall be the whole amount of 
the covenant income less, subject to paragraph 47.3, the amount of the contribution. 

47.2 The weekly amount of the student’s covenant shall be determined– 
(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under paragraph 

47.1 by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 
(b) by disregarding from the resulting amount, £5. 

47.3 For the purposes of paragraph 47.1, the contribution shall be treated as increased by the 
amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 46.2(g) (calculation of grant 
income) falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education 
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 

48.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 

48.1 Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant income 
shall be calculated as follows; 
(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 46.2 (a) to (e) (calculation 
of grant income) necessary as a result of his attendance on the course shall be disregarded; 
(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not 

so disregarded, shall be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 
(c) there shall be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would 

have been disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and 46.3 (calculation of grant income) 
had the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

(d) the balance, if any, shall be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 shall be disregarded. 

48.2 Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 
the amount of his covenanted income shall be calculated in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a) 
to (d) of paragraph 48.1, except that; 
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant shall be abated by the amount of such grant 

income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 
46.2 (a) to (e); and 

(b) the amount to be disregarded under paragraph 48.1(c) shall be abated by an amount 
equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 46.2(f) and (g) and 46.3. 

49.0 Student Covenant Income and Grant income – non disregard 

49.1 No part of a student’s covenant income or grant income shall be disregarded under paragraph 
15 of Schedule 4 to this scheme 

50.0 Other amounts to be disregarded 

50.1 For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans 
treated as income in accordance with section 51, any amounts intended for any expenditure 
specified in paragraph 46.2 (calculation of grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance 
on the course shall be disregarded but only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure 
exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraphs 46.2 or 
46.3, 47.3, 48.1(a) or (c) or 51.5 (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment 
of student loans) on like expenditure. 

51.0 Treatment of student loans 

51.1 A student loan shall be treated as income. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 67 Page 89



       	

        
                     

         
 

             
             

               
           

              
             

      
 

                  
             

        
              

         
          

        
              

          
  

 
                   

          
         

            
           

          
           

      
         

      
 
                 

   
         
          
     

           
   
  
              
   
 

          
          
           

 
                 

         
                 

   
               

      
           

                 

51.2 In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income 
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

payable in respect of that period shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week ,the first day of which coincides 

with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year; 
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the 

course is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending 
with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes with last day of the course, 

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a 
loan which is payable in respect of that academic year shall be apportioned equally 
between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which coincides with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year and 
ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately 
precedes, the last day of that academic year but excluding any reduction weeks falling 
entirely within the quarter during which, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, the 
longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, ‘quarter’ 
shall have the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2005; 

(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 
duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year shall be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with; 
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincide with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or 
the first day of the autumn term, 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

(d) in any other case, the loan shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 
beginning with the earlier of; 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the 

first day of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or 
immediately precedes, the last day of June, 

and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall be disregarded 
£10. 

51.3 A student shall be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where; 
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 

51.4 Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under paragraph 51.3, the amount of 
the student loan to be taken into account as income shall be, subject to paragraph 51.5 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a 

sum equal to 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking 
reasonable steps to do so; and 
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 68 Page 90



       	

         
                

 
              

 
            

          
             

     
          

  

    
                  

              
       

     
 

        
 

           
     

 
          

  
 

              
         

            
              

             
                

  
 

         
               

        
          

          
 

    
 

   
 
                  

         
          

   
 

      
 

                
           

the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if; 
(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire 
in respect of that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 

51.5 There shall be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under paragraph 51.4 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether 

or not any such costs are incurred. 
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended). 

51A.0 Treatment of fee loans 
51A. 1A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations 

made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 
22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 

52.0 Treatment of payments from access funds 

52.1 This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which 
paragraph 55.2 or 55.3 (income treated as capital) applies. 

52.2 A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which paragraph 52.3 applies, shall be 
disregarded as income. 

52.3 Subject to paragraph 52.4 of this section and paragraph 35 of Schedule 4, 
a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, 

ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family and 

b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for 
which that applicant or member is liable, shall be disregarded as income to the extent of 
£20 per week. 

52.4 Where a payment from access funds is made– 
(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before 

receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the 
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a 
student, 

that payment shall be disregarded as income. 

53.0 Disregard of contribution 

53.1 Where the applicant or his partner is a student and for the purposes of assessing a contribution 
to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, 
an amount equal to that contribution shall be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that 
other partner’s income. 

54.0 Further disregard of student’s income 

54.1 Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purpose of 
assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account shall be 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 69 Page 91



       	

   

     
 

                
  

 
                      
 
                   

          
                
             

       
               

           
               
     

  

disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

55.0 Income treated as capital 

55.1 Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income shall be 
treated as capital. 

55.2 Any amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum shall be treated as capital. 

55.3 An amount paid from access fund as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 
other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an 
item other than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, 
shall be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 

56.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
56.1 In calculating a student’s income the authority shall disregard any change in the standard 

maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s 
course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 70 Page 92



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

       
  

Sections 57 – 63 

The calculation and amount of Council tax reduction 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 71 Page 93



       	

 

     
 

              
                   

  
      

           
        

          
   

             
              

        
         

 
           

  
 

               
            

 
 

              
            

      
         

           
         

 
                  

      

   
           

        
        
            

   
 

               
         

               
 

               
     

      
      

 
                    

              
                 

 
       

   

57.0 Maximum council tax reduction 

57.1 Subject to paragraphs 57.2 to 57.4, the amount of a person’s maximum council tax support in 
respect of a day for which he is liable to pay council tax, shall be 70.0 per cent, of the amount A 
divided by B where: 
(a) A is the lower of either; 

i. amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant financial 
year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, 
subject to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 
Act; or 

ii. the amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant 
financial year in respect of a dwelling within Band D subject to any discount which 
may be appropriate to the person’s circumstances; and 

(c) B is the number of days in that financial year, 

less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under section 58 (non-
dependant deductions). 

57.2 In calculating a person’s maximum council tax reduction any reduction in the amount that 
person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any enactment 
in, or made under, the 1992 Act, shall be taken into account. 

57.3 Subject to paragraph 57.4, where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons but excepting any 
person so residing with the applicant who is a student to whom paragraph 45.2 (students who 
are excluded from entitlement to council tax reduction) applies, in determining the maximum 
council tax reduction in his case in accordance with paragraph 57.1, the amount A shall be 
divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

57.4 Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with 
only his partner, paragraph 57.3 shall not apply in his case 

58.0 Non-dependant deductions18 

58.1 Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deductions in respect 
of a day referred to in section 57 (maximum council tax reduction) shall be; 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £12.85 x 1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not 

apply, £4.20 x 1/7. 

58.2 In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom paragraph 58.1(a) applies, where it is 
shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is– 
(a) less than £224.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph shall be that specified 

in paragraph 58.1(b); 
(b) not less than £224.00, but less than £389.00, the deduction to be made under this 

section shall be £8.55 x1/7 
(c) not less than £389.00, but less than £484.00, the deduction to be made under this 

section shall be £10.70 x 1/7; 

58.3 Only one deduction shall be made under this section in respect of a couple or, as the case may 
be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that 
would fall to be deducted in respect of one member of a couple or polygamous marriage is 

18 The amounts shown within this section shall be uprated in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 72 Page 94



       	

             
        

 
                 

             
              

 
       

              
  

           
            

         
              

           
   

 
            

 
          

  
     

         
       

     
        

          
   

       
     

        
          

             
       

           
         
         
 

 
            

           
  

        
           

   
          
              

   
        
           

                
        

                   
 

 
           

             

higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any 
other, member, the higher amount shall be deducted. 

58.4 In applying the provisions of paragraph 58.2 in the case of a couple or, as the case may be a 
polygamous marriage, regard shall be had, for the purpose of that paragraph, to the couple’s 
or, as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

58.5 Where in respect of a day– 
a. a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 

dwelling and that day; 
b. other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for 

council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 or 
77 or 77A of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

c. the person to whom sub-paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the 
liable persons, the deduction in respect of that non-dependant shall be apportioned equally 
between those liable persons. 

58.6 No deduction shall be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling 
if the applicant or his partner is– 
a. blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 (additional condition for the 

disability premium); or 
b. receiving in respect of himself: 

• attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for: 
i. a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) 

of The Act; or 
ii. an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

• the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that 
component but for: 

i. a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) 
of The Act; or 

ii. an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 
c. the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving that 

allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

d. an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance with 
any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows for a 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution; 

58.7 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant if: 
a. although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is 

elsewhere; or 
b. he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with a youth training established 

under section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990; or 

c. he is a full time student within the meaning of section 44.0 (Students); or 
d. he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period of excess of 

52 weeks, and for these purposes; 
e. ‘patient’ has the meaning given within this scheme, and 
f. where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or 

more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he shall be treated as having been a patient 
continuously for a period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods; 

g. he is not residing with the claimant because he is a member of the armed forces away on 
operations 

58.8 No deduction shall be made in respect of a non-dependant; 
(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 73 Page 95



       	

     
          

        
       

                 
          

              
       

 
  

        
   

              
            
              

           
       

       
  

 

         
 

            
            

          
         

           
 

    
 

                 
        

      
 

          
  

        
       

  
           

         
         

        
           

  
 

            
   

        
            
        

 
 

            

or an income-related employment and support allowance; 
(b) to whom Schedule 1 of the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of 

discount) but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to 
whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers; 

(c) who is entitled to an award of universal credit where the award is calculated on the 
basis that the person does not have any earned income.”; 

a. For the purposes of sub-paragraph (c), “earned income” has the meaning given in 
regulation 52 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013. 

58.9 In the application of paragraph 58.2 there shall be disregarded from his weekly gross income: 
a. any attendance allowance, disability living allowance or personal independence payment 

or an AFIP received by him; 
b. any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust , MFET Limited, the 

Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which had his 
income fallen to be calculated under section 30 (calculation of income other than earnings) 
would have been disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 4 (income in kind); and 

c. any payment which had his income fallen to be calculated under section 30 would have 
been disregarded under paragraph 36 of Schedule 4 (payments made under certain trusts 
and certain other payments).. 

59.0 Council tax reduction taper (applies to persons defined within Class E) 

59.1 The prescribed daily percentage for the purpose of calculating support as a percentage of excess 
of income over the applicable amount which is deducted from maximum council tax reduction, 
shall be 2 6/7 per cent. Where an applicant’s income exceeds their applicable amount, their 
council tax reduction shall be calculated by deducting their excess income multiplied by the 
taper from their maximum council tax reduction as defined within section 57 of this scheme 

60.0 Extended reductions 

60.1 An applicant who is entitled to council tax reduction (by virtue of the general conditions of 
entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction where; 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income- related 

benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant’s partner– 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
and that employment is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number 
of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a combination of those benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

60.2 For the purpose of paragraph 60.1(c), an applicant or an applicant’s partner is to be treated as 
having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker’s 
allowance during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation 
in an employment zone programme. 

60.3 For the purpose of this section, where an applicant or an applicant’s partner is entitled to and 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 74 Page 96



       	

           
   

 
                 

    
             

      
               

          
          

 
 

          
         

   

   
 

               
           

       
 

 
           

            
    

 
   

 
         
           

 
 

    
 

              
       

            
       

      
             

     
      

             
          

         
 

       
             
       

     
   

      
          

in receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they shall be treated as being entitled to and in 
receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

60.4 An applicant must be treated as entitled to council tax reduction by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement where– 

(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to council tax reduction because the applicant 
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 

(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 
listed in paragraph 60.1(b). 

60.5 This section shall not apply where, on the day before an applicant’s entitlement to income 
support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support Regulations (remunerative work: 
housing costs) applied to that applicant. 

60A.0 Duration of extended reduction period 

60A.1 Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period starts 
on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the 
applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit. 

60A.2 For the purpose of paragraph (60A.1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be 
entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of 
entitlement to that benefit. 

60A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no 

liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

60B.0 Amount of extended reduction 

60B.1 For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
payable to an applicant shall be the higher of– 
(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled under the 

general conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income- related benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 60 (extended reductions) did not apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 60 did not apply to the applicant. 

60B.2 Paragraph 60B1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 

60B.3 Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this section and the applicant’s 
partner makes a claim for council tax reduction, no amount of council tax reduction shall be 
payable by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction period. 

60C Extended reductions – movers 
60C.1 This section applies; 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 75 Page 97



       	

 
          

            
            

           
 

                   
          

 
     
    
 

 
            

        
   

             
         

            
           

      
   

 
           

            
       

 
           

         
    

    
 

                 
        

 
       
        

  
        
       

            
           

       
        

      
           

   
          

         
      

 
                 

    
            

60C.2 The amount of the extended reduction payable from the Monday from which this section 
applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be the amount of council tax 
reduction which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, or the 
mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

60C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 
authority, the extended reduction may take the form of a payment from the appropriate 
authority to; 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

60C.4 Where– 
(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax reduction to the second 

authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
income-related benefit; and 

(b) the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction from the 
appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce the weekly amount of council 
tax reduction that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is entitled to by a sum equal to the 
amount of the extended reduction until the end of the extended reduction period. 

60D.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to council tax reduction under the 
general conditions of entitlement 

60D.1 Where an applicant’s council tax reduction award would have ended when the applicant ceased 
to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
60.1(b), that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

60D.2 Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 
extended reduction payable in accordance with paragraph 60B.1(a) or 60C.2 (amount of 
extended reduction – movers). 

61.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) 

61.1 An applicant who is entitled to council tax reduction (by virtue of the general conditions of 
entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
where; 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant’s partner; 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that 

employment is or, as the case may be, increased earnings or increased number of 
hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying contributory benefit ceased; and 

(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a 
qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or 
the applicant’s partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

61.2 An applicant must be treated as entitled to council tax reduction by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement where; 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to council tax reduction because the applicant 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 76 Page 98



       	

     
              

           
         

 

     
 

               
        

            
 

 
        
             
  

 
   

        
       

            

      
               

           
            

       
    

              
     
     

   
          

          
 

          
 

            
           

          
   

      
   

     
         

 
         

               
            

              
 

 
                   

       
     

vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances 

listed in paragraph 61.1(b). 

61A.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits) 

61A.1 Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the 
extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following 
the reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to 
a qualifying contributory benefit. 

61A.2 For the purpose of paragraph 61A.1, an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement 
to that benefit. 

61A.3 The extended reduction period ends; 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) is payable has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

61B.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
61B.1 For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant shall be the higher of; 
(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled under the 

general conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction 
period, if section 61 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)) did not 
apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant’s partner would be entitled 
under the general conditions of entitlement, if section 61 did not apply to the applicant. 

61B .2 Paragraph 61B.1 does not apply in the case of a mover. 

61B.3 Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
under this section and the applicant’s partner makes a claim for council tax reduction, no 
amount of council tax reduction shall be payable by the appropriate authority during the 
extended reduction period. 

61C.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) – movers 
61C.1 This section applies; 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

61C.2 The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the 
Monday from which this section applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be 
the amount of council tax reduction which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week 
before the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory 
benefit. 

61C.3 Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to the second 
authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a 
payment from the appropriate authority to– 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 77 Page 99



       	

     
    
 

  
            

        
   

         
          

             
          

       

  
         

 
                

         
            

          
      

      
 

       
 

  
         
           
      
      

          
       

     
 
  

 
         

(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

61C.4 Where 
(a) a mover, or the mover’s partner, makes a claim for council tax reduction to the second 

authority after the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit; and 

(b) the mover, or the mover’s partner, is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) from the appropriate authority, the second authority shall reduce 
the weekly amount of council tax reduction that the mover, or the mover’s partner, is 
entitled to by a sum equal to the amount of the extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) until the end of the extended reduction period. 

61D.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to council tax reduction under the general conditions of entitlement 

61D.1 Where an applicant’s council tax reduction award would have ended when the applicant ceased 
to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 61.1 
(b), that award will not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

61D.2 Changes of circumstances and increases for exceptional circumstances shall not apply to any 
extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 
61B.1(a) or 61C.2 (amount of extended reduction– movers). 

61E.0 Extended reductions: movers into the authority’s area19 

61E.1 Where; 
a. an application is made to the authority for a reduction under its scheme, and 
b. the applicant or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction from; 

(i) another billing authority in England; or 
(ii) a billing authority in Wales, 

the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under its 
Council Tax Reduction scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

62.0 - 63.0 Not Used 

19 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 78 Page 100



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  
  

Sections 64 – 67 

Dates on which entitlement and changes of circumstances are to take effect 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 79 Page 101



       	

     
                

             
           

 
                 

            
              

  

    

        
 

          
         

          
             

               
             

 
 

               
            

 
                    

           
       

               
 

                
       

 
                 

       
 

           
         

               
          

 
                 

             
            

            
        

       
 

               
                

               
               
    

 

64.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin 
64.1 Subject to paragraph 64.2, any person to whom or in respect of whom a claim for council tax 

reduction is made and who is otherwise entitled to that support shall be so entitled from the 
reduction week following the date on which that claim is made or is treated as made. 

64.2 Where a person is otherwise entitled to council tax reduction and becomes liable for the first 
time for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the 
reduction week in which his claim is made or is treated as made, he shall be so entitled from 
that reduction week. 

65.0 - 66.0 Not Used 

67.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 

67.1 Except in cases where section 24 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) applies and 
subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a change of circumstances which affects 
entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s scheme (“change of 
circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of the reduction week following the date on 
which the change actually occurs, and where that change is cessation of entitlement to any 
benefit under the benefit Acts, the date on which the change actually occurs shall be the day 
immediately following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

67.2 Subject to paragraph (3), where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 
council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 

67.3 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 
of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under sections 11 
or 12 of that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect. 

67.4 Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change takes 
effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 

67.5 Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their separation, it 
takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 

67.6 If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but for 
this paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with paragraphs (1) to (5) 
they take effect from the day to which the appropriate paragraph from (2) to (5) above refers, 
or, where more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day. 

67.7 Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, 
other than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the Act, is paid in respect 
of a past period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the 
change of circumstances shall take effect from the first day on which such income, had it been 
paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into 
account for the purposes of this scheme. 

67.8 Without prejudice to paragraph (7), where the change of circumstances is the payment of 
income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of circumstances takes 
effect from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously paid in that period at 
intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the 
purposes of this scheme. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 80 Page 102



       	

           
  

 
            

                  
          

  
              

          
          

   
               

        
         

    

Date on which income consisting of earnings from employment as an employed earner are taken 
into account 

67.9.—(1) A applicant’s average weekly earnings from employment shall be taken into account— 
(a) in the case of a claim, on the date that the claim was made or treated as made and the 
first day of each reduction week thereafter, regardless of whether those earnings were 
actually received in that week; 
(b) in the case of a claim or award where the claimant commences employment, the first day 
of the reduction week following the date the claimant commences that employment, and the 
first day of each reduction week thereafter, regardless of whether those earnings were 
actually received in that week; or 

(c) in the case of a claim or award where the applicant’s average weekly earnings from 
employment change, the first day of the reduction week following the date of the change, and 
the beginning of each week thereafter, regardless of whether those earnings were actually 
received in that week 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 81 Page 103



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

         
  

Sections 68– 74A 

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council tax reduction purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 82 Page 104



       	

 
    

 
                 

          
       
 

                    
     
          
        
    
          
             
            
            
                
    
         
     
 

                    
           
                   
           
                
      
 

                     
           
           
              
   
 

           
     
   
              
             
     
     
 

                   
             
         
                
   
 

   
   
        
    
          
    

 
         

68.0 Making an application20 

68.1 In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application is to be made 
by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such 
one of them as the authority determines. 

68.2 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the 
time being to act, and; 
(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as 

the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian 

acting or appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has 
power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, 
receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney 
Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 
2005 or otherwise, 

that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an 
application on behalf of that person. 

68.3 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the 
time being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon 
written application made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, 
appoint that person to exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to 
which that person might be entitled under the authority’s scheme and to receive and deal 
on his behalf with any sums payable to him. 

68.4 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 
unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under 
regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable 
to act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by 
them under sub-paragraph (3). 

68.5 Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a person 
as an appointee under sub-paragraph (4); 
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in 

writing to the authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) any such appointment terminates when the authority is notified of the 

appointment of a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 

68.6 Anything required by the authority’s scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the 
time being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) 
above or by or to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and 
the receipt of any such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for 
any sum paid. 

68.7 The authority must; 
(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 9(1)(a); 
(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 

that duty; and 
(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 

reduction or its amount. 

20 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 83 Page 105



       	

        
 

           
 

        
 

  
         

  
               

  
 

                  
    
              
 

          
               
       
    
              
              
       
             
            
         
 
                  
         
     
 

             
        
   
 
             
        
 

                  
        
     
 

               
       
  
                
           

            
             

           
            

           
 

 
 

 
         

69.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme21 

69.1. Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application made under the authority’s scheme. 

69.2. An application may be made; 

(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with sections 101 – 106A of this 

scheme, or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 

applications, by telephone. 

69.3 (1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office on a 
properly completed form. 

(2) The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 

69.4 (1) Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by 

the authority as being properly completed; or 
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the 

authority does not accept the application as being in a written form which is 
sufficient in the circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the 
written information and evidence, 

the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to 
complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply 
the applicant with the approved form or request further information and evidence. 

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if it is 
completed in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to 
provide information and evidence in connection with the application. 

69.5. (1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must 
provide the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the 
defect. 

(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does 
not provide all the information the authority requires. 

69.6. In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is 
only valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his 
circumstances provided by the authority. 

69.7 (1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the 
person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 

(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all 
the information the authority requests during the telephone call. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the authority will decide what constitutes a claim for Council Tax 
Support. In the case of applicants who have applied for Universal Credit, the authority shall 
decide on a case by case basis when a claim is required from the applicant and by what 
method the claim is made. The authority may accept information received (in whatever 
format) from the DWP (Secretary of State for Work and Pensions) as a claim for Council Tax 
Support 

21 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 84 Page 106



       	

             
             

 
     

              
         
    

 
                

          
         
        
 

           
    
 

       
         
           
            

   
 

    
         

     
              
          
                
           
       
          
    
     
               
                 
        
               
      
        
     
          
          
          
                
     
      
        
       
  
     
              
         
      
                 
        
               
      

69.8 Notwithstanding other paragraphs within this section, the authority will determine the method 
by which claims are to be made as well as where claims should be sent or delivered. 

(1) Where an applicant ; 
(a) makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which 

he subsequently requests should include) a period before the 
application is made; and 

(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or 
subsequently requested that the application should include a past 
period), the applicant had continuous good cause for failing to make an 
application (or request that the application should include that period), 

the application is to be treated as made on the date determined in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) That date is the latest of; 
a. the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
b. the day 1 month before the date the application was made; 
c. the day 1 month before the date when the applicant requested that the 

application should include a past period. 

69A.0 Date on which an application is made 
69A.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is; 

(a) in a case where; 
(i) an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit has been 
made to the applicant or his partner, and 
(ii) the application for a reduction is made within one month of the date on which 
the claim for that state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit was 
received at the appropriate DWP office, 

the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit 
arising from that claim; 
(b) in a case where 

(i) an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the 
dwelling he occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application is received at the designated office within one month of the 
date of the change, 

the date on which the change takes place; 
(c) in a case where; 

(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income- related employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit 
has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 
(ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for 
that income support, jobseeker’s allowance, employment and support allowance or 
universal credit was received, 

the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that 
claim; 
(d) in a case where; 

(i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or 
has an award of universal credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the 
dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application is received at the designated office within one month of the 
date of the change, 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 85 Page 107



       	

        
     
                 
          
              
           
        
             
        
                
           
       
              
 

      
      
         
           
  
         
    
          
           
    
 

           
          
              
        
               
              
             
     
 

           
              

  
     

            
            

     
              

 
               

        
            

     
  

       
           

               
 

          
                  
             
           
        

the date on which the change takes place; 
(e) in a case where; 

(i) an applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death 
or their separation, entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme, and 
(ii) the applicant makes an application for a reduction under that scheme within 
one month of the date of the death or the separation, 
the date of the death or separation; 

(f) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to an applicant following 
the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an 
application, the date of first notification; 
(g) in any other case, the date on which an application is received at the designated office. 

69A.2 For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(c) a person who has been awarded an 
income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance is to be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately 
precede the first day in that award and on which he would, but for regulations made 
under; 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
have been entitled to that allowance. 

69A.3 Where there is a defect in an applications by telephone; 
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 
(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has 
sufficient information to decide the application. 

69A.4 The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first 
instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) 
are satisfied. 

69A.5 The conditions are that— 
(a) where the authority receives the properly completed application or the information 
requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer 
period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(b) where an application is not on approved form or further information requested by 
authority applies; 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be; 
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested within one month 
of the request;  or, 
in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices 
the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one 
month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable. 

69A.6 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, 
where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is anticipated 
that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), he may 
apply for a reduction under that authority’s scheme at any time in that period in respect of 
that tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the authority must 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 86 Page 108



       	

          
 

          
                
             
           
        
       
     
               
            
              
    
                
           
        
               
   
 

               
              
              
  

     
 

         
        

       
            

         

    
         

      
         
 

    
    
             
           
             
   
                
         
             
   
            
 

     
                  
  
     

 
         

treat the application as having been made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises. 

69A.7 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, 
where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme in the 
reduction week immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of the 
opinion that unless there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction 
under its scheme for a period beginning not later than; 
(a) in the case of an application made by; 

(i) a pensioner, or 
(ii) a person who has attained, or whose partner has attained, the age which is 17 
weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit, 
the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is 
made, or 

(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth 
reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week 
immediately preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a 
reduction accordingly. 

69A.8 In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and 
Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public 
for the receipt of claims of income support, a job seekers allowance or an employment and 
support allowance. 

70.0 Submission of evidence electronically 

70.1 The authority may accept such evidence, documents and certificates to support the claim 
electronically where it feels that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

71. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence 
71.1 The authority may accept such evidence to support the claim by telephone where it feels that 

this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim 

72.0 Information and evidence22 

72.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under an 
authority’s scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any 
other person in respect of whom he is making the application. 

72.2 This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if— 
(a) the application is accompanied by; 

(i) a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or 
evidence establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
(ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national 
insurance number that has been allocated to the person; or 

(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to 
him and the application for the reduction is accompanied by; 

(i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; 
and 
(ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 

72.3 Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply; 
(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a reduction is 
made; 
(b) to a person who; 

22 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 87 Page 109



       	

                 
   
              
   
           
 

        
         
        
          
      
               
        
 

                
      
  
 

           
                
       
        
              
          
          
 

      
              

          
         

              
     
        
 

                 
          
            
           
         
          
        

     
 

               
                
 

               
  
 

              
 

                 
      
 

 
         

(i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this 
scheme; 
(ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 
(iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

72.4 Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a 
reduction under the authority’s scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, 
documents, information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or 
any question arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by 
that authority in order to determine that person’s entitlement to, or continuing entitlement 
to a reduction under its scheme and must do so within one month of the authority requiring 
him to do so or such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable. 

72.5 Nothing in this paragraph requires a person who is a pensioner to furnish any certificates, 
documents, information or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (7) 
applies. 

72.6 Where the authority makes a request under sub-paragraph (4), it must; 
(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme has been 
awarded of his duty under paragraph 9 (duty to notify change of circumstances) to notify 
the authority of any change of circumstances; and 
(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 9, indicate to him 
either orally or by notice or by reference to some other document available to him on 
application and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which must be notified. 

72.7 This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments; 
(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love 
Manchester Emergency Fund, or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 
(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 5, other than a payment 
under the Independent Living Fund (2006); 
(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 58.9. 

72.8 Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under the authority’s scheme has been 
awarded or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a 
member of, or a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension 
scheme, he must where the authority so requires furnish the following information; 
(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 
(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable 
the personal pension scheme to be identified. 

73.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application23 

73.1 A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has been 
made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office. 

73.2 Where the application was made by telephone the amendment may also be made by 
telephone. 

73.3 Any application amended is to be treated as if it had been amended in the first instance. 

73.4 A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the designated office at 
any time before a decision has been made on it. 

23 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 88 Page 110



       	

              
  
 

              
  
 

                
            

    

      
 

           
             
  
              
                 
          
     
 

            
               
            
        
   
   
              
           
         
                
    
               
          
       
 

      
           
             
              
                 
            
   
 

         
      
     
 

        
           
          
    
 

                
             
           

 
          

73.5 Where the application was made by telephone, the withdrawal may also be made by 
telephone. 

73.6 Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (5) has effect when 
it is received. 

73.7 Where a person, by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person must (if 
required to do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or withdrawal by a notice in writing 
delivered or sent to the designated office. 

74.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances24 

74.1 Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7), an applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) 
must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of circumstances at any 
time; 
(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
(b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a 
reduction under the authority’s scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in 
receipt of such a reduction. 

74.2 The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of circumstances 
which the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his 
entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s scheme (a “relevant 
change of circumstances”) by giving notice to the authority; 
(a) in writing; or 
(b) by telephone— 

(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose unless 
the authority determines that in any particular case or class of case notification 
may not be given by telephone; or 
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be 
given by telephone; or 

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case, 
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later. 

74.3 The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying 
(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances 
which affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under the 
authority’s scheme to which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to 
the benefit. 

74.4 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an 
income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance or universal credit. 

74.5 Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) to 
notify the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that 
a person who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he has 
ceased to be a child or young person. 

74.6 All changes in circumstances should be notified to the authority in writing (or by whatever 
format agreed by the authority) within one calendar month of the happening of the event or 
change in circumstance. This timescale may be extended at the discretion of the authority. 

24 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 89 Page 111



       	

                
             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Where such a change is not received within that timescale and where the change would increase 
the level of reduction payable, the authority may use a date later that the actual change of 
circumstances 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 90 Page 112



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

     
  

Sections 75- 90 

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council tax reduction 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 91 Page 113



       	

 

     
          

       
   

    
 

       
  
               
  
            
  
 

              
  
          
       
  
              
   
 

             
  
 

             
             
          
 

               
               
        
       
 

        
         
 

              
             
      
 

    
   
                   
      
               
          
               
              
           
                 

 
         
         

75.0 Decisions by the authority25 

75.1 The authority must make a decision on an application under its scheme within 14 days of 
paragraphs 4 and 7 and section 69 being satisfied, or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter. 

76.0 Notification of decision26 

76.1 The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under its 
scheme; 
(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter; 
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter. 

76.2 Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
include a statement; 
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by 74.1; 
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 
that duty; and 
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 
reduction or its amount. 

76.3 Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
include a statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged. 

76.4 In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person affected of the 
procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person to the provisions in 
the authority’s scheme relating to the procedure for making an appeal. 

76.5 A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, 
within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the 
authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any 
matter set out in the notice. 

76.6 The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the person 
requesting it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

76.7 For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a 
decision of the authority under its scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that 
person are affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (8). 

76.8 This sub-paragraph applies to— 
(a) the applicant; 
(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is 
unable for the time being to act; 

(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the 
case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the 
Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000(3) who has power to apply or, as the 
case may be, receive benefit on the person’s behalf; or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, 

25 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
26 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 92 Page 114



       	

           
                
    
       

       
 

         
              

     
          

       
   
    

           
    

              
       

              
      

 
       

        
 

 
  

                 
     

             
         

  
   

            
         

        
                

         
              

    
                

        
      

 
       

       
     

 

         
 

           

 
          
         

receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney 
Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 
2005 or otherwise, 

(c) a person appointed by the authority to act for a person unable to act. 

77.0 Time and manner of granting council tax reduction27 

77.1 Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme in respect of his 
liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial 
year (“the chargeable year”), the authority must discharge his entitlement; 
(a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) 

of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 
(b) where; 

(i) such a reduction is not possible; or 
(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme; or 
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council 
tax and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by 
making payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny. 

77.2 The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the 
amount of that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of 
paragraph (1). 

77.3 In a case to which paragraph (1)(b) refers; 
(a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the 

chargeable year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been 
made, is insufficient to enable his entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme in respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax 
becoming due any outstanding reduction; 
(i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year; 

(b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has 
discharged the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction 
under the authority’s scheme in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if 
that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter 

(c) in any other case, the reduction under the authority’s scheme must be paid within 
14 days of the receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is 
not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter. 

77.4 For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's 
council tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers (council tax payments). 

78.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid 28 

78.1 Subject to section 80 (payment on death) and paragraph (2), any payment of the amount 

27 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
28 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 93 Page 115



       	

      
 

                 
            

         
   

 

     
               

           
      

               
            

             
    

                
        

          
 

 

       
 

                 
          

                
        

 
 

  
 

                   
                

            
          

     
 

       
 

  
                
                
            
             
            
      
                   
       

 
    
  
  

of a reduction must be made to that person. 

78.2 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s 
scheme made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting 
pursuant to an appointment or is treated as having been so appointed, the amount of the 
reduction may be paid to that person. 

79.0 Shortfall in support / reduction29 

79.1 Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under the authority’s scheme to a 
person, it is determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person 
was entitled, the authority must either; 
(a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 

possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the 
council tax of the authority as it has effect for the chargeable financial year until that 
shortfall is made good; or 

(b) where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of 
any shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the 
decision being made or if that is not reasonable practicable, as soon as possible 
afterwards. 

80.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled30 

80.1 Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not 
possible to award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax 
for which he was liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction 
to his executor or administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

. 

81.0 Offsetting 

81.1 Where a person has been allowed or paid a sum of council tax reduction under a decision which 
is subsequently revised or further revised, any sum allowed or paid in respect of a period 
covered by the subsequent decision shall be offset against arrears of entitlement under the 
subsequent decision except to the extent that the sum exceeds the arrears and shall be treated 
as properly awarded or paid on account of them. 

82 .0 Payment where there is joint and several liability31 

82.1 Where; 
(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme in respect of his liability 
for the authority’s council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year; 
(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; and 
(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of his 
liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992(7) refers would be inappropriate, 
it may make a payment to him of the amount of the reduction to which he is entitled, 
rounded where necessary to the nearest penny. 

29 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
30 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
31 Inserted by Schedule 8 of the Council Tax Reductions Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 94 Page 116



       	

           
        
 

                 
            
         
         

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

82.2 Subject to sub-paragraph (3) any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be made to 
the person who is entitled to the reduction. 

82.3 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme made the application and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an 
appointment under paragraph 4(3) or is treated as having been so appointed by virtue of 
paragraph 4(4), the amount of the reduction may be paid to that person. 

83.0 – 90.0 Not used 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 95 Page 117



       	

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

       
  

Sections 91 – 94 

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council tax reduction purposes 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 96 Page 118



       	

 

                
    

 
           

      
             

            
    

 
                

        
   

 

     
 

       
           
        
     
     
       

 
      

 

    
 

   
         
             

         
 

 

   
 

         
          

    
         

              
 

 
  

 
             

91.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) 

91.1 The authority may use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council 
Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within 
Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and the Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services 
etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

91.2 Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share 
information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in 
accordance with Data Protections requirements32. 

. 

92.0 Collection of information 

92.1 The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for council 
tax reduction, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from– 
(a) persons making claims for council tax reduction; 
(b) other persons in connection with such claims; 
(c) other local authorities; or 
(d) central government departments including the DWP and HMRC 

92.2 The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained. 

93.0 Recording and holding information 

93.1 The authority may 
(a) may make a record of such information; and 
(b) may hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose 
of forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering council tax 
reduction. 

94.0 Forwarding of information 

94.1 The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims 
to or awards of council tax reduction to which the relevant information relates, being 
(i) a local authority; 
(ii) a person providing services to a local authority; or 
(iii) a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to council tax 
reduction. 

32 Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014 and Data Retention Regulations 2014 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 97 Page 119



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

      
  

Sections 95 – 98 

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council tax reduction 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 98 Page 120



       	

 
 

    
              

 
  
                     

      
             

       
           

    
         
            

           
     

 

    
              

             
       

         
         

            
            

         
  

          

   
                

         
             

    
 

  
          

      
         
        

 
           

     
         
       

                
        

 
 
  

95.0 Persons affected by Decisions 
95.1 A person is to be treated as a person affected by a relevant decision of the authority where that 

person is; 
a. an applicant; 
b. in the case of a person who is liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act 
(i) a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit or support on his behalf, 
(ii) in Scotland, a tutor, curator, judicial factor or other guardian acting or appointed in 
terms of law administering that person’s estate, or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to receive benefit or support appointed 
by the person liable to make those payments under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise; 

c. a person appointed by the authority under this scheme; 

96.0 Revisions of Decisions 
96.1 Subject to the provisions in this scheme, a relevant decision (‘the original decision) may be 

revised or further revised by the authority, which made the decision where the person affected 
makes an application for a revision within; 

(i) one month of the date of notification of the original decision; or 
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow. 

96.2 The authority may revise or further revise that original decision at any time. Where further 
information is required from the person affected, the authority shall request such information 
and evidence as it feels is reasonable. Such information must be supplied within; 

i) one month of the date of notification of the additional information; or 
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow 

97.0 Written Statements 
97.1 Subject to the provisions in the scheme, the authority may upon a written request issue a 

written statement to a person affected to further explain the decision of the authority in 
relation to Council tax reduction. The request must be received within one month of the date 
of the notification being issued by the authority. 

98.0 Terminations 
98.1 The authority may terminate support in whole or in part the Council tax reduction where it 

appears to the authority that an issue arises whether; 
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council tax reduction are or were fulfilled; or 
b. a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded. 

98.2 The authority may terminate, in whole or in part the Council tax reduction where it appears to 
the authority that an issue arises whether; 
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council tax reduction are or were fulfilled; or 
b. a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded. 
Where the person fails to provide information to the authority as requested in relation to any 
matter relating to their liability for Council Tax 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 99 Page 121



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
 
  

Section 99 

Appeals against the authority’s decisions 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 100 Page 122



       	

 

         
 

            
           
           
             
     
 

   
       
    
    
   
 

           
       

                 
      

 
  

 
         
             

99.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority33 

99.1 A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority, which affects; 
(a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled, 
may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds 
on which, he is aggrieved. 

99.2 The authority must 
(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing; 

(i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
(ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken. 

99.3 Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, 
or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(b) 
within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to the valuation tribunal under 
section 16 of the 1992 Act34. 

33 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
34 As amended by the Tribunal Procedure (Amendment No 3 ) Rules 2014 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 101 Page 123



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   
  

Section 100 

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 102 Page 124



       	

 

           
 

                
    
   
        
               
      
 

  
             
           
         
          
         
 

              
       

   
      
 
  

 
          

100.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act35 

100.1 An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act 
may be made; 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance this scheme or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 

such applications, by telephone. 

100.2 Where; 
(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a 

class of case in which liability is to be reduced; and 
(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under its scheme, 

that person’s application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme may also be 
treated as an application for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c). 

100.3 An application to the authority for a reduction not in accordance with paragraph 1 on the 
grounds of Exceptional Hardship under this scheme must be made: 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by any means acceptable to the authority. 

35 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 103 Page 125



       	

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  
  

 
          

Section 101 – 106A36 

Electronic Communication 

36 Inserted by Council Tax Reductions Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 104 Page 126



       	

 

  
  

   
              
       
 

      
 

     
       
 

              
           
     
 

           
          
   
 

       
         
    
       
    
      
 

        
  
 

         
         
 

             
  
 

              
          
 

    
 

     
           
           
        

        
 

               
              
       
    
      

101.0 Interpretation 
101.1 In this Part; 

“information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of an 
authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 

102.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication 

102.1 The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
awards of, reductions under its scheme. 

102.2 A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 
the matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-paragraphs (3) 
to (6) are satisfied. 

102.3 The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of 
the authority. 

102.4 The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of; 
(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
(b) electronic communication; 
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic 

communication; and 
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 

102.5 The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is 
in a form approved for the purposes. 

102.6 The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form 
as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 

102.7 Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 

102.8 In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
Executive of the authority for the purposes of this section. 

103.0 Use of intermediaries 

103.1 The authority may use intermediaries in connection with; 
(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 
and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

104.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 

104.1 Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be 
treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of an 
authority’s scheme on the day the conditions imposed; 
(a) by this section; and 
(b) by or under an enactment, 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 105 Page 127



       	

   
 

       
          
 

                
                
  

         
 

   
             
     
            
    
              
  

     
 

                
            
     
            
  
             
   
 

                
           
           
    
 

               
            
          
 

      
 

                
               
      
 
 
  

are satisfied. 

104.2 The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 
different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 

104.3 Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 
means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
delivered. 

105.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 

105.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of— 
(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 
official computer system; or 
(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic 
communication from an official computer system, 
the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name 
is recorded as such on that official computer system. 

106.0 Proof of delivery of information 

106.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is presumed to 
have been the case where; 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system. 

106.2 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this is 
presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not 
been recorded on an official computer system. 

106.3 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and 
date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 

106A.0 Proof of content of information 

106A.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is presumed to be 
that recorded on an official computer system. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 106 Page 128



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 
  

Section 107 

Counter Fraud and Compliance 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 107 Page 129



       	

 

  
 

                 
         

              
      
       

 
           

             
 

             
         
          

         
           

 
 

           
       
          
        
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

107.0 Counter Fraud and compliance 

107.1 In order to protect the finances of the authority and also in the interests of all council taxpayers, 
the authority will undertake such actions as allowed by law to; 

a. Prevent and detect fraudulent claims and actions in respect of Council tax reduction; 
b. Carry out investigations fairly, professionally and in accordance with the law; and 
c. Ensure that sanctions are applied in appropriate cases 

107.2 The authority believes that it is important to minimise the opportunity for fraud and; 
a. will implement rigorous procedures for the verification of claims for council tax 

reduction; 
b. will employ sufficient Officers to fulfil the authority’s commitment to combat fraud; 
c. will actively tackle fraud where it occurs in accordance with this scheme; 
d. will co-operate with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Her Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs and take part in joint working including prosecutions; and 
e. will in all cases seek to recover all outstanding council tax. 

107.3 The authority shall put into place such administrative policies, procedures and processes as 
are necessary to ensure that the actions outlined within paragraph 107.1 and 107.2 can be 
carried out successfully. In particular the authority shall undertake actions provided by the 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
2013. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 108 Page 130



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
  

 
                 
  

 

Schedule 1 

Applicable Amounts37 

37 37 The amounts shown within this schedule shall be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
as amended 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 109 Page 131



       	

 

  
 

         
         

 
  

   
  

    
    

 

 

      
         

   
  

         
     

 

 

           
       

     
 

 
          

  
           
       

 
              

           
   

 
 

  
 

     
       

   
   

 

 

       
     
    

 

 

    
        

   
     

 

 
             

            
 

 
              

      
               

1 

2 

Personal Allowance 

The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 
column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes the main scheme; 

Column 1 
Person or Couple 

Column 2 

1. A Single applicant who; 
a) is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance 

£77.00 

b) is aged not less than 25 £77.00 
c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25 £61.05 

2. Lone Parent £77.00 
3. Couple; 

a) Where the applicant is entitled to the main 
phase of employment and support allowance 

£121.05 

b) Where one member is aged not less than 18 £121.05 
c) For each additional spouse who is a member of 

the same household as the claimant 
£44.05 

For the purposes of paragraph 1 an applicant is entitled to main phase employment and support 
allowance if; 

a. Paragraph 17 or 18 is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
b. The applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance 

(1) The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 
shall, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for the purposes 
of the main scheme 

Column 1 
Child or Young Person 

Column 2 

Person in respect of the period– 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and 
ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that person’s sixteenth 
birthday; 

£70.80 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September 
following that person’s sixteenth birthday and 
ending on the day preceding that person’s twentieth 
birthday. 

£70.80 

(c) Third or subsequent dependent child or young 
person whose date of birth falls on or after 1st April 
2017. This shall be determined in accordance with 
the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

NIL 

(2) In column (1) of the table in paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

Family Premiums 
3. 3. (1) The amount for the purposes of this scheme in respect of a family of which at least 

one member is a child or young person shall be 
a. where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (3) of Schedule 3 of the 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 110 Page 132



       	

      
   
               

     
                
      
        

 
        

     
     

 
        

        

 
            

         
    

               
             
         

 
    

 
          
    
    
    

              
 

             
            
              

           
        

      
         

         
             

     
              

          
              

           
           

  

  
              

     
            

6 

Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 applies, £22.20; 
b. in any other case, £17.85; 
c. No family premium will be awarded where an application for reduction is received on 

or after 1st April 2017. 
i) Sub paragraph (c) shall not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2017, is entitled 
to Council Tax Reduction and is: 
a. a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; 

or 
b. a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 

polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a 
member of the same household. 

(c)  (i) above does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph 3 c (i) (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new claim for Council Tax Reduction; 

Premiums 
4. Except as provided in paragraph 5, the premiums specified this Schedule shall, for the purposes 

of this scheme, be applicable to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in paragraphs 
4 to 16 in respect of that premium. 

5. Subject to paragraph 6, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more than one 
premium in this this Schedule, only one premium shall be applicable to him and, if they are 
different amounts, the higher or highest amount shall apply. 

(1) The following premiums, namely– 

a. severe disability premium to which paragraph 10 applies; 
b. an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies; 
c. a disabled child premium to which paragraph 12 applies; and a 
d. carer premium to which paragraph 13 applies, 

may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule 

7. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Schedule, once a premium is applicable 
to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any benefit for 
a. in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 

1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he 
would be in receipt of that benefit; and 

b. any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the 1973 Act or by Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise under or 
section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns(Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which 
he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

(2) For the purposes of the carer premium, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of carer’s 
allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long as the person in respect of 
whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the 
care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in 
accordance with section 72(3) of the Act or the daily living component of the personal 
independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP. 

Disability Premium 
8. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (12) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Additional Condition for the Disability Premiums 
9. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (13) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 111 Page 133



       	

 
            

  
            

 
            

  
            

 
     

            
      

         
 

       
                

            
     

   
         

 
  

  
        

    
  

 

 

        
    

  

 

 
        

    
  

 

        
      

  
           

      
       

 

             
 

 

        
   

    
    

  
 

        
    

      

Severe Disability Premiums 
10. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (14) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Enhanced Disability Premium 
11. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (15) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Disabled Child Premium 
12. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (16) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
Carer Premium 
13. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (17) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
14. For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 

8 to 13, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of 
any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of that 
benefit. 

Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
15. For the purposes of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of any benefit 

if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in respect 
of which that benefit is paid. 

Amounts of Premium 
16. For the purposes of this Schedule, the following amounts shall apply; 

Premium Amount 
Disability Premium 

a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£36.20 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 12(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£51.60 

Severe Disability Premium 
a. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 

paragraph 14(2)(a) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

£69.40 

b. where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 14(2)(b) of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 

i. in a case where there is someone in receipt of 
carer’s allowance or if he or any partner satisfies 
that condition only by virtue of paragraph 14(5); 

£69.40 

ii. in a case where there is no one in receipt of such 
an allowance 

£138.80 

Disabled Child Premium £68.04 in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom 
the condition specified in 
paragraph 16 of Part 3 of Schedule 
3 Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 

Carer Premium £38.85 in respect of each person 
who satisfies the condition 
specified in paragraph 17 of Part 3 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 112 Page 134



       	

  
   

  
        

   
     

    
  

 
     

  
     

      
   

    
 

      
      

   
 

     
  
     

 
 

 

 
            

       
 

             
   

  
        

              
        
   

 

    
        

       
 
  

Premium 

Enhanced Disability Premium 

The components 

Amount 
of Schedule 3 Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 
(a) £27.44 in respect of each child 
or young person in respect of 
whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 15 of Part 3 of Schedule 
3 Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 are satisfied; 
(b) £17.75 in respect of each 
person who is neither– 
(i)a child or young person; nor 
(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, in respect 
of whom the conditions specified 
in paragraph 15 are satisfied; 
(c) £25.35 where the applicant is a 
member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 
15 of Part 3 of Schedule 3 Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 are 
satisfied in respect of a member of 
that couple or polygamous 
marriage. 

17. The condition (s) to be met is contained in Schedule 3 (21 -24) Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
as amended by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 

18. The amount of the work-related activity component is £30.60. The amount of the support 
component is £40.60. 

Transitional Addition 
19. The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 30 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 where the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner meets the conditions contained within paragraphs 27 – 29 of Schedule 3 of the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 

Amount of transitional addition 
20. The amount of any transitional addition is calculated in accordance with paragraphs 30 and 31 

of Schedule 3 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 113 Page 135



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Schedule 2 

Not Used 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 114 Page 136



       	

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

 
                  

 

Schedule 3 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings38 

38 All amounts within this schedule will be amended in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (as 
amended) 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 115 Page 137



       	

          
       

   
        

          
      

 
               

     
   

 
             

        
           

 
      

   
 

          
     

 
 

         
 
     

          
     
 

           
     

 
            

 
    
      

    
         

        
    

 
   

 
          

          
      

            
  

         
          

   
       

          
    

 
                 

             
         

1. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner 
or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged– 

(a) where– 
(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is 

not so entitled solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution 
conditions, 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a 
period commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the 
employment was terminated; 

(b) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax reduction the 
employment has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any 
earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except– 

(i) any payment of the nature described in 
(aa) paragraph 25.1(e), or 

(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); 
and 

(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in 

(aa) paragraph 25.1(g)or(h),or 
(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 

payments and suspension from work: complaints to employment 
tribunals), 
including any payment made following the settlement of a complaint 
to an employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 

(c) where before the first day of entitlement to council tax reduction– 

(i) the employment has not been terminated, but 
(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any 
payment or remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii) 
(bb) or paragraph 25.1(i), or (j). 

2. In the case of an applicant who, before first day of entitlement to council tax reduction; 

(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 
employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 

(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment 
has been terminated, 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except; 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature 
described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 
25.1(i), (i) or (j). 

2A. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part- time 
employment as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain would 
have been so engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 116 Page 138



       	

         
     

 
                  

      
        

                
        

 
           

          
   

 
     
             

    
               

      
 
   
 

  
 

                  
        

             
         

  
 
                  

              
          

 
 

                   
              

      
            

    
 
             

         
  

 
                        

        
          

              
            

   
 

                  
      

                
            

       
                

of his employment any earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which 
paragraph 27.3 and paragraph 27.4 (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 

3. (1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 4 does not apply, £20; but 
notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of an 
applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to an applicant 
it shall not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the 
applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 

(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by 
way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity 
component or support component. 

(3) This paragraph applies where 
(a) he is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount by way 

of the disability premium; and 
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and 

at least one is engaged in employment. 

(4)–(5) Not used 

4. In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25. 

5. (1) In a case to which neither paragraph 3 nor paragraph 4 applies to the applicant and, 
subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium, £20 of the earnings of the person who is, or at any 
time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s allowance or treated in 
accordance with this scheme as being in receipt of carer’s allowance. 

(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of 
his, their earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount 
to be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 

6. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a couple 
and whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of 
the couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment; 
(a) specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not when 

aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20; 

(b) other than one specified in paragraph 8(1), so much of the other member’s earnings from 
such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount 
disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 

7. In a case where paragraphs 3, 5, 6 and 8 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of a couple 
and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding section 15 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not apply to his partner except where, 
and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be disregarded under this 
paragraph are less than £10. 

8. (1) In a case where paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of earnings 
derived from one or more employments as– 

(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 
scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies; 

(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 117 Page 139



       	

            
       

        
            
             

   
       

       
           

 
   

          
         

  
         

          
   

 
               

        
             

         
      

 
   

 
    

         
     

          
   

    
       
 
                  

          
          

 
              

           
              

 
 
                 

              
        

         
    

 
     
     
     
    

       
         

 
        

1 of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005(a)) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by 
an amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 
(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to 

the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 
but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to an 
applicant it shall not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph 
(2). 

(2) If the applicant’s partner is engaged in employment; 
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate 

with the amount of the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph 
exceed £20; 

(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 
employment up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the applicant’s earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 

9. Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 8(1), but 
his earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also 
engaged in any other employment so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to 
£5 if he is a single applicant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the 
amount of his earnings disregarded under paragraph 8 exceed £20. 

10. In a case to which none of the paragraphs 3 to 9 applies, £5. 

10A. (1) Where; 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 

couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined 

in sub-paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 12 does not apply, 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (‘the specified amount’). 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 3 to 10 do not apply; but in any case where 
the applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 4, then paragraph 4 applies instead of this paragraph. 

(3) Notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s 
family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a 
couple (‘A’) it shall not apply to the other member of that couple (‘B’) except to the extent 
provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

(4) Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so 
much of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the 
specified amount; but the amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this 
sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied 
that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is; 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 

capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 
1975 

(6) ‘Exempt work’ means work of the kind described in; 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 118 Page 140



       	

           
      

        
  

           
            
      

 
           

    
          

          
 

                  
        

        
 

             
    

 
               

             
   

 
                

     
 

          
 

                   
              

           
        

 
       

              
         

    
                

                
    

      
              

       
       

                
   

              
 

         
    

                  
       
        

           
 
       

(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations; or (as the case may be) 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member 
of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person 
or their partner is also undertaking other work. 

(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 
provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

11. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 
19 or 20 of Schedule 4 had the applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings been 
sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 

12. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 

13. Any earnings derived from employment, which are payable in a country outside the United 
Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United 
Kingdom of those earnings. 

14. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 

15. Any earnings of a child or young person. 

16. (1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 
in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in 
sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 3 
to 10A of this Schedule shall be increased by £17.10. 

(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that– 
(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is 
a person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit Regulations applies; or 
(b) the applicant– 

(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at 
least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours 
per week; or 
(ii) is a member of a couple and 

(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for 
on average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium; or 

(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week; or 

(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 
engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and; 

(aa) the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium, the work-
related activity component or the support component ; 
(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple 
satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the 
components referred to in sub-head (aa) above and is engaged in remunerative 
work for on average not less than 16 hours per week. 

(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1); 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 119 Page 141



       	

        
      

          
  

  
 
            

            
      

 
            

     
  

(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant’s earnings under 
paragraphs 3 to 10A of this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 
17(1)(c); and 
(c) £17.10 

(4) The provisions of section 6 shall apply in determining whether or not a person works for 
on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in 
paragraph (1) of that section were a reference to 30 hours. 

17. In this Schedule ‘part-time employment’ means employment in which the person is engaged on 
average for less than 16 hours a week. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 120 Page 142



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

 
                  

 

Schedule 4 

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings39 

39 Any amounts shown in this schedule will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as 
amended 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 121 Page 143



       	

 
                    

     
 

                   
        

 
                 

          
               

  
 

                
         
    

                 
  

 
                 

 
               

       
 

            
       

 
                 

          
 

 
                

             
           

             
    

 
           

 
           

         
    
    
     
 

                
            

          
       

 
      

 
                    

   
   

          
         

    

1. Any amount paid by way of tax on income, which is to be taken into account under section 30 
(calculation of income other than earnings). 

A2. Any payment made to the claim and in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 

A3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme or Back to Work Scheme, but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of 
the payment. 

2. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is– 
(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
(b) volunteer, 

if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated 
as possessing any earnings under section 32.0 (notional income). 

2A. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation as a service user. 

3. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 

4. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance the whole of his income. 

5. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s 
income. 

6. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, 
was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but 
ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the 
Housing Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the 
whole of his income. 

7. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment or AFIP 

8. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of; 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 7 or 10; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance. 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 

9. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

10. Any attendance allowance. 

11. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 
analogous payment. 

12. (1) Any payment– 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to; 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of 
school expenses; grant of scholarships etc); 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 122 Page 144



       	

         
      
           

        
 

         
         

       
         

 
           

  
 
        

 
           
            
           

         
                      

             
   

 
                  

       
 

                 
      

             
     

           
       

                   
        

            
        

          
 

           
          

                
          

 
       

      
    
            

             
  

       
            

  
           
    
          

          

(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 
1980 (power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and 
paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section14 or section181 of the Education Act 2002(power of Secretary of State 
and National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 

(iii) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 
to; 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

13. Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 
Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 

14 (1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise 
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment; 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, 
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the 1973 Act or section 2(5) of the 
Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training 
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is 
a Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of 
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been 
completed. 

(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where 
the applicant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax 
or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 

15 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments; 
(a) a charitable payment; 
(b) a voluntary payment; 
(c) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose 

funds are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to 
the applicant; 

(d) a payment under an annuity purchased; 
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the 

applicant; or 
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, 
in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 

(e) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) received by virtue of any 
agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 123 Page 145



       	

   
 
             
               

   
              

     
 

      
        

   
        
            

        
         

           
     
            

 
         

          
          
               
     
 

         
              
             
 

                  
           

            
               
   

            
       
              

           
 

         
           

       
 

               
       

          
             

          
 

           
           

           
            

    
              

     
 

any personal injury to the applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall not apply to a payment, which is made or due to be made by– 
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the 

applicant’s family; or 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 

member of the applicant’s family. 

16. 100% of any of the following, namely 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 

under paragraph 9 or 10); 
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as 

is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 

to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special 
provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or 
of the Republic of Austria. 

17. Subject to paragraph 35, £15 of any; 
(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the Act; 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the Act. 

18. (1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under section 41 
(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub- paragraph (2), not income 
derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 8, 14 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5. 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 2, 4 or 25 to 28 of Schedule 5 but 
only to the extent of– 

(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the 
period during which that income accrued; or 

(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of 
the dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that 
income accrued. 

(3) The definition of ‘water charges’ in paragraph 2(1) shall apply to sub-paragraph (2) of this 
paragraph with the omission of the words ‘in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling 
which a person occupies as his home’. 

19. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course 
at an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, 
which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating– 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of 
the Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that 
student’s award; 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under 
that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 
(c) the student’s student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 
period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 124 Page 146



       	

                
 

             
 

              
        

        
           

   
        

            
        

           
        
           

     
    

   
 

                  
 

                   
         

                 
    

             
                  

             
               

 
            

     
          

          
      
  
              

     
            

            
             

   
            

  
 

           
              
    

 
           

              
   

 
                  

         
 

                    

20. (1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either; 

(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; 
or 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary 
awards) or an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under 
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that 
Act of 1980, 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 19, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s term. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to– 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less 

the weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

whichever is less. 

21. Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non- dependant. 

22. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 
person other than one to whom paragraph 21 or 23 refers and there is a contractual liability to 
make payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or 
a member of his family– 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person 
and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 

23. (1) Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 
board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such 
accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to– 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect 
of such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20.00, 100 per cent. 
of such payments; 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20.00, £20.00 and 50 per 
cent. of the excess over £20.00. 

(2) In this paragraph, ‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided 
to a person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, 
for a charge which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some 
cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than 
the person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are 
consumed in that accommodation or associated premises. 

24. (1) Any income in kind, except where regulation 30(11)(b) (provision of support under 
section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act in the calculation of income other 
than earnings) applies. 

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ‘income in kind’ does not include a payment to a 
third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant. 

25. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 

26. (1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family– 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 125 Page 147



       	

           
             

        
         

          
    

   
               

        
      

         
    

           
               

        
            

    
            

          
  

 
                 

  
    

        
        

        
    

          
     

        
 

 
               

 
   
           

 
    
             
           

          
    

          
     
   

 
                  

        
          

    
 

           
             

           
              

   

(a)pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 
Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(b) 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters); or in accordance with 
an Adoption Allowance Scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and 
Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (Adoption Allowances Schemes) 

(b)not used 
(ba) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) 

of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
contribution to a child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person 
as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 
1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
Order, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

(d)in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989(c) (special guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made 
to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002. 

27. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 
arrangements made 
(a) by a local authority under– 

(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland)Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

28. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (‘the person concerned’), who 
is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by– 
(a) a health authority; 
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the 

person concerned; 
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 

1977 or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006; or 

(f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 

29. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 

or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for 
children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

29A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989(e) or section 29 of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995(local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on 
to the applicant. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 126 Page 148



       	

     
         
        
        
 

           
 

         
  

           
           
        

            
        

    
               

 
           
    

          
         

      
 

 
                    

  
 

                   
           

 
 

              
 

                  
     

 
                  

           
              

      
          

         
         

 
              

         
               
          

            
      

         
         

       
         

         
        

          

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b)is aged 18 or over, and 
(c)continues to live with the applicant. 

30. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 
insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments; 

(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his 
home; or 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit 
Act 1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shall only be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to– 
(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (b); 
and 
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on– 

(i) that policy; or 
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph(1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure 
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the 
applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-
paragraph (1)(a). 

31. Any payment of income which, by virtue of section 36 (income treated as capital) is to be treated 
as capital. 

32. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act (the Social Fund) or any local 
welfare provision as defined by the Social Security (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 
2013 

33. Any payment under Part 10 of the Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 

34. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

35. The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 
income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 15.2 (calculation of 
income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be 
disregarded under paragraph 47.2(b) and paragraph 48.1(d) (calculation of covenant income 
where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is 
assessed), paragraph 51(2) (treatment of student loans), paragraph 52(3) (treatment of 
payments from access funds) and paragraphs 16 and 17 shall in no case exceed £20 per week. 

36. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 127 Page 149



       	

 
             

        
               

          
             

            
            

  
           
         

         
        

          
 

            
             
 

       
          
         

    
          
              

       
  

               
   

               
          

   
            
           

        
     

    
         

               
           

   
          
 

                 
               

      
           

          
      

 
     

 
                     

    
 

       
 

                   

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed 
a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under 
or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the 
benefit of; 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where; 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 

student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where; 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a 
civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or 
had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

37. Any housing benefit. 

38. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

39. - 40. not used 

41. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 128 Page 150



       	

        
 

    
 

                    
      

 
              

 
 

      
                

         
  

             
          

    
            

         
      

             
          

 
 

                  
             

            
              

 
                 

       
 

             
          

               
    

          
        

    
             

       
 

 
                

          
       

    
          

 
   
      
   
   
        
     

        
          

for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 

42. Not used 

43. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or section 80 of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax). 

44. Any payment made by any local authority or central government in respect of early years 
assistance. 

45. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment or repayment, mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1). 

46. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

47. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 
a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 

48. (1)Where an applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family premium, 
£15 of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court 
order or not, which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s former partner, or the 
applicant’s partner’s former partner. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to 
be taken into account in any week, all such payments such be aggregated and treated as if they 
were a single payment. 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance shall, for the purpose of 
sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-
paragraph (1). 

48A. (1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 
young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant’s family, 
except where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant’s partner. 
(2) In paragraph (1) 
‘child maintenance’ means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under; 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991; 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 
or the sheriff court books; 
‘liable relative’ means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 129 Page 151



       	

 
 

            
            
         
           
  
 

                  
         

     
 

     
 

                   
              

          
 

 
              

              
                 

            
 

                
           

            
        

 
                

        
           

 
     

            
      

              
         

           
           

      
             
        

      
 

               
 

              
          

      
 

    
 

                  
          

           
 

definition. 

49. Any payments made by the London Emergencies Trust” means the company of that name 
(number 09928465) incorporated on 23rd December 2015 and the registered charity of that 
name (number 1172307) established on 28th March 2017 or the We Love Manchester 
Emergency Fund” means the registered charity of that name (number 1173260) established on 
30th May 2017 

50. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

51. Any guardian’s allowance. 

52. (1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Parts 2, 3 or 5 of the Act, any increase 
in the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 
(unemployability supplement) of the Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase 
is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, 
Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase 
in the rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of 
whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

53. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence 
to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

54. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983(a) (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), 
the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

55 (1) Any payment which is 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or 
(b)surviving civil partner of a person; 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 
member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and equal 
to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘the Dispensing Instruments’ means the Order in Council of 19th December 
1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 
1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

55A. Any council tax reduction or council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 

56. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 16 of Schedule 3, where the 
applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that 
paragraph, any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10 

56A.–56B. Not used 

57. Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 
12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 130 Page 152



       	

           
         

            
 

                 
          

 
       

    
 

                
        

         
               
              

 
           

         
       

 
                  

       
         

 
               

          
 

 
              

   
 

                  
        

         
          

 
      

 
                  

     
 

       
 

            
 

                   
     

 
                 

         
           

           
          

  
  
 

 

58. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 
assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person– 

(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 
activity; 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out 
by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 

in respect of which such assistance is or was received. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall apply only in respect of payments, which are paid to that person 
from the special account 

59. (1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect 
of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing 
or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member 
of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which 
that applicant or member is liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in 
the sport in respect of which the award was made. 

60. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 
amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that 
reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

61. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

62. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 

63. (1)Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes, in England, a county council. 

64. Any Windrush compensation payment 

65. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments) 

66. Any payment of child benefit. 

67. Any transitional element paid as part of a Universal Credit award. 

68. Any bereavement support payment in respect of the rate set out in regulation 3(2) or (5) of the 
Bereavement Support Payment Regulations 2017. 

69. Any payment made under the Energy Rebate Scheme 2022 is to be disregarded in determining: 
(a)an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b)the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 
“The Energy Rebate Scheme 2022” means the scheme to provide financial support in respect of 
energy bills which was announced in Parliament by the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 3rd 
February 2022. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 131 Page 153



       	

  

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 132 Page 154



       	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

 
                   

 

Schedule 5 

Capital to be disregarded40 

40 Any amounts shown in this schedule will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as 
amended 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 133 Page 155



       	

 
      

          
        

         
        

 
 

                   
         

         
 

                  
               

            
           

 
                 

                 
            

 
 

                 
               

            
       

 
         

          
           

 
              

        
       

 
     

 
                  

       
 

                  
             

          
               

             
     
             

             
    

 
                 

                
             

 
 

             
         

1. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 
applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular 5, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling 
is situated; but, notwithstanding section 15 (calculation of income and capital of members of 
applicant’s family and of polygamous marriage), only one dwelling shall be disregarded under 
this paragraph. 

A2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to 
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but 
only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

A3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme 
or Back to Work Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment 
but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of payment. 

2. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant, which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

3. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 
applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part– 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his 
home where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision shall not 
apply where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or 
divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

5. -6. Not Used 
. 
7. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 

applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub- leases or sub-tenancies. 

8. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes 
of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where– 

(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 
or bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business; 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the claim for council tax reduction is 
made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged 
or re-engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable 
in the circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the 
assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 134 Page 156



       	

     
 

             
           

          
 

 
          

      
        
      
   
      

   
         
    

 
               

 
 

           
          

     
     

        
       

         
 

         
                

              
 

 
          

          
          

              
             

      
        
         

       
 

    
               

      
           

                
            

                
     

 
    

     
        
    

                  

activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

(3) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 
which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset. 

9. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of;
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 7, 9 or 10 of Schedule 4; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the Act; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary 
payment. 

(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or 
allowances amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph 
(3) as ‘the relevant sum’) and is 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 
regulation 1(2) of the Decisions and Appeals Regulations; and 
(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 

sub-paragraph (1) shall have effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety 
during the award of council tax reduction, for the remainder of that award if that is a longer 
period. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph(2),’the award of council tax reduction’ means– 
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof 
where it is paid in more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 
which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the applicant; 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s 
partner at the date of his death. 

10. Any sum 
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 

possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that 

it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, which is to 
be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it 
was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to 
effect the repairs, replacement or improvement. 

11. Any sum– 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 or section 338(1) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 as a 
condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 135 Page 157



       	

                
   

 
                

             
 

 
                 

   
 

                  
                  

    
 

              
           

 
   

        
         

          
 

             
    
             

        
        

               
 

 
          

    
 

                
 

             
       

 
          

 
                    

 
 

                  
         
          

    
 

           
                 

          
           
 

 
     
          
     

for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to 
enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

12. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 
intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to council tax reduction or to 
increase the amount of that support. 

13. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 

14. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the 
right to receive any payment under that trust. 

14A. (1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) 
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
applicant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that 
injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which 
the applicant no longer possesses it; 
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are 
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of 
it to purchase an asset. 

(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 

15. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 

16. The value of the right to receive any income, which is disregarded under paragraph 13 of 
Schedule 3 or paragraph 25 of Schedule 4. 

17. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

18. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 
any outstanding instalments. 

19. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

19A. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial 
assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on to the 
applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A; 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 136 Page 158



       	

       
 

              
 

                   
         

                
 

 
                 

 
 

                   
     

 
              

             
 

 
              

             
            

         
         

         
       

         
         

        
          

 
               

        
               

             
            
              

            
           
         

         
        

          
 

        
             

 
        

         
         
 

    
         

                 
           

 
               

(c) continues to live with the applicant. 

20. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the Act. 

21. Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan 
interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or 
improvements to the home. 

22. Any capital which, by virtue of sections 31 or 51 (capital treated as income, treatment of student 
loans) is to be treated as income. 

23. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

24. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Charitable 
Fund. 

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of 
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a 
civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had 
not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by 
any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of– 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where– 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child ,a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 137 Page 159



       	

  
 

               
          

   
              
          

           
      
    

         
               

           
  

        
 

                 
           
     

 
           

           
    

 
                

           
           

           
     

 
         

                 
        

     
 

                  
          

           
 

                    
         

         
               

         
    

 
                  

           
                
          

 
                

   
 

    
 

            

person’s death. 

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was 
or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either; 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, 
to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph 
is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under 
or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited the Skipton Fund , the 
Caxton Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

25. (1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 
home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, 
his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who 
is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

(2) In this paragraph ‘dwelling’ includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 
formerly occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is 
impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on 
which the dwelling is situated. 

26. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

27. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, 
or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession 
and commence occupation of those premises. 

28. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks 
from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or 
such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

29. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 

30. Not used 

31. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 138 Page 160



       	

 
          

 
               

 
 

                 
         

 
                     

          
   

 
    

 
                    

           
             

 
                  

           
      

 
      
         

   
                   

            
         

 
                

             
                  
         

 
       

         
         

  
           

        
    

           
      
      

              
             

              
               

 
 

                
          

        
                  

          
 

32. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme 

33. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest 
in the property in respect of which rent is due. 

34. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

35. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt 
of the payment. 

36. Not used. 

37. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or, as the case may 
be, section 80 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (reduction of liability for council tax), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

38. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988 
or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local 

housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be 
used– 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be 
completed and the applicant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 

39. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 53 of Schedule 4 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 54 or 55 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

40. (1) Any payment or repayment made– 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers 
or the Welsh Ministers, which is analogous to a payment, or repayment mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment or 
repayment. 

41. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or 
under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers 
or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 139 Page 161



       	

                
 

                
        

           
 

               
         

     
 

    
 

                
          
 

          
              
 

             
         

        
 

         
                  

             
                  

             
      

         
          
          

 
 

                   
              
       

         
         

    
 

                 
 

      
 

                 
               

           
             

 
                 

                
   

 
          

             
              

     

41A. Any payment made under Part 8A of the Act (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 

42. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 
scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for 
a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

43. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

44. Not used 

45. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
(Employment) Act 1958 to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 

46. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant satisfies the conditions in section 131(3) 
and (6) of the Act (entitlement to alternative maximum council tax reduction), the whole of his 
capital. 
(2) Where in addition to satisfying the conditions in section 131(3) and (6) of the Act the 
applicant also satisfies the conditions in section 131(4) and (5) of the Act (entitlement to the 
maximum council tax reduction), sub-paragraph (1) shall not have effect. 

47. (1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and 
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 
under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by 
order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from; 
(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 
is under the age of 18. 

48. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 
section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from 
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under 

the age of 18. 

49. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 

50. Any Windrush compensation payment 

51. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-
employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of 
establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was 
received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 

52. (1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 
payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 140 Page 162



       	

 
            
             

     
 

   
           

         
          
           

          
       

           
             

        
        

 
               

  
            

          
           

         
         

                
             

 
 

          
          

              
 

               
      

 
           

         
   
   
       
       

 
     

 
             

    
   
        

        
          

         
  

           
              

      
         

         

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) ‘food’ does not include vitamins, minerals or other 
special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in 
respect of which the award was made. 

53. (1) Any payment; 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to– 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to; 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and 
National Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education 
or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act ; 

or in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002. 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to; 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

54. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

55. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks 
from the date of receipt of the payment. 

56. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of– 

(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant’s partner; 
(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 

by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 

57. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or 
a member of an applicant’s family who is 

(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s 
death; or 

(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person 
who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at 
the date of the diagnosed person’s death. 

(2) Where a trust payment is made to; 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 141 Page 163



       	

         
    

    
               

     
    
             

 
      

          
     
      

    
           

             
          

   
        

         
           

         
   

         
       

        
         
     

             
    
               

    
    
            
  

    
              

 
       
  
       
        

     
   

     
      
      

         
           

            
 
              

        
    

           
             

            
       

apply for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made 
and ending on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending two years after that date; 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending– 
(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person– 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s 
family who is– 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed 
person’s partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed 
person’s parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death; or 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a 
person who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his 
partner) at the date of the diagnosed person’s death, 
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of 
any trust payments made to that person. 

(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to– 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
two years after that date; or 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and 
ending– 

(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person 

(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 

whichever is the latest. 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person– 

(a)being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
(b)being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 

(6) In this paragraph– ‘diagnosed person’ means a person who has been diagnosed as 
suffering from, or who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, 
variant Creutzfeld- Jakob disease; 
‘relevant trust’ means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
‘trust payment’ means a payment under a relevant trust. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 142 Page 164



       	

 
              

           
      

           
        
           

   
 

                    
              

         
 

        
 

               
              

         
 

              
     

 
                

       
 

                 
     

 
                   

     
 

                 
         
           

           
          

  
  
 
 
 

58. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or 
the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner 

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, 

during the Second World War. 

59 (1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service, which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity 
of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ‘local authority’ includes in England a county council. 

60. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under section 12A to 12D 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

61. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

62. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 
14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 

63. Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments) 

64. Any bereavement support payment in respect of the rate set out in regulation 3(2) or (5) of the 
Bereavement Support Payment Regulations 2017. 

65. Any payment made under the Energy Rebate Scheme 2022 is to be disregarded in determining: 
(a)an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme; or 
(b)the amount of any reduction to which the applicant is entitled. 
“The Energy Rebate Scheme 2022” means the scheme to provide financial support in respect of 
energy bills which was announced in Parliament by the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 3rd 
February 2022. 

Torbay Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 143 Page 165



 

 

Record of Decisions 
 

Torbay Economic Strategy 2022-2030 
 

Decision Taker 
 
Cabinet on 15 November 2022. 
 
Decision 
 
That the Cabinet recommends to Council 

 
1 That the Torbay Economic Growth Strategy be approved; and 
 
2  That subject to 1 above the Torbay Economic Growth Strategy Action Plan be presented 

to a subsequent Cabinet meeting for approval. 
 
Reason for the Decision 
 
The Torbay Economic Growth Strategy underpins the Council’s focus on delivering its 
corporate priorities and better outcomes for the community with a longer-term plan to address 
key issues and opportunities and build upon recent successes. 
 
Implementation 
 
The recommendation of the Cabinet will be considered at the Council meeting on 8 December 
2022. 
 
Information 
 
The Torbay Economic Growth Strategy 2022 - 2030 provides strategic direction for Torbay 
Council and its partners responsible for championing Torbay and delivering, with its 
communities, the economic development of the place. 
 
At the meeting, Councillor Long proposed and Councillor Cowell seconded a motion that was 
agreed unanimously by the Cabinet, as set out above. 
 
Alternative Options considered and rejected at the time of the decision 
 
An alternative option would have been to continue with the existing strategy, this is no longer 
appropriate as it was developed as a response to the Covid-19 Pandemic. 
 
Is this a Key Decision? 
 
Yes  
 
Does the call-in procedure apply? 
 
No 
 
Declarations of interest (including details of any relevant dispensations issued by the 
Standards Committee) 
 

Page 166

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

None. 
 
Published 
 
18 November 2022 
 

 
 
Signed: _________________________________________ Date:  _______________ 
 Leader of Torbay Council on behalf of the Cabinet 
 

Page 167



 

Meeting: Cabinet   Date:  15th November 2022 

Wards affected:  All wards  

Report Title:  Torbay Economic Growth Strategy  

When does the decision need to be implemented? 15th November 2022  

Cabinet Member Contact Details:  Cllr Swithin Long, Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Tourism 

& Housing, swithin.long@torbay.gov.uk  

Director/Divisional Director Contact Details:  Alan Denby, Divisional Director of Economy, 

Environment & Infrastructure, alan.denby@torbay.gov.uk  

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report introduces the draft Economic Growth Strategy 2030 which provides direction 

for Torbay Council and its partners responsible for championing Torbay and delivering, with 

its communities, in respect of the economic development of the place.  

1.2 Torbay Council, through TDA, has been delivering the Economic Repositioning Plan for 2 

years. The Plan was developed in response to the Covid 19 Pandemic and whilst several 

actions remain relevant, the challenges facing the economy are now more pronounced. As 

a result, a new Strategy is required that will address these challenges, build upon our 

successes, and drive Torbay’s economy forward. 

1.3 The extent of the challenges facing Torbay’s economy set out a compelling argument for 

economic growth to be the strategic priority for the Council in the coming years given the 

risk that a failing economy presents for education, health and other outcomes. Ensuring that 

there are resources to deliver the subsequent action plan at a time of likely spending 

restrictions on Councils will be difficult notwithstanding the significant capital funding that 

has been secured in the past two years and which will catalyse town centre change. 

 

1.4 Like the preceding Economic Strategies, this new Strategy is evidence led. To support this, 

a revised Evidence Base document has been developed that will inform the new strategy 

(see appendix 1).  

 

1.5 Recognising the complexity of the issues leading to slower growth, and ultimately resulting 

in poorer outcomes and experiences for the community, this report recommends that the 

strategy set an ambition for the longer term, to 2030. This longer time frame, with a clear 

vision that communities and partners can endorse and support, is underpinned by shorter 

 

 

Page 168

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1

mailto:swithin.long@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:alan.denby@torbay.gov.uk


 

 

term actions and indicators that are subject to review at a period to be determined by 

Cabinet.   

 

1.6 Torbay’s economy continues to fall behind the UK average. This new Economic Growth 

Strategy sets the framework and key actions required to transform our economy. 

Maintaining the status quo will simply see the local economy fall further behind deepening 

the health and social challenges in the community. If we are to transform Torbay’s 

economy, help turn the tide on poverty and positively impact upon our community’s heath, 

wellbeing and pride in place, we will need committed and increased resources.   

Current Position 

1.7 Deyton Bell, an economic development consultancy, has undertaken a review of the 

evidence base (appended) and national policy. They have also consulted with key 

stakeholders and businesses across Torbay. This included one-to-one meetings, a 

questionnaire which returned over 50 responses, and attendance at pre-arranged group 

meetings, such as the Torbay Hi Tech Cluster and Torbay Business Forum. Deyton Bell 

have now produced the the final Economic Growth Strategy and are assisting with the 

development of theaction plan which will be presented to a subsequent meeting of the 

Cabinet upon approval of the Economic Growth Strategy.  

1.8 The Strategy identifies 4 priority areas through which we can make the necessary 

interventions to support the local economy and its businesses. These priorities will be 

underpinned by an action plan which sets out the initiatives that will enable growth across 

Torbay.  

The proposed priorities are: 

 Supporting innovators, entrepreneurs and business owners  

 

We will work with local business networks and key businesses to ensure that the Torbay 

economy is successful. We will welcome entrepreneurs, innovators and social enterprises 

and will develop programmes and projects that will ensure that the economy offers the 

conditions for businesses to thrive.  

 

 Building on our economic specialisms 

 

Our key sectors play a key role in delivering growth and providing employment opportunities 

for Torbay residents. This strategy is seeking to build on the foundations which are already 

in place around our photonics and micro-electronics, tourism and fishing industries. The 

strategy also identifies other sectors worth exploring that include medical technology and 

creative industries. These sectors will provide important employment and growth that will 

underpin improvements in the Torbay economy. 

 

Page 169



 

 

 Helping our community and residents to reach their economic potential and build an 

inclusive economy 

 

At the heart of the Council’s Corporate Strategy and Community Plan and this Economic 

Growth Strategy are the people of Torbay. We will work with residents and businesses to 

create the social prosperity that allows everyone to live and contribute well and turn the tide 

on poverty. 

 Maximising economic value of natural capital 

 

Torbay is home to varied natural assets, its outstanding marine and natural experience is as 

important for attracting, re-training and growing leading edge tech businesses as it is for 

bringing visitors to the area and being a place where people want to live. The geography of 

Torbay shapes our economy to a considerable extent. 

 

1.9 In addition to the priority areas, the Strategy will contribute to tackling the Climate 

Emergency. The subsequent action plan will set out the actions required to take forward our 

priorities. This will also be accompanied by a monitoring and evaluation plan to enable 

effective monitoring. 

1.10 Being able to determine what difference the Strategy is making will be fundamental to its 

success. Whilst all actions will have relevant key performance indicators, there are a series 

of key outcomes that the Strategy aims to deliver on. These are:  

 Creating more full-time job opportunities for Torbay residents and provide good work 

for all  

 Reducing our impact on, and increasing resilience to Climate Change 

 Increased Gross Value Added (GVA) per worker, average worker income and 

productivity – addressing our current position of one of the areas with the lowest 

GVA per capita in England 

 Improvement in educational attainment and workforce skills– increasing the number 

of residents qualified to deliver the jobs needed by local business 

1.11 With sustained increases in each of these measures during the life of the Economic Growth 

Strategy, Torbay will improve its resilience and improve its economic diversity. This will 

assist in weathering future global economic trends and market cycles, aiding recovery from 

economic downturns. Improvements will assist Torbay in being agile enough to adapt to 

changing technologies and importantly, provide benefit to all residents. The Economic 

Growth Strategy sets out the basepoint and future targets which the delivery of the strategy 

will be measured against.  

Page 170



 

 

2. Reason for Proposal and its benefits 

2.1 We want Torbay and its residents to thrive. 

2.2 We want Torbay to be a place where we have turned the tide on poverty and tackled 

inequalities; where our children and older people will have high aspirations and where there 

are quality jobs, good pay and affordable housing for our residents. 

2.3 We want Torbay to be the premier resort in the UK, with a vibrant arts and cultural offer for 

our residents and visitors to enjoy; where our built and natural environment is celebrated 

and where we play our part in addressing the climate change emergency. 

2.4 The Economic Strategy is fundamental to delivery of the thriving economy theme of the 

Community Plan. The Economic Strategy will support the Council’s place shaping ambitions 

recognising that economic success is a key determinant of other outcomes by enabling the 

conditions for job creation; helping people develop skills to find work or better work and the 

activities through the strategy will support turning the tide on poverty and improve health 

and wellbeing; in creating a positive environment for businesses to grow or relocate and 

deliver regeneration schemes enabling investment and reinvestment that increases the 

value of the local economy which in turn will help sustain or grow Council incomes. 

Successful delivery and a sustained focus on the Economic Strategy will drive the 

economic health of Torbay. 

2.5 This work will result in an Economic Strategy that will underpin the Council’s focus on 

delivering its corporate priorities and better outcomes for the community with a longer-term 

plan to address key issues and opportunities and build upon recent successes. Alongside 

the strategy there will be a SMART action plan, a monitoring & evaluation plan with key 

performance indicators to enable effective delivering of the strategy. 

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 

That the Cabinet recommends to Council 

3.1 That the Torbay Economic Growth Strategy be approved; and 

 

3.2  That subject to 3.1 above the Torbay Economic Growth Strategy Action Plan be presented 

to a subsequent Cabinet meeting for approval. 

  

Page 171



 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Supporting Evidence Base 

Appendix 2:  Draft Economic Strategy 

 

Background Documents  

Supporting Information 

 

1. Introduction 

Background 

1.1  In January 2022, TDA issued a commissioning brief for the development of a new Torbay 

Economic Strategy 2022-2030. We received five proposals which were reviewed for quality, 

price, and deliverability as set out in the brief. Deyton Bell Limited were appointed to 

support with this work. 

1.1 Deyton Bell Ltd have been commissioned to deliver the following: 

 An Economic Strategy and Action Plan 

 A Monitoring and Evaluation Plan 

 A plan on a page 
 

1.2 Deyton Bell have delivered this work in 5 key phases: 

Phase 1 - Contract mobilisation 

Phase 2 – Review of data/information 

Phase 3 – Stakeholder engagement 

Phase 4 – Draft Economic Strategy 

Phase 5 – Final Economic Strategy 

 

  

 

Evidence Base 

1.3 To support the development of the Economic Strategy, TDA has developed a supporting 

Evidence Base (see appendix 1). The Evidence Base will help shape, inform the Strategy, 

Page 172



 

 

and provide an update on the local economic picture, highlighting emerging issues and 

opportunities, and secure a better understanding of Torbay’s economic performance and 

drivers of growth. A few notable points to highlight: 

 

 Torbay is home to circa 136,218 people, nearly half of which (49.4%) are aged 50 or 

over. The lowest representation comes from ages 16 to 24, accounting for around 8%. 

 Torbay’s workforce has decreased 2.1% from 2015 to 2020. 

 Torbay deprivation is worsening with 27.4% of the population living in the country’s most 

deprived areas.  

 Torbay continues to have high level of part time work in comparison to regional and 

national averages. 

 9% of residents have no qualifications, 29.4% are classified as graduates but this figure 

is notably lower than regional and national averages. Torbay now falls behind regional 

and national average across all NVQ levels. 

 Photonics and microelectronics sector continues to grow, creating high skilled jobs for 

local people. GVA in this sector is twice the Torbay average. 

 Torbay’s fishing industry remains important, landing circa £31M value of fish, supporting 

499 jobs.  

 Superfast broadband is available across 95.3% of the area. 

 In 2021 the unemployment rate was 2.3% the lowest it has been for five years. Long 

term unemployed and youth unemployment figures are falling. 

 Vacancy rates are at the highest level for 5 years and significantly exceed the number of 

people looking for work. 

 There is a mismatch between the skills employers need and the skills employees offer. 

 Collective performance of Torbay’s schools has improved since 2019 however the 

attainment gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils has grown. 

Consultation 

1.4 Deyton Bell set out a consultation process with key stakeholders covering; key business, 

economic and political stakeholders, and those identified by TDA, including: 

 

• Local Authority members and officers 

• Jobs, skills, education and skills contacts including Department for Work and Pensions 

• Industry/commerce contacts including representatives from key infrastructure projects 

• Business representative networks/membership groups, Destination Management   

  Organisation 

• Business support organisations (HM Government agencies, Enterprise agencies, BIDS) 

• County Council and Local Enterprise Partnership colleagues/partners Page 173



 

 

 

A contact list was compiled for a combination of survey, phone, video and face to face 

interactions that along with the content and form of all stakeholder communications was 

agreed with TDA on behalf the Council. 

 

An on-line survey of all stakeholders was sent to a list of agreed key stakeholders. 

Deyton Bell conducted meetings on a 1-2-1 or 1-2-many basis as appropriate/needed and 

attended pre-arranged meetings where stakeholders had already planned to come 

together. 

 

1.5 The consultation survey was sent to 105 key stakeholders, and we received over 50 

responses. This included representatives of sector and business groups to cascade to their 

members (e.g., chambers, business forum, hi tech cluster, tourism bid levy payers). Deyton 

Bell also attended meetings of the place group, with Torbay aftercare companies and the 

Torbay hi tech cluster. One-to-one meetings with over 20 key contacts were also 

undertaken. 

Public consultation findings 

1.6 The public consultation ran from w/c 18th July through to October 2nd has provided the 

following  

 

There were over 1,100 visits to the consultation on Engagement HQ  

 

Of these visits, 814 visited at least one page on the Economic Growth Strategy consultation 

pages, 310 visited more than one page.  

 

468 visitors took the next step and became more ‘informed’.  

 310 visited multiple pages  

 210 downloaded a document  

 164 took part in the survey – to note, there were 173 submissions by 164 contributors  

 11 visitors viewed the key dates 19 times  

 

353 downloads of a document were made by 210 visitors:  

 the draft strategy was downloaded 189 times  

 the draft action plan 113 times  

 the evidence base 51 times  

 

 

 

1.7 Several free form comments were made in the public consultation. These include 

 

 Strengthening the commitment to net zero and carbon reduction 

Page 174



 

 

 The need for more affordable housing 

 Key area of challenge has been around the sectors with only 54% of respondents 

agreed with them.  

 There was challenge around the importance and need to support both the 

fishing and tourism sectors, with a number of views suggesting we shouldn’t 

be supporting these sectors.  

 Comments were also received on the need to strengthen opportunities around 

health.  

 Research undertaken by University of Exeter into the Creative Industries 

indicates there is an opportunity here to be further explored citing sector 

opportunities in coastal areas 

 

1.8 Comments from Overview and Scrutiny committee were as follows 

 

 that the Strategy includes SMART (Specific, Measurable, Aspirational, Realistic and 

Timely) targets with achievable milestones to enable Members to clearly monitor the 

progress made in delivering the key objectives of the Strategy; 

 to include reference to the risks associated with Freeports and that this has been 

consciously considered; 

 to include clearer signposting references to other key Council policies and strategies 

and to ensure that all strategies are cross referenced and complement each other 

(e.g., Housing Strategy, Local Plan, Parking Strategy etc).; and 

 that the continued relationships and partnership working with the three Chambers of 

Trade and Commerce and Torbay Business Forum be highlighted within the 

Strategy. 

 
 
 

 that the Strategy includes SMART (Specific, Measurable, Aspirational, Realistic and Timely) targets 
with achievable milestones to enable Members to clearly monitor the progress made in delivering the 
key objectives of the Strategy; 
 

 to include reference to the risks associated with Freeports and that this has been consciously 
considered; 
 

 to include clearer signposting references to other key Council policies and strategies and to ensure 
that all strategies are cross referenced and complement each other (e.g., Housing Strategy, Local 
Plan, Parking Strategy etc).; and 
 

 that the continued relationships and partnership working with the three Chambers of Trade and 
Commerce and Torbay Business Forum be highlighted within the Strategy. 
 

Page 175



 

 

2. Options under consideration 

2.1 Continue with the existing strategy, this is no longer appropriate as it was developed as a 

response to the pandemic. 

2.2 Approve the draft Economic Growth Strategy. 

3. Financial Opportunities and Implications 

3.1 It is expected that there will be both opportunities and implications. The Economic Growth 

Strategy and subsequent Action Plan will also inform the Council’s bidding priorities to 

funding programmes. The UKSPF is a key government fund that can enable delivery of 

primarily revenue elements of the Economic Growth Strategy and subsequent Action Plan 

and therefore has been used as the driver of the Investment Plan required to secure 

UKSPF funding. However, the UKSPF allocation for Torbay over 3 years was only £1.76M. 

3.2 The extent of the issues facing the local economy and delivery of the subsequent Action 

Plan will require a commitment of existing resources and will require additional resources 

over and above that currently available for delivery. Where possible, other funding sources 

will be sought. 

3.3 There are severe implications of a continued or even more pronounced economic failure. 

The level of skills and ageing workforce risk relocation of higher value businesses, the 

ageing visitor demographic threatens the prominence of the visitor economy and the direct 

and indirect income that brings. The level of skills and level of employment has impacts on 

deprivation along with education, health and other outcomes that ultimately will present 

back to the authority and the wider public sector as costs. If we experience reduced 

business rates, fewer visitors, worsening health outcomes and a narrower tax base, then 

the issues we currently have will be exacerbated. 

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 There are no legal implications with this proposal. 

5. Engagement and Consultation 

5.1  The development of the Economic Growth Strategy involved engagement with key 

stakeholders and businesses across Torbay using a variety of methods including; online 

meetings, pre-arranged group meetings, one-to-one meetings and a survey to shape the 

strategy development. 

5.2 The Council held a public consultation that ran from 13th July 2022 to 2nd October 2022. Key 

findings are set out earlier in the report. The relevant findings have informed the draft 

Economic Growth Strategy and will inform the subsequent Action Plan. 

Page 176



 

 

6. Purchasing or Hiring of Goods and/or Services 

6.1 We developed a brief, set a budget and sought proposals from six suppliers to support with 

the strategy development work. We received five proposals. 

6.2 We reviewed each proposal against the brief, including value for money. 

6.3 We appointed a supplier to support the development and drafting of the strategy. 

7. Tackling Climate Change 

7.1 We have engaged with Torbay Council’s Climate Emergency Officer who has provided 

input into the development of this Strategy.  

8. Associated Risks 

8.1 The adoption of the Torbay Economic Growth Strategy 2022 – 2030 is fundamental in 

ensuring the Council can set the framework for developing Torbay’s economy. 

8.2 The evidence base is indicating that Torbay is facing new challenges and the current 

repositioning plan is not addressing these issues. Moreover, the extent of the challenges 

suggests that there is a compelling argument for economic growth to be the strategic 

priority for the Council in the coming years given the risk that a failing economy presents for 

education, health and other outcomes. 

9. Equality Impacts - Identify the potential positive and negative 

impacts on specific groups 

 Positive Impact Negative Impact & 
Mitigating Actions 

Neutral Impact 

Older or younger 
people 

There will be skills 
focus within the 
strategy setting out 
how we can best 
support the aspirations 
of our younger people. 

  

People with caring 
Responsibilities 

  No differential 
impact. 

People with a disability   No differential 
impact. 

Women or men   No differential 
impact. 

Page 177



 

 

People who are Black 
or from a minority ethnic 
background (BME) 
(Please note Gypsies / 
Roma are within this 
community) 

A report has been 
commissioned to 
provide a high 
summary of the issues 
that face Black and 
minority ethnic owned 
businesses and people 
from those 
communities who 
aspire to start their own 
businesses. This will 
inform the strategy 
development. 

  

Religion or belief 
(including lack of belief) 

  No differential 
impact. 

People who are lesbian, 
gay or bisexual 

  No differential 
impact. 

People who are 
transgender 

  No differential 
impact. 

People who are in a 
marriage or civil 
partnership 

  No differential 
impact. 

Women who are 
pregnant / on maternity 
leave 

  No differential 
impact. 

Socio-economic 
impacts (Including 
impact on child poverty 
issues and deprivation) 

The plan will seek to 
create new job 
opportunities for 
residents that will 
improve the quality of 
life for them and their 
families. 

  

Public Health impacts 
(How will your proposal 
impact on the general 
health of the population 
of Torbay) 

Providing increased 
employment 
opportunities can take 
households from 
‘workless’ to working. 
This can provide 
additional income for 
families to support a 
healthier lifestyle.  

  

10. Cumulative Council Impact 

10.1 None. 

Page 178



 

 

11. Cumulative Community Impacts 

11.1 None.  

Page 179



 

 

  

 

 

Torbay Economic Strategy 2022 - 2030 

Evidence Base 2022 

P
age 180

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix 2



 

2 

Contents 

1. Purpose .....................................................................................8 

1.1 Introduction ...........................................................................8 

1.2 Comparators .........................................................................8 

2. Executive Summary ..................................................................9 

Growth and Economy .................................................................9 

Key Sectors ................................................................................9 

Infrastructure ...............................................................................9 

People ....................................................................................... 10 

Employment and Skills.............................................................. 10 

Workforce ................................................................................. 11 

3. Growth and economy ............................................................. 13 

3.1. Productivity ......................................................................... 13 

3.2. Gross disposable household income .................................. 15 

3.3. Summary ............................................................................ 15 

4. Key sectors ............................................................................. 16 

4.1. Fishing ................................................................................ 16 

4.2. Tourism ............................................................................... 16 

4.3. Hi-tech sector ...................................................................... 17 

4.4. Summary ............................................................................ 18 

5. Infrastructure .......................................................................... 19 

5.1. Digital infrastructure ............................................................ 19 

5.2. Connectivity ........................................................................ 19 

5.3. Employment space............................................................. 20 

5.4. Summary ............................................................................ 22 

6. Business and innovation ....................................................... 23 

6.1. Business demographics ..................................................... 23 

6.2. High growth businesses ..................................................... 25 

6.3. Summary ............................................................................ 26 

7. People ..................................................................................... 27 

7.1. Population by age structure and sex .................................. 27 

7.2. Population and projections ................................................. 28 

7.3. Number of households ....................................................... 29 

7.4. Deprivation ......................................................................... 29 

7.5. Diversity ............................................................................. 30 

7.6. Summary ............................................................................ 31 

8. Employment and skills .......................................................... 32 

8.1. Employment & unemployment rates .................................. 32 

8.2. Claimant count ................................................................... 33 

8.3. Job seekers allowance ....................................................... 34 

8.4. Long term unemployed ...................................................... 35 

8.5. NEET Data ......................................................................... 36 

8.6. Employment by sector ........................................................ 36 

8.7. Change in jobs ................................................................... 37 

8.8. Apprenticeships ................................................................. 38 

8.9. Vacancies .......................................................................... 38 

4.10 Summary ............................................................................. 41 

P
age 181



 

3 

9. Workforce ................................................................................ 42 

9.1. Working age population ...................................................... 42 

9.2. Distribution of full-time and part-time workers ..................... 43 

9.3. Qualification levels .............................................................. 43 

9.4. School performance ............................................................ 44 

9.5. Graduates in the workforce ................................................. 46 

9.6. Earnings .............................................................................. 47 

9.7. Flows of labour ................................................................... 49 

9.8. Summary ............................................................................ 50 

10. Environment ........................................................................ 52 

10.1. Carbon Dioxide Emissions ................................................. 52 

11. Appendix 1: Comparators .................................................. 53 

 

 

  

P
age 182



 

4 

List of Figures 

Figure 1: GVA per head, per hour, per job filled indices (2010 – 2019)................................................................................................................................ 13 

Figure 2: GVA by sectors (2009, 2014, and 2019) .................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

Figure 3: Gross disposable household income (GDHI) (2010 – 2019) ....................................................................................................................................... 15 

Figure 4: Volume, value, and employment in Torbay’s fishing sector (2008 – 2020) .................................................................................................................. 16 

Figure 5: Staying visitor, day visitor, and total visitor numbers in Torbay (2005 – 2020) ............................................................................................................ 16 

Figure 6: GVA per employee in Torbay’s photonics and microelectronics sector (2015 – 2019) ................................................................................................ 17 

Figure 7: Average number of key service destinations accessible to users within 45 minutes of public transport or walking (2017) .......................................... 19 

Figure 8: Location of major industrial and business parks across Torbay (2021) ....................................................................................................................... 20 

Figure 9: Business births and deaths (2020) .............................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Figure 10: Business survival rate (2019) .................................................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Figure 11: Number and value of innovation and research grants across Torbay’s fast growing companies (2012 – 2022) ........................................................ 25 

Figure 12: Population estimates by age and sex (2020) ............................................................................................................................................................ 27 

Figure 13: Change in population by age (2010 – 2020) ......................................................................................................................................................... 28 

Figure 14: Population projections by year and age (2020 – 2030) ............................................................................................................................................. 29 

Figure 15: Households by combined economic activity status (2021) ................................................................................................................................ 29 

Figure 16: Employment rates (2016 – 2021) ........................................................................................................................................................................... 32 

Figure 17: Unemployment rates (2016 – 2021) .......................................................................................................................................................................... 32 

Figure 18: Claimant count (2017 – 2021) ................................................................................................................................................................................... 33 

Figure 19: Job seekers allowance (2017 – 2021)....................................................................................................................................................................... 34 

Figure 20: Long term unemployed (2017 – 2021) ...................................................................................................................................................................... 35 

Figure 21: Employment by sector in Torbay (2015 and 2020) .................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Figure 22:  Percentage change in Torbay’s employment by sector ..................................................................................................................................... 38 

Figure 23: Vacancy levels Torbay (2017 – 2021) ....................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Figure 24: Top Hard Skills (2017-2021) ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 39 

Figure 25: Top Soft Skills (2017-2021) ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Figure 26: Proportion of working age population by qualification (2020) ........................................................................................................................... 44 

Figure 27: Attainment gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils ................................................................................................................... 44 

Figure 28: Gatsby Benchmark average scores across Torbay ................................................................................................................................................... 45 

Figure 29: Proportion of Torbay schools/colleges at 100% for each benchmark ........................................................................................................................ 46 

Figure 30: Percentage of working age population with NVQ4+ .................................................................................................................................................. 46 

Figure 31: Average weekly workplace earnings between male and female (2015 – 2021) ......................................................................................................... 48 

Figure 32: CO2 emissions in Torbay by category (2009 – 2019) ............................................................................................................................................... 52 

P
age 183



 

5 

 List of Tables 

Table 1: Broadband coverage and speeds in Torbay (2020) ..................................................................................................................................................... 19 

Table 2: Summary of Torbay’s commercial space (2020) .......................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Table 3: Resident population in top 20% most deprived areas (2004 – 2019) ............................................................................................................................ 29 

Table 4: Claimant count by sex .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 34 

Table 5: Proportion of full-time and part-time workers (2021) .................................................................................................................................................... 43 

Table 6: Local authority schools rankings (2017 – 2019) ........................................................................................................................................................... 44 

Table 7: Average full-time gross weekly wages (2015 – 2021) .................................................................................................................................................. 47 

Table 8: Inflows and outflows of labour in Torbay (2011) ........................................................................................................................................................... 49 

Table 9: Comparison indicators ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 53 

 

 

P
age 184



 

6 

P
age 185



 

7 

  

This document can be made available in other languages and formats. For more information, please contact 

**insert your team email or phone no. here** 

P
age 186

mailto:hrpolicy@torbay.gov.uk


 

8 

1. Purpose 

1.1 Introduction 

TDA on behalf of Torbay Council is developing its revised Torbay Economic Strategy. The Strategy will provide the framework for the future long-

term sustainable economic growth. 

 

The starting point for developing the new Strategy is to undertake a review of the existing Evidence Base. The Evidence Base will help shape 

and inform the Strategy and provide an update on the local economic picture, highlighting emerging issues and opportunities, identify gaps in the 

data, and secure a better understanding of Torbay’s economic performance and drivers of growth. 

 

The revision of the Evidence Base draws upon the latest data to provide a robust foundation and sound understanding on changing 

circumstances to inform Torbay’s economic policies. These policies and actions will form the backbone of the revised Economic Strategy. 

1.2 Comparators 

To provide a benchmark for Torbay, key data is included on four comparator locations to help indicate in which areas Torbay is performing/ 

under-performing to provide context on some of the local issues. 

  

The following Local Authorities have been chosen due to their coastal locations and similar socio-economic challenges. These are: 

 Darlington 

 Redcar and Cleveland 

 Blackpool 

 Isle of Wight

P
age 187



 

9 

2. Executive Summary 

Growth and Economy 

 Torbay’s total economic output in 2019 was worth £1.98Bn. 

 Sectors generating the greatest proportion of output are; real estate activities, human health and social work activities, wholesale and 

retail trade, repair of motor vehicles, education, and accommodation and food service activities. 

 The productivity gap in Torbay is continuing to widen. In 2019 GVA per hour worked was 69.4% of the UK average, while GVA per job 

filled and GVA per head are 62.6% and 49.4% respectively. 

 The gap in Torbay’s Gross Disposable Household Income is continuing to widen. In 2019 it was 87.2% of the UK average, down from 

90.0% in 2008. 

Key Sectors 

 In 2020, Torbay’s fishing industry landed around 11.7 tonnes, the approximate value of £31.0M and supported 499 jobs. 

 In 2020, over 2,240,100 tourists visited Torbay – a decline of over 50.7% compared to 2019. 

 GVA per worker in the photonics and microelectronics sector has increased 37.0% from £72,973 in 2015 to £100,000 in 2019. 

Infrastructure 

 Superfast broadband is available across 95.3% of Torbay compared to 95% nationally and 92.2% regionally. 

 7 out of 8 key services are accessible in Torbay within 45 mins or less via public transport and walking. 

 The highest rates of unoccupied employment space across Torbay are in retail, followed by office, industrial, and leisure space. 

Business and Innovation 

 In 2020, there were 4,485 active businesses across Torbay, with 520 new businesses starting up and around 415 closing down. 

P
age 188



 

10 

 Business survival rates in Torbay falls behind the regional average but remain in line with the national average until the fifth year when 

they fall 1.4 percentage points below the UK average. 

 There are 45 fast growing businesses employing approximately 2,680 people mainly in manufacturing and engineering, and other 

business and professional services for businesses, mostly linked to eHealth and preventive care sectors. 

People 

 Torbay has a population of 136,218 people – nearly half of which (49.4%) are aged 50 or over. 

 Over the past 10 years, there has been a decline in the proportion of the population aged 49 and under, and equally a greater increase in 

the proportion of the population aged 50 and above. 

 By 2030, Torbay’s population is projected to grow by 5.3% reaching 145,120; with those aged 64 and above expected to account for 

31.2% of the population. 

 18.7% of Torbay households are classed as ‘workless’.  

 In 2019, over 27.4% of Torbay’s population were classed as living in the bottom 20% of the most deprived areas in England. 

 In comparison to the UK average, Torbay has low rates of ethnic diversity, accounting for around 3.0% of the population. 

Employment and Skills 

 Over the past five years, the number of jobs in Torbay has decreased by 3.0% to 48,000. 

 Between 2020 and 2021, Torbay’s employment rate increased from 72.5% to 77%. 

 In 2021, Torbay’s unemployment rate was 2.3% - the lowest it has been for five years. 

 At the end of 2021, Torbay’s long-term unemployment figure stood at 160, significantly lower than 465, five years ago. 

 4.5% of Torbay’s 16- to 17-year-olds are not in education, employment, or training (NEET) compared to 5.5% across the UK. 

 Since its peak in August 2020, Torbay’s claimant count has fallen by 47% to 3,175. 

 The number of job seekers in Torbay has been on a downward trend for the past five years and is currently 234. 

P
age 189



 

11 

 The top employment sectors have remained unchanged and include health, accommodation & food services, retail, education, and 

business administration & support services. 

 Over the past five years, Torbay has seen significant employment growth in business administration & support services, information & 

communication, public administration & defence, and manufacturing. 

 Vacancy rates are at their highest level for five years. The top recruiting occupations are nurses, care workers, chefs, sales and retail 

assistants, van drivers, and primary and nursery roles. 

Workforce 

 Over the past five years, there has been a 1.9% decrease in the total working age population, falling to 58,500. 

 The workforce in Torbay has decreased by 2.1% since 2015 to 46,500 in 2020. 

 Full-time jobs account for 58.1% of all employment, compared to part-time jobs accounting for 41.9% of employment. This is far higher 

than the regional and national average. 

 9% of the working age population in Torbay have no qualifications, an increase from 6.2% in 2017 and is significantly higher than the 

regional and national averages. 

 29% of the working age population in Torbay have NVQ4+, some way behind the SW and UK, at 40.4% and 43% respectively. 

 In fact, Torbay falls behind the national and regional percentages across NVQ1+ right through to NVQ4 

 Over the past three years, the collective performances of Torbay’s schools have progressed from below average to above the English 

average in 2019. 

 Average Torbay wages have increased by 30% since 2015, to around £412.70 per week, however, remain far below the national and 

regional averages. 

 Higher earners tend to reside in Torbay but work outside of the area, a theme which also occurs across the comparative areas.  

 The overall net migration taken from labour flow out of Torbay and Labour flow into Torbay has increased since 2011. 

Environment 

P
age 190



 

12 

 In 2019 Torbay produced 424.1 tonnes of CO2 equating to 3.1 tonnes per person compared to 4.6 tonnes across the region

P
age 191



 

13 

3. Growth and economy  

3.1. Productivity 

Torbay’s total economic output in 2019 was £1.98Bn with the sectors representing the most significant proportion of output (GVA) being: 

1. Real estate activities       19.6% 
2. Human health and social work activities    15.3% 
3. Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles   12.4% 
4. Education         9.3% 
5. Accommodation and food service activities    7.9% 

 

Figure 1: GVA per head, per hour, per job filled indices (2010 – 2019) 

Productivity performance in Torbay has continued to fall behind the 

UK on all three measures.  It has been on a steady continual 

decline for the past decade. In 2019, the economic output (GVA) 

per hour in Torbay was 69.4% of the UK average, with GVA per 

job at 62.6% of the UK average and GVA per head at 49.4% 

respectively. The difference in the figures can be attributed to the 

higher-than-average proportion of seasonal and part-time jobs in 

Torbay along with decreasing proportion of Torbay’s population 

which are of working age and a growing proportion of retired 

people in Torbay. 

 

Source: ONS, Regional GVA, 2021 

Figure 2: GVA by sectors (2009, 2014, and 2019) 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

GVA per hour worked GVA per job filled GVA per head UK = 100

P
age 192



 

14 

 Since 2009, the size of Torbay’s 

economy has grown by 9.0% from 

£1.81Bn to £1.98Bn.  

Information and communication 

(58.8%), accommodation and food 

service activities (32.2%), electricity, 

gas, water; sewerage and waste 

management (27.3%), wholesale and 

retail trade (26.2%) and repair of motor 

vehicles, and administrative and 

support service activities (23.1%); have 

contributed to the biggest increase in 

Torbay’s economic output. 

Transportation and storage (-19.6%), 

professional, scientific, and technical 

activities (-36.8%), agriculture, forestry, 

and fishing; mining and quarrying (-

45.5%), and financial and insurance 

activities (-51.7%) have all fallen. 

Source: Regional GVA, ONS, 2021 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2009 2014 2019

Real estate activities Human health and social work activities

Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles Education

Accommodation and food service activities Public administration and defence

Professional, scientific and technical activities Manufacturing

Construction Administrative and support service activities

Arts, entertainment and recreation Transportation and storage

Electricity, gas, water; sewerage and waste management Other service activities

Information and communication Financial and insurance activities

Activities of households Agriculture, forestry and fishing; mining and quarrying

P
age 193



 

15 

3.2. Gross disposable household income 

Figure 3: Gross disposable household income (GDHI) (2010 – 2019) 
  

Figure 3 shows the GDHI per head over time relative to the 
national average. The gross income per household has 
continued to fall over time compared to the UK average. 
The gap in GDHI has continued to widen showing the 
levels of disposable income available to Torbay 
households and the amount of money to spend in the local 
economy has fallen relative to the national average.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: ONS, Gross Disposable Household Income, 2021 

 

3.3. Summary 

In 2019, Torbay’s economy was valued at £1.98Bn, having grown by 9.0% over the past 10 years compared to 40.2% nationally. Torbay’s 

economic competitiveness is far behind the national average. GVA per head is the lowest in England of any local authority and the productivity 

gap between Torbay and the UK average is continuing to widen on both GVA per job filled and GVA per hour worked measures. This is 

attributed in part to the sector mark-up of Torbay’s economy with reliance upon sectors which are predominantly seasonal and tend to be 

relatively low value added and low paid. 

GDHI is also on a long-term downward trend with the gap between Torbay and the UK average widening, although the gap is not as big 

compared to the GVA measures. This demonstrates the relatively high number of people across Torbay reliant on benefits and pensions to add 

to their disposable income and highlights the growing economic inequalities between Torbay and other places. 

80.0

82.0

84.0

86.0

88.0

90.0

92.0

94.0

96.0

98.0

100.0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Torbay UK = 100

P
age 194



 

16 

4. Key sectors 

4.1. Fishing 

Figure 4: Volume, value, and employment in Torbay’s fishing sector (2008 – 2020) 
In 2020, the port of Brixham 
landed the highest value of catch 
and the second highest volume 
across England.  

The volume of fish caught in 
Brixham has remained relatively 
unchanged over the past three 
years, however the value has 
declined in the last year along 
with employment in the sector 
mainly due to the pandemic. 

 

 

Source: UK Sea Fisheries Statistics, Gov.uk 

 

 

 

4.2. Tourism 

Figure 5: Staying visitor, day visitor, and total visitor numbers in Torbay (2005 – 2020) 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Employment
Value (£)/

Volume (tonnes)

Value Volume Employment

P
age 195



 

17 

Since 2014 there has not been any significant 

change in the tourism numbers in Torbay. From 

2015 to 2019 the number of visitors has 

decreased by 1.3% with 3.3.% of the decline in 

visitor numbers from staying guests.  

In 2020 there was a decline of 50.7% in all 

visitor numbers (-51.8% in day visitors and -

50.3% in staying visitors). Tourism and 

hospitality was one of the sectors hit hardest 

and for the longest period of time from the 

pandemic. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: South West Tourism Alliance, Value of Tourism, 2020 

 

 

 

4.3. Hi-tech sector 

Figure 6: GVA per employee in Torbay’s photonics and microelectronics sector (2015 – 2019) 

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

4,500,000

5,000,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Staying Visitor Trips Day Visits Total Visitor Numbers

P
age 196



 

18 

Over the past five years the GVA per worker in the photonics and 

microelectronics sector has increased 37.0% from £72,973 per 

worker in 2015 to £100,000 in 2019. 

Employment within the sector has increased 24.3% over the period, 

albeit from a relatively low base, however economic output within he 

sector has increased at a faster rate by 37% which shows an 

increase in productivity levels within the sector and the sectors 

contribution to the local economy. 

 

 

 

Source: NOMIS, BRES, 2021 and ONS Regional GVA, 2021 

4.4. Summary 

Torbay’s key sectors have been heavily impacted by the pandemic, with the fishing sector demonstrating greater resilience with the volume of 

fish caught remaining relatively stable but witnessing a decrease in value compared to the previous year, partly due to Brexit and the increased 

export administration, and partly due to the lack of demand from overseas markets as their hospitality sectors locked down due to the pandemic. 

Equally in the UK, both the staying visitor and day visitor numbers substantially declined in 2020 as these parts of the economy were locked 

down for significantly longer periods of time compared to others, however anecdotally tourism businesses have suggested a strong bounce back 

in the ‘staycation’ market over 2020 and 2021. 

£60,000

£65,000

£70,000

£75,000

£80,000

£85,000

£90,000

£95,000

£100,000

£105,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

P
age 197



 

19 

5. Infrastructure 

5.1. Digital infrastructure 
Table 1: Broadband coverage and speeds in Torbay (2020) 

 Average 

Download 

Speed 

(Mbps) 

Superfast 

Availability 

Gigabit 

Availability 

Unable to 

Receive Decent 

Broadband 

Receiving 

under 10 Mbps 

Receiving over 

30 Mbps 

Torbay 82.0 95.3% 44.4% 0.0% 6.0% 67.9% 

South West 76.3 92.2% 37.9% 0.5% 8.8% 72.8% 

UK 86.5 95.0% 45.7% 0.4% 7.0% 78.2% 

Source: Ofcom, State of the Nation, 2020 

Broadband speeds in Torbay are above the South West average and broadly in line with the UK average along with coverage above that 

nationally. Overall, as measured by the availability of Superfast broadband Torbay has relatively good digital infrastructure provision, albeit 

Torbay suffers from lower average speeds compared to the national average and only 67.9% of Torbay able to receive over 30 Mbps. 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2. Connectivity 
Figure 7: Average number of key service destinations accessible to users within 45 minutes of public transport or walking (2017) 

P
age 198



 

20 

 

Torbay is relatively well connected in 

terms of infrastructure with 7 out of 8 key 

services1 accessible within 45 mins or 

less via public transport and walking. 

Furthermore, Torbay has good transport 

connections and links with all 8 key 

services in Torbay being accessible by 

car within 45 minutes.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Department for Transport, Journey Time 
Statistics, 2019 

5.3. Employment space 
Figure 8: Location of major industrial and business parks across Torbay (2021) 

                                            

 

1 Employment centres, primary schools, secondary schools, further education, GPs, hospitals, food stores, and town centres 

P
age 199



 

21 

Table 2: Summary of Torbay’s commercial space (2020) 

 Number of 

Units 

Area 

(M2) 

Vacancy Rate 

(%) 

Industrial 727 337,465.08 5.4% 

Office 591 116,225.92 9.5% 

Leisure 1,065 141,584.11 2.6% 

Retail 2,397 414,740.64 11.9% 

Source: Sqwyre.com 

 

The overarching issue impacting the commercial property market is the lack of capacity 

for growth, with limited choice of suitable existing premises and lack of vacant 

employment land. This is impacting on businesses as they are unable to find premises 

to meet their requirements within Torbay. Despite over 9,940.63M2 of new industrial 

and office space being developed since 2019, there remains over 28,260M2 of demand 

through active inward investment enquiries.  The vacancy rates show there is strong 

demand in Torbay for leisure and industrial premises. 

 

Source: TDA, MapInfo 

 

Over the past five years the majority of new industrial and office across Torbay has 

been developed with the financial support from the government to address the viability gap and market failure within the local commercial 

property sector. Despite the need to subsidise such developments, demand for new modern industrial space has been strong, suggesting a 

miss-match between the local markets price expectations and the cost of development in an area with constrained availability of employment 

land all of which faces viability challenges. 

P
age 200



 

22 

5.4. Summary 

Torbay is relatively well connected in terms of digital and physical infrastructure. Access to broadband services and digital infrastructure is in line 

with the national average, albeit slightly below in terms of speeds. In terms of road and public transport access and connectivity Torbay also fairs 

well with all key services available within a 15 minute drive time and most key services available within a 45 minute walk or via public transport. 

However, Torbay’s commercial space market shows high demand and relatively low vacancy rates for industrial space although the gap in 

viability of new space due to high development costs and expectations of low rental prices hampers the growth of the economy and ability to 

support the expansion of local businesses and accommodate inward and foreign direct investments. 

  

P
age 201



 

23 

6. Business and innovation 

6.1. Business demographics 
Figure 9: Business births and deaths (2020) 

Over the past five years the number of 

businesses in Torbay has not significantly 

changed despite minor year-on-year fluctuations. 

In 2020, there were 4,485 active businesses 

where around 520 new businesses started up and 

around 415 ceased trading. 

88.4% of businesses are classed as micro (0 – 9 

employees), 9.6% are small (10 – 49 employees), 

1.6% are medium (50 – 249), and 0.4% are large 

(250+ employees). Over the past four years, the 

number of micro businesses has been steadily 

increasing while the number of small businesses 

has been steadily decreasing. The number of 

medium and large businesses has remained 

broadly unchanged over the same period. 

 

Source: ONS, IDBR, 2020 

 

Figure 10: Business survival rate (2019) 
4,050

4,100

4,150

4,200

4,250

4,300

4,350

4,400

4,450

4,500

4,550

-600

-400

-200

0

200

400

600

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

T
o
ta

l 
B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 S

to
c
k

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 B

ir
th

 a
n
d
 D

e
a
th

 C
o
u
n
t

Births Deaths Count

P
age 202



 

24 

Business survival rates in Torbay are 

below the South West average over the 

five year period,  and broadly in line 

with the UK average for the first four 

years of trading, however then fall 

marginally behind the national average 

in 2019.  

After their first year of trading in 2014, 

90.9% of Torbay businesses survived 

compared to 91.1% in the South West 

and 89.7% in the United Kingdom. By 

2019 after their fifth year of trading, 

38.2% of Torbay businesses had 

survived compared to 44.3% regionally 

and 39.6% nationally. 

 

 

Source: ONS, IDBR, 2020 
0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

1 year business
survival

2 year business
survival

3 year business
survival

4 year business
survival

5 year business
survival

United Kingdom South West         Torbay

P
age 203



 

25 

6.2. High growth businesses 

In Torbay, there are 42 fast growing companies2 which have a reported turnover in 2020 of £117M, employing around 2.680 people3. Eight of 

these companies are scaleups4 and one is a spin-out from a university/ research institute. Most of the fast-growing companies in Torbay are in 

manufacturing and engineering, and other business and professional services for businesses, mainly in the eHealth and preventive care arenas. 

Most of the fast-growing companies in Torbay are in the seed and venture funding stages of their evolution. Over the last 10 years there have 

been 3 management buy outs (MBO) and two acquisitions.  

Since 2012, there have been 57 fundraisings totalling over £34.2M and around 36 Innovate UK funding applications totalling £5.9M and five of 

the companies have benefited from support through an accelerator programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11: Number and value of innovation and research grants across Torbay’s fast growing companies (2012 – 2022)  

                                            

 

2 Growing by at least 15% each year 

3 Beauhurst, 2021 

4 A company that has already validated its product within the marketplace and has proven that the unit economics are sustainable 

P
age 204



 

26 

Since the opening of Torbay’s Electronics and 

Photonics Innovation Centre (EPIC) in late 2019 

there has been in increase in both he number and 

value of innovation and research grants secured by 

Torbay’s fast-growing businesses. In the past three 

years over 47.2% of the grants and 39.9% of the 

total funding from the past 10 years has been 

secured. While the evidence shows not all 

companies which have secured innovation and 

research grant funding are in EPIC, there is strong 

evidence to demonstrate that the Centre has helped 

to strengthen the local innovation ecosystem. 

Source: Beauhurst, 2021 

6.3. Summary 

Over the past five years, Torbay’s business 

population has not significantly changed, with the proportion of micro businesses growing and proportion of small business declining.  Survival 

rates of Torbay businesses are generally in line with the national average for the first four years to 2018, however in 2019, the business survival 

rate in Torbay fell below the UK average. 

Within Torbay, there are around 45 fast growing businesses employing around 2.680 people mainly in manufacturing and engineering, and other 

business and professional services for businesses, which are linked to eHealth and preventive care. 

 £-

 £200,000

 £400,000

 £600,000

 £800,000

 £1,000,000

 £1,200,000

 £1,400,000

 £1,600,000

 £1,800,000

 £2,000,000

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Number of grants awarded Value of grants awarded

P
age 205



 

27 

7. People 

7.1. Population by age structure and sex  

Latest population estimates show Torbay is home to 136,218 people, nearly half of which (49.4%) are aged 50 or over. The lowest 

representation comes from ages 16-24 who make up only 8% of the overall population, highlighting the challenge Torbay faces regarding 

retaining graduates and supporting the views that many students leave Torbay in pursuit of higher education or stronger career opportunities and 

do not return until later in life. 

Figure 12: Population estimates by age and sex (2020) 

Figure 11 highlights the breakdown of age groups by sex. The graph 

demonstrates that the population levels of 40 years + are considerably higher. 

The highest figure for males (5,119) and females (5,443) falls within the 55-59 

age bracket.  

 

 

 

 

 

Source: ONS, Population Estimates, 2020 

P
age 206



 

28 

Figure 13: Change in population by age (2010 – 2020) 

Over the past 10 years, Torbay has 

demonstrated a structural change to its area’s 

demography. 

Except for a couple of outliers, the general 

trend shows that there has been a notable 

decline in the proportion of ‘young talent’ – the 

population under 49, and conversely an 

increase in the proportion of the population 

aged 50 and above, suggesting that the 

population is living slightly longer and/or an 

increase in the number of retired people and/or 

those approaching retirement are moving to 

Torbay. This raises issues with businesses 

looking to back fill roles and around their 

succession planning. 

Source: NOMIS, Population Estimates, 2021 

7.2. Population and 

projections 

By 2030, Torbay’s population is expected to grow by 5.3%, totalling 145,120 residents. Based on ONS population projections the data shows that 

ages 16 to 24 and 25 to 49 will see increases (11.8% and 0.9% retrospectively). Ages 0 to 15 and 50 to 64 are likely to see decreases (-7.5% 

and -3.1%).  

 

-30.0% -20.0% -10.0% 0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

All Ages

Aged 5-9

Aged 15-19

Aged 25-29

Aged 35-39

Aged 45-49

Aged 55-59

Aged 65-69

Aged 75-79

Aged 85+

P
age 207



 

29 

Figure 14: Population projections by year and age (2020 – 2030) 

The biggest percentage difference comes from the age 65+ category which is 

projected to see a 18.4% increase. This is likely to have an impact on Torbay’s 

workforce and potentially an increased demand on health care services, as this 

age category is often associated with retirement.  

 

 

 

Source: NOMIS, Population Estimates, 2021 

7.3. Number of households 

Figure 15: Households by combined economic activity status (2021) 

 

Torbay currently has an estimated 37,000 households; 20,000 of which are classified 

as working households (53%), 10,700 households are classified as mixed households 

(28.3%), while 7,000 are classified as workless households (18.7%) a figure that has 

increased 20.7% since 2016. 

 

 

Source: ONS, Annual Population Survey, 2021 

 

7.4. Deprivation 

Table 3: Resident population in top 20% most deprived areas (2004 – 2019) 

 2004 2007 2010 2015 2019 

Working households Mixed households Workless households

P
age 208



 

30 

Rank of Average Score 66/ 354 71/ 354 61/ 326 46 /326 48 

/317 

Average Score 23.74 26.42 26.82 28.788 28.104 

Population in 20% most deprived wards nationally 18,150 21,800 24,700 42,037 36,691 

Proportion of population 20% most deprived wards nationally 13.8% 16.5% 18.8% 32.0% 27.4% 

Source: DLUCH, Index of Multiple Deprivations 

Torbay is ranked the 48th most deprived local authority out of 317, meaning it continues to be in the bottom 20% nationally. However, it has seen 

a marginal improvement on its position since 2015 when it was ranked the 46th lowest. Across the South West, Torbay is the second most 

deprived local authority. The main factors which contribute the most to Torbay’s overall multiple deprivations are income, employment, health 

deprivation, and disability. The number of local people living in the 20% most deprived wards nationally decreased from 32% in 2015 to 27.4% in 

2019. 

7.5. Diversity  

Torbay’s ethnic diversity is low, standing at a figure of 4,161. Data5 shows the national average based on an area of Torbay’s size would be 

around 20,376 ethnically diverse people. In 2021 97.1% of Torbay’s population were classified as white (132,223), with 0.4% Asian or Asian 

British Indian, 0.5% Asian or Asian British other Asian,1.2 % for Mixed (a combination of ethnicities), and all other ethnicities accounting for 0.9%.   

Torbay is home to 19,708 ‘millennials’ (aged 25 to 39) a figure which again is behind the national average for an area of its size (26,130).  On the 

opposite end of the scale retirement risk is high in Torbay, with approximately 65,345 residents deemed to be of potential retirement age which is 

significantly higher than the national average for an area of Torbay’s size being around 49,307. 

                                            

 

5 Source: EMSI Analyst Demographics, 2020 

P
age 209



 

31 

7.6. Summary  

Nearly 50% of Torbay’s population are aged 50 or over.  In contrast, the lowest representation comes from ages 16 to 24. This reflects the 

historical challenge Torbay has long faced, where young people leave the area in pursuit of higher education or stronger career opportunities and 

do not return until later in life. The data supports this further as the general trend illustrates there has been a decline in the population under 49 

and an increase in those aged 50 or above.  By 2030, the population is estimated to grow 5.3% which the biggest increase coming from ages 50 

to 64. 

Despite Torbay’s proportion of working households being relatively high, making up 53% of the overall households, the workless household’s 

figure continues to rise year-on-year. Deprivation across the area has seen marginal improvements since 2015, particularly in the number of local 

people living in the 20% most deprived wards, however Torbay remains in the bottom 20% nationally. 

Torbay’s ethnic diversity is significantly lower than the national average for an area of its size, with 97.1% of its residents classified as White. The 

number of residents nearing or at retirement age within the area continues to be higher than the national averages.  

 

P
age 210



 

32 

8. Employment and skills 

8.1. Employment & unemployment rates 

Figure 16: Employment rates (2016 – 2021) 

From 2016 to 2020 Torbay’s employment rate 

dropped year-on-year. The lowest being 

between 2019 and 2020 where the figure was 

72.5% (lower than the comparative areas 

below).  

 

Encouragingly between 2020 and 2021 the 

figures have increased, rising from 72.5% to 

77%. The figure of 77% is higher than its 

comparators, however this figure may be 

higher due to a fall in the working age 

population across Torbay. 

 

 

 

Source: NOMIS, Annual Population Survey, 2021 

 

Figure 17: Unemployment rates (2016 – 2021) 

P
age 211



 

33 

Torbay’s unemployment rate is the lowest it has been for five 

years (2.3%).  This is significantly lower than its comparators 

(Darlington 6.1%, Redcar and Cleveland 6.5%, Blackpool 5.2%, 

Isle of Wight 5.8%, UK 5.1%, and South West 3.9%). Between 

2019 and 2020 the figure jumped significantly from 4.5% to 5.9% 

which, as above, is likely to be as a direct result of the pandemic, 

largely due to the makeup of Torbay’s economy, particularly 

affecting those in the face-to-face service industries. 

 

Source: NOMIS, Annual Population Survey, 2021 

8.2. Claimant count 

Claimant count is an administrative count of individuals who are claiming benefits principally for the reason of being unemployed6. Between 2019 

and 2020 Torbay’s figure rose to 5,555, the highest level since official data has been recorded. However, at the end of 2021, Torbay’s figure 

stood at 3,395. The last five years has seen unemployment in Torbay broadly fall in line with national and regional trends. Torbay’s claimant 

count figure is predominately made up by males, accounting for 61.6%.  

Figure 18: Claimant count (2017 – 2021) 

 

                                            

 

6 Claimant count includes those on low income over 18 with some exceptions for 16- and 17-year old’s as well as those eligible for benefits.  

P
age 212



 

34 

 

Source: Nomis, Claimant Count, 2021 

Table 4: Claimant count by sex 

 Torbay Darlington Redcar and 

Cleveland 

Blackpool Isle of Wight South West United Kingdom 

 No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Male 2,090 61.6% 2,080  60.5% 2,570 62.2% 4,530 63.4% 1,980 58.5% 65,700 58.5% 1,123,020 58.0% 

Female 1,305 38.4% 1,360  39.5% 1,560 37.8% 2,610 36.6% 1,405 41.5% 47,625 41.5% 796,080  42.0% 

Source: Nomis, Claimant Count 2021 

8.3. Job seekers allowance 

Figure 19: Job seekers allowance (2017 – 2021) 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

November 2017 November 2018 November 2019 November 2020 November 2021

P
age 213



 

35 

Outside of an increase from 2019 to 2020, which can be 

attributed to the pandemic, Torbay’s figure has fallen 

year-on-year for the last five years. Its current figure of 

234 is the lowest it has been across this period.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Nomis, Jobseekers Allowance 2021 

 

8.4. Long term unemployed  

Despite a slight increase from 2017 to 2018 (465 to 495) Torbay’s long term unemployed figures, based on those claiming JSA for longer than 12 

months, have continued to fall. 

At the end of 2021, Torbay’s figure was 160, significantly lower than the figure of 465 in 2017. However, percentage wise as a proportion of the 

overall JSA figure, the current figure of 67.9% is higher than the 2017 percentage (46.3%). This suggests that despite unemployment figures 

falling, there is still challenges with the long term unemployed who are actively job seeking. 

Additionally, percentage wise, Torbay compares favourably with the lowest across the areas of demographic similarities. However, the figure 

(67.9%) is slightly higher than the national average (67.4%) and significantly higher than the regional average (50%). 

Figure 20: Long term unemployed (2017 – 2021) 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

November 2017 November 2018 November 2019 November 2020 November 2021

P
age 214



 

36 

 

Source: Nomis, Jobseekers allowance by age and duration 2021 

8.5. NEET data 

In early January 2022 4.5% of Torbay’s 16–to-17-year-olds were classified as NEET (Not in Education or Training), a figure 1% percentage lower 

than the UK average of 5.5%. This figure has improved on the previous year’s figure of 5.1%.  

8.6. Employment by sector 

Figure 21: Employment by sector in Torbay (2015 and 2020) 

P
age 215



 

37 

 

The number of jobs in Torbay has decreased 

by 3.0% from 49,500 in 2015 to 48,000 in 

2020. Over the five-year period, the rankings of 

the top employment sectors have remained 

unchanged with; health (24.0%), 

accommodation & food services (14.6%), retail 

(12.5%), education (9.4%), and business 

administration & support services (6.8%). 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021 

8.7. Change in jobs 

Figure 21 illustrates the change in the distribution of Torbay’s employment over the past five years. Most significantly, during this time Torbay has 

seen a 44.4% increase in employment in the business administration & support services sector. Other high value-added sectors have also seen 

increases such as information and communication (40% increase), public administration & defence (27.3% increase) and manufacturing (20% 

increase).  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2015 2020

Health Accommodation & food services

Retail Education

Business administration & support services Professional, scientific & technical

Manufacturing Construction

Public administration & defence Arts, entertainment, recreation & other services

Transport & storage Wholesale

Property Motor trades

Information & communication Agriculture, forestry & fishing

Financial & insurance Mining, quarrying & utilities

P
age 216



 

38 

Figure 22:  Percentage change in Torbay’s employment by sector 

Sectors which have seen an increase in the number of jobs over the last five years are 

business administration & support services (44.4%), information & communication 

(40%), public administration & defence (27.3%) and manufacturing (20%).  

On the other hand, some sectors have declined. Financial & insurance (-46.4%), arts, 

entertainment, recreation & other services (-31.6%), motor trades (-24.4%), and health 

(-8.0%) have decreased over the last five years. Most sectors employ relatively few 

people, however, the health sector and retail (-7.7%) are two key employment sectors 

which have seen significant decrease over the past five years. 

 

Source: Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021 

8.8. Apprenticeships 

13% of students in Torbay start an apprenticeship after they finish their 16 to 18 studies. This figure is 4% higher than the United Kingdom 

average (9%).  

8.9. Vacancies 

Vacancies are currently at the highest level they have been over the last five years. We find ourselves in unprecedent times where there are 

currently more vacancies than people actively looking for work.  Sectors such as retail, tourism and health and social care have significant levels 

of job vacancies with many businesses struggling to recruit to meet their operational requirements.  

Figure 23: Vacancy levels Torbay (2017 – 2021) 

-80.0% -60.0% -40.0% -20.0% 0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0%

 Business administration & support services (N)

 Information & communication (J)

 Public administration & defence (O)

 Manufacturing (C)

 Property (L)

 Agriculture, forestry & fishing (A)

 Professional, scientific & technical (M)

 Transport & storage (inc postal) (H)

 Construction (F)

 Wholesale (Part G)

 Accommodation & food services (I)

 Education (P)

 Retail (Part G)

Health (Q)

 Motor trades (Part G)

 Arts, entertainment, recreation & other services (R,S,T and U)

 Financial & insurance (K)

 Mining, quarrying & utilities (B,D and E)

P
age 217



 

39 

 

Source: EMSI, Job Postings, 2021 

The most common vacancies within Torbay have broadly remained consistent, the level of vacancies have fluctuated as above but the 

occupations have largely remained the same. Not surprisingly the vacancies sit within sectors of significant importance to Torbay and some 

within those hard to fill sectors.  

Nurses Care Workers Chefs 

Sales and Retail Assistants Van Drivers Primary and Nursery Roles 

 

Continuing the theme, the most frequent ‘hard’ skills are largely typically found within the above roles. Figure 23 below provides further insight 

whilst also alluding to a mismatch between the skills employers are looking for and the skills residents have.  

 

 

 

Figure 24: Top Hard Skills (2017-2021) 

P
age 218



 

40 

 

Source: Emsi, Job Postings, 2021 

‘Soft’ skills have become increasingly important to employers7 particularly due to the skills often being easier to transfer and replicate across all 

sectors.  Whilst there is an improvement here in comparison to the hard skills, the data still shows disparity amongst the skills residents have, 

and the skills employers are looking for.  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 25: Top Soft Skills (2017-2021) 

                                            

 

7 The Future of work is now, Exeter University, 2020 

P
age 219



 

41 

 

Source: Emsi, Job Postings, 2021 

 

4.10 Summary 

On the surface the employment landscape across Torbay reads relatively healthily with employment levels higher than they were pre-pandemic. 

Unemployment rates are the lowest they have been for five years and are lower than both the national and regional averages. There continues to 

be to a reduction in long term unemployment with figures falling year-on-year, with youth unemployment following a similar trend. There are 

however underlying issues, the area has a reducing number of jobs, high levels of part time employment and an ageing workforce. This suggests 

there are other challenges and issues preventing people either from working or from moving from part time to full time work. Anecdotal evidence 

highlights individuals’ perceptions of certain roles and sectors, complex personal circumstances, volatility across employment programmes and 

multi-generational welfare dependency all to be barriers to employment. 

P
age 220



 

42 

Vacancies are at the highest levels they have been since LMI data8 has been recorded, following the same pattern as the region and nationally. 

Torbay has more vacancies than people actively seeking work suggesting that employers across all sectors are struggling to recruit and fill 

vacancies with the employment market becoming ‘tight’  

Across the vacancies there are large levels of disparity amongst the skills employers are looking for and the skills residents have. 

Torbay has seen a significant increase in employment within the business and administration sector (44.4%). Encouragingly other high value-

added sectors such as information and communication and manufacturing have also seen notable increases. Key sectors which have typically 

accounted for large numbers of employment have seen decreases and have high levels of vacancies. This could be explained by a combination 

of factors such as Brexit, the pandemic, and the challenges of attracting individuals to certain roles.  

 

 

 

 

 

9. Workforce 

9.1. Working age population 

Between 2017 and 2021, the data shows there has been a 1.9% decrease of the total working age population, falling from 60,600 to 58,500. 

Over the same period, there has been a slight increase in the proportion that is economically active, rising from 76.3% to 77%. 

                                            

 

8 It is worth mentioning that Labour Market Intelligence (LMI) such as EMSI struggles for data within certain sectors. An example being construction, which local intelligence informs us there are 

a plethora of vacancies locally within this sector.  

 

P
age 221



 

43 

9.2. Distribution of full-time and part-time workers 

Since 2015, Torbay’s workforce has reduced, falling from 47,500 to 46,500 in 2020.  

Distribution wise, 58.1% of employees are full-time whereas 41.9% are part-time. Despite the decrease in total workers, both Torbay’s full-time 

and part-time proportions have remained broadly consistent since 2015.  

Across Torbay the statistics demonstrate that there remains a stronger prevalence of part-time work as the 41.9% figure is higher than all its 

comparators. This prevalence is indicative of Torbay’s economic make-up with its dominance in tourism and hospitality, social care, and retail.  

Table 5: Proportion of full-time and part-time workers (2021) 

 Workforce 

(Number) 

Full-time 

(%) 

Part-time 

(%) 

Torbay 46,500 58.1% 41.9% 

Darlington 51,000 67.6% 32.4% 

Redcar and Cleveland 37,000 63.5% 36.5% 

Blackpool 63,500 60.6% 39.4% 

Isle of Wight 49,000 62.2% 37.8% 

South West 2,475,000 65.0% 35.0% 

United Kingdom 29,508,500 67.9% 32.1% 

Source: Nomis, Business Register and Employment Survey, 2021 

9.3. Qualification levels  

Figure 25 provides a proportional break down of qualifications across the working age population in 2020. . 9.0% of the working population in 

Torbay have no qualifications, a figure which has increased since 2017, leaping from 6.2% to 9.0%. the largest increase came from 2019 to 2020 

(6.6% to 9.0%). The figure of 9.0% is second only to Redcar and Cleveland (10.7%) and is significantly higher than the South West (5.0%) and 

United Kingdom (6.6%). 

P
age 222



 

44 

 

Figure 26: Proportion of working age population by qualification (2020) 

Torbay also compares poorly across the working age population 

for residents with NVQ4+. The figure of 29.0% is the second 

lowest, (Blackpool is the lowest with 23.9%) a figure some way 

behind the South West (40.4%) and United Kingdom (43.0%) 

totals. In fact, Torbay falls behind the national and regional 

percentages across NVQ1+ right through to NVQ4+. 

 

 

 

Source: Nomis, Annual Population Survey, 2020   

9.4. School performance 

Table 6: Local authority schools rankings (2017 – 2019) 

 2017 2018 2019 

Torbay -0.1 0.3 0.7 

England 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Source: Department of Education, 2021 

Over the past three years, the collective performances of Torbay’s schools have progressed from being below average in 2017 to above average 

in 2019.  However, despite the relative improvement in the performance of Torbay’s schools the level of NEETs in Torbay remain 0.8 percentage 

points higher than the England average. 

Figure 27: Attainment gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged pupils 

P
age 223



 

45 

Since 2017 attainment gaps between disadvantaged and don 

disadvantaged pupils are worsening across multiple school stages.  

EFYS has had the most significant increase, both KS1 and KS4 

have also seen slight increases. KS2 attainment gap has improved.  

 

 

 

 

Source: Keypas – internal Torbay systems matched to national pupil deprivation data 2022 

Figure 28: Gatsby Benchmark average scores across Torbay 

Torbay ranks relatively strongly against most of the Gatsby 

benchmarks, the benchmarks act as a framework for good, robust 

careers advice and guidance in schools. The area which currently 

requires the most support is benchmark 6, experiences of employers 

and the workforce within school’s career programmes. 

Figure 29 below highlights the proportion of Torbay schools or 

colleges that are at 100% for every benchmark. 

 

Source: HotSW Careers Hub, Torbay Report 2022 

 

P
age 224



 

46 

Figure 29: Proportion of Torbay schools/colleges at 100% for each benchmark 

Source: HotSW Careers Hub, Torbay Report 2022 

9.5. Graduates in the workforce 

Figure 30: Percentage of working age population with NVQ4+ 

29.0% of Torbay’s working age population are graduates. Amongst its 

comparators, this is the second lowest figure (behind only Blackpool 

23.9%), demonstrating the challenges Torbay has with retaining talent, 

who often leave the area in search of higher education opportunities and 

enhanced career prospects. Torbay’s figure is significantly lower than 

both the regional and national figures. (43.0% and 40.4%). 

 

 

Source: Nomis, Annual Population Survey, 2021 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

Torbay Darlington Redcar and
Cleveland

Blackpool Isle of
Wight

United
Kingdom

South West

P
age 225



 

47 

9.6. Earnings 

Despite a 30% increase in wages for people working in Torbay since 2015, income remain below the average. From 2015 to 2021, people 

working in Torbay earned less than the comparator locations as well as the national and regional averages. In 2021, people working in Torbay 

earned on average9 £412.70, compared to regional and national averages of £464.10 and £540.40.  

Additionally, those living in Torbay but work outside of the area in 2021 on average earned around £452.56, a figure £39.60 higher than people 

working and living in Torbay, suggesting better salaries can be achieved working outside of Torbay, a pattern that is also replicated by some of 

the areas below.  

Table 7: Average full-time gross weekly wages (2015 – 2021) 

Resident 

 Torbay Darlington Redcar and 

Cleveland 

Blackpool Isle of Wight United Kingdom South West 

2015 339.5 402.0 381.0 318.2 369.4 425.1 398.4 

2016 361.4 437.2 385.0 332.1 378.4 438.4 410.6 

2017 366.0 385.0 387.6 338.8 405.8 448.5 419.3 

2018 354.3 332.1 393.7 351.0 402.5 460.0 430.8 

2019 392.0 378.4 397.2 379.1 416.2 479.1 444.9 

2020 383.2 438.4 417.2 369.7 417.0 479.1 443.8 

2021 452.6 410.6 439.2 402.7 422.0 504.4 469.9 

 

 

Workplace 

                                            

 

9 Part-time and full-time average workplace-based earnings 

P
age 226



 

48 

 Torbay Darlington Redcar and 

Cleveland 

Blackpool Isle of Wight United Kingdom South West 

2015 364.2 523.5 517.4 383.1 446.1 517.5 482.7 

2016 398.8 499.5 465.4 430.0 463.5 530.4 498.4 

2017 410.2 490.5 497.3 437.1 442.5 540.6 513.1 

2018 382.9 506.0 542.2 424.4 470.6 554.6 518.9 

2019 408.1 522.6 467.2 435.2 475.6 574.9 536.5 

2020 396.7 501.2 534.0 427.0 525.9 568.4 524.7 

2021 431.9 567.7 511.4 504.6 480.7 594.1 555.8 

Source: Nomis, Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2021 

 

Figure 31: Average weekly workplace earnings between male and female (2015 – 2021)  

 

Both male and female work-based earnings have shown similarities in 

across 2015 to 2021 in terms of growth and slight falls. However, figure 16 

shows that weekly wages for males have consistently been higher than 

their female counterparts, there is a significant gap but one which is 

narrowing. 

 

 

 

Source: NOMIS, Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, 2021 

£0.0

£50.0

£100.0

£150.0

£200.0

£250.0

£300.0

£350.0

£400.0

£450.0

£500.0

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Torbay Male Torbay Female

P
age 227



 

49 

9.7. Flows of labour 

Table 8: Inflows and outflows of labour in Torbay (2011) 

 Labour Flow Out of Torbay Labour Flow Into Torbay Net Impact 

Teignbridge 5,192 4,736 -456 

South Hams 2,668 1,896 -772 

Exeter 2,127 385 -1,742 

Plymouth 784 675 -109 

East Devon 415 161 -254 

Cornwall and Isles of Scilly 99 86 -13 

Mid Devon 91 84 -7 

Bristol, City of 65 11 -54 

West Devon 60 40 -20 

Taunton Deane 42 0 -42 

South Somerset 35 0 -35 

South Gloucestershire 33 0 -33 

North Devon 30 18 -12 

Wiltshire 30 0 -30 

Sedgemoor 25 0 -25 

North Somerset 22 23 1 

Swindon 22 0 -22 

Mendip 12 0 -12 

Torridge 11 0 -11 

Offshore Installation 100 0 -100 

Outside UK 82 0 -82 

P
age 228



 

50 

Other 1,032 476 -556 

Total 12,977 8,591 -4,386 

Source: NOMIS, Census 2011 

 

Table 8 shows the breakdown by area of labour flows in and out of Torbay in 2011, which is still the most recent data as the dataset will not be 

updated until 2021. Of the total 47,804 employees that worked in Torbay in 2011, around 18% travelled from outside of the area. Of the 52,000 

people who live in Torbay and are employed, it is estimated that around 10.8% work outside of the area. Official data10 from 2019 does indicate 

that the net migration out of Torbay could be closer to around 5,625. 

9.8. Summary 

Torbay has seen a small decrease in the working age population over the past five years (1.9%). In addition, the total worker’s figure has fallen 

too.  The number of full-time and part-time workers has broadly remained consistent over the same period however Torbay’s part-time figure of 

41.9% of the workforce is higher than most of its comparators. This prevalence is indicative of Torbay’s economic make-up. 

9.0% of Torbay’s working population have no qualifications, a figure that is increasing. Unsurprisingly this figure has worsened because of the 

pandemic and although NEET figures are relatively stable these too are above the English average and showing signs of a small increase. At the 

other end, Torbay continues to fare poorly across the working age population for NVQ+4. 29% are classified as graduates, a figure lower than 

comparators and the national and regional averages, reiterating further that the challenge Torbay faces is retaining talent. Overall, Torbay lags 

the national and regional qualification percentages across NVQ1+ right through to NVQ4. 

The overall net migration taken from labour flow out of Torbay and Labour flow into Torbay has increased since 2011.  

Wages across Torbay have seen an increase over the last five years but remain below the national and regional averages. Additionally, the data 

shows that higher earners tend to reside in Torbay, but work outside of the area, backing up the evidence that higher skilled and paid jobs come 

                                            

 

10 Combination of Business Register and Employment Survey / Annual Population Survey, 2019 

P
age 229



 

51 

from its neighbouring areas. Average wages for males and females have followed similar trends over the last five years with the average wage 

for males being continuously higher than females with a relatively sizeable gap. 

P
age 230



 

52 

10. Environment 

10.1. Carbon Dioxide Emissions 

Figure 32: CO2 emissions in Torbay by category (2009 – 2019) 

In 2019 Torbay produced 424.1 tonnes of CO2 

equating to 3.1 tonnes per person compared to 4.6 

tonnes across the region. Torbay’s CO2 per capita 

decrease 29.6% over the past 10 years from 4.4 

tonnes per person. 

Around 41.9^=% of Torbay’s total CO2 emissions 

were from domestic sector compared to 31.6% from 

transport, 15% from commercial, and 5.3% from 

industry, and 6.2% from the public sector. 

Since 2009 CO2 emissions in Torbay have 

decreased across all sectors with commercial and 

industrial sectors accounting for the largest 

decreases at 38.5% and 36.9% respectively. 

Transport which is the second largest contributor to 

CO2 emissions in Torbay has decreased by least 

(10.8%) over the past 10 years.   

Source: DBEIS, UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide 
emission, 2021 

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

To
n

n
e

s 
o

f 
C

O
2

 p
e

r 
ca

p
it

a

To
n

n
e

s 
o

f 
C

O
2

Axis Title

Domestic Total Transport Total Commercial Total

Industry Total Public Sector Total Per Capita Emissions

P
age 231



 

53 

11. Appendix 1: Comparators 

Table 9: Comparison indicators 

Local Authority GVA per 

Head 

Index 

(2019)11 

GVA per 

Hour 

Index 

(2019) 12 

Total 

Population 

(2020)13 

% of 

populatio

n aged 16 

– 64 

(2020)14 

% of 

population 

aged 65+ 

(2020)15 

Economic 

Activity 

Rate 

(2020)16 

Employment 

Rate 16 – 64 

(2020)17 

% with 

No 

Qualificat

ions 

(2020)18 

Full-time 

Employment 

Rate 

(2020)19 

Part-time 

Employment 

Rate 

(2020)20 

% of 

population 

living in 

20% most 

deprived 

areas (IMD 

2019)21 

Blackpool 68.7% 77.1% 138,381 60.6% 20.5% 76.3% 72.8% 7.3% 60.6% 39.4% 56.7% 

Darlington 83.3% 93.0% 107,402 60.7% 20.6% 78.8% 74.1% 4.9% 67.6% 32.4% 30.2% 

Isle of Wight 64.3% 84.2% 142,296 55.9% 28.7% 77.7% 73.2% 5.6% 62.2% 37.8% 13.8% 

Redcar and 

Cleveland 

- 75.5% 137,228 59.2% 22.8% 72.6% 68.5% 10.7% 63.5% 36.5% 36.0% 

Torbay 49.4% 69.4% 136,218 56.0% 27.3% 76.1% 72.1% 9.0% 58.1% 41.9% 27.5% 

South West 87.4% - 5,659,143 60.0% 22.4% 81.3% 78.0% 5.0% 65.0% 35.0% - 

United Kingdom 100.0% 100.0% 67,081,234 62.4% 18.6% 78.8% 75.1% 6.6% 67.9% 32.1% - 

- Data not available 

                                            

 

11 Source: ONS, Regional GVA, 2021 
12 Source: ONS, Regional GVA, 2021 
13 NOMIS, Population Estimates, 2021 
14 NOMIS, Population Estimates, 2021 
15 NOMIS, Population Estimates, 2021 
16 Source: NOMIS, Annual Population Survey, 2021 
17 Source: NOMIS, Annual Population Survey, 2021 
18 Source: NOMIS, Annual Population Survey, 2021 
19 Source: NOMIS, BRES, 2021 
20 Source: NOMIS, BRES, 2021 
21 Source: DLUCH, IMD 2019 

P
age 232



 

 

 

  

  
 

 

Torbay Economic Growth Strategy  
November 2022 

Page 233

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 3



 

2 

 

 

 

 

  

Contents 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 4 

2 Vision  for 2030 ........................................................................................................................... 6 

3 The Council's approach to growth  ........................................................................................... 8 

4 The Torbay economic overview ........................................................................................... …10 

5 Working with our partners……………………………………………………………………………13 

6 Torbay's economic priorities………………………………………………………………………...15 

i) Supporting innovators, entrepreneurs and business owners…………………………………15  

ii) Building on our economic specialisms……………………………………………………………17 

iii)Helping our community to reach their economic potential……………………………………20 

iv) Maximising economic value of nature capital…………………………………………………..23 

7 Cross Cutting Themes………………………………………………………………………………...25 

i) Tackling the Climate Emergency  

8 Measuring economic outcomes……………………………………………………………………..27 

9 Implementing the Economic Growth Strategy……………………………………………………30 

 

Page 234



 

3 

Executive Summary 

Torbay faces an uncertain economic future. 

We have key issues which must be addressed if the prosperity of our people, our businesses and 

our places is to be secured. The most important of these relates to our people.  

Education, training and skills sit at the heart of a basket of challenges we face, and together they 

represent the biggest single set of issues we must address. 

Our workforce is ageing and as people retire, they will leave gaps which must be filled, but this can 

only happen if younger people are able, and want, to grab these jobs.  

This will only be possible if younger generations have the right skills and are in the right place. 

That means that we must inspire them and offer them education and training which equips them 

for the future. It also means that they live locally. It won’t be possible unless they are skilled, want 

to be here and can afford to live here. 

If we fail to address these challenges, our businesses will not have access to the employees they 

need. Which means our businesses won’t thrive and our residents will not be able to access jobs. 

It is as simple as that, and it represents a ticking time bomb. 

This strategy will support ambition to tackle climate change and protect and enhance our naturally 

inspiring bay. We must ensure that economic growth is achieved in a sustainable way.  

We must work together to diffuse the situation. If we do not, our economy, our businesses, our 

places and our people will suffer. 

The Council, business or educators can’t do this alone but by working together we can make a 

difference and we must work together even better to make a difference urgently. 

It is time for leaders from our businesses, business groups, schools, colleges and local authority to 

redouble our efforts. We need to collaborate and cooperate to diffuse the time bomb. That means 

leaving self-interest outside and taking a seat at the partnership table. It means trusting each 

other, sharing resource and goodwill, working to a common vision and ambition and taking action 

now and for the long term. Acting collaboratively, consistently and for the longer term will help 

Torbay deal in the short term with the likely financial challenges for public sector partners while 

continuing to deliver the support urgently needed. It will also help reassure the local business 

community and investors that Torbay has a clear vision of where it wants to be economically and 

is working together to achieve that. 

A strong tech sector, represented largely by a growing electronics and photonics sector, presents 

a significant growth opportunity. The visitor economy is also fundamental to our economic growth 

and this strategy sets the framework for the Destination Management Plan that will capitalise upon 

our heritage, natural assets and excellent food and drink offer. Investment in Torbay Hospital will 

see a significant growth in the health sector and opportunities to support the growth of the medical 

and healthcare technology sector will be enabled. Furthermore Torbay provides the right 

environment for small tech based companies to establish and grow, notably in the digital creative 

Page 235



 

4 

sector and this will be explored. Fishing, embedded in our heritage and culture should be 

supported to grow and capitalise on previous investment that has seen the fish processing sector 

strengthen.    

Page 236



 

5 

1. Introduction 

 

Torbay offers an inspiring coastal, maritime and landscape setting. This unique setting provides 

one of the best places to live, work and play in the South West. The towns of Brixham, Paignton 

and Torquay are key engines of our economy, offering a range of facilities with a rich history. High 

quality visitor economy is one of the leading sectors with an international reputation. The English 

Riviera is also home to a globally significant UNESCO Global Geopark designation. 

The Torbay economy is home to globally significant technology businesses operating in photonics 

and micro-electronics, nanotechnology, and medical and healthcare technology (MedTech) 

However, as a coastal economy Torbay faces some entrenched challenges that need addressing. 

Torbay has a narrow business base with employment reliant on three sectors, which include 

health and social care, tourism and hospitality and retail. The local economy is dependent on the 

face-to-face service sector, accounting for 30,125 of the 48,500 jobs or 68.4% of all jobs. 

This reliance also means that Torbay currently lags behind the UK on many economic measures, 

it has experienced significantly lower levels of business growth of 13% compared to 30.6% 

nationally, employment growth of 9% compared to 10.4% nationally, and GVA growth of 7.5% 

compared to 28.8% nationally, since 2010.  

Torbay’s workforce is shrinking making it difficult for businesses to recruit. Affordability of housing 

is becoming more of an issue and will be fundamental in helping to attract people to work in 

Torbay. Supporting and inspiring our current and future workforce to secure jobs and develop their 

careers locally will be integral to this strategy. 

The world of work has fundamentally changed post-pandemic. Flexible working is now normal 

practice for many office based jobs, strongly linked to improved wellbeing. Our natural 

environment presents an opportunity for Torbay to position itself as a location for businesses and 

entrepreneurs who might want to work in a different way. 

The Economic Growth Strategy sets out how the Council working with partners can improve 

economic conditions and in doing so help businesses to improve performance, create new 

opportunities for residents, tackle poverty and improve health outcomes. This long-term strategy 

sets out the challenges we face, and the initiatives we are taking forward to address them. Many 

are long term initiatives which will require long term commitment if we are to achieve a sustainable 

change that will enhance our economy.  

This Strategy cuts across a number of other Council Strategies and policy documents, in particular 

the Housing Strategy and the Local Plan. To retain and attract the workforce Torbay needs will 

require sufficient affordable housing and the Local Plan need to ensure a sufficient supply of 

employment land to accommodate growth and inward investment. 

The Council will not be able to deliver the strategy alone. It is an Economic Growth Strategy for 

Torbay. We now have a clear, forward looking and vitally shared story for Torbay and each of the 

towns that will provide focus for their development and promotion. The Torbay Story sets out a Page 237



 

6 

compelling narrative. There is a need to activate more collaboration within places and across 

Torbay and we are looking to energise that through the Torbay Together Champions Programme. 

At the time of writing, Torbay’s long-standing ambition to raise its profile within the national and 

international economy and its contribution to UK plc aligns with the government’s Levelling Up 

agenda, and our interventions and funding bids are targeted to this theme.  

Over the lifespan of this strategy, maximising Torbay’s economic potential by improving 

productivity and leveraging investment in local specialisms will remain constant and aligned to the 

priorities of contemporary regional funding structures 

This strategy will cover: 

 How is the Torbay economy performing? with a summary of the evidence available  

 How we want the Torbay economy to develop, with a vision, objectives, priorities and a 

theory of change  

 How we achieve improved performance; priorities, resource implication and a measurement 

framework including Key Performance Indicators, and most importantly a practical and 

prioritised Action Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 238



 

7 

2 Vision for 2030 

 

We will continue to build our reputation as the UK’s  'Tech by the Bay’ by supporting Torbay’s 

existing businesses and new investors. We will work with the sector to attract, retain and grow 

these specialisms. Torbay will be inclusive; our communities will be able to secure good 

employment and learning opportunities that will enhance their potential. We will address our 

current challenges by developing a year-round economy, providing greater levels of full-time 

employment with higher salaries, in a sustainable way. We ensure that investment in our three 

towns – Brixham, Paignton and Torquay enable them to develop their own very distinct identities 

and roles: a unified and complementary offer as the country’s premier marine and natural 

experience.  

Delivering the vision 

We will build on our local strengths, reflecting the role our key towns and wider area play in 

supporting the economy and our rich natural environment.  

Our town centres will undergo significant change. We will work closely with both public sector 

partners and the private sector to achieve the changes that both our communities and businesses 

are seeking. 

Our schools, college and businesses will work closely together to inspire and develop the skills of 

our people and to access opportunities that enable them to succeed and be resilient in a fast-

changing economy. People who are out of work or in low paid jobs will find it easier to obtain 

support to upskill into new career opportunities and access opportunities they need to get into the 

workforce and progress into better jobs. Our skills system will directly address the future needs of 

our economy and the current needs of our business community, ensuring that residents have 

access to high quality employment. 

We have learnt through the Coronavirus Pandemic that more needs to be done to be prepared for 

major economic shocks. Working with our partners we will develop plans that enable Torbay to be 

well placed to respond and be resilient to economic challenges and opportunities.  

The key characteristics of Torbay’s success will include.  

 Creating more full-time job opportunities for Torbay residents and provide good work for all  

 Reducing our impact on, and increasing resilience to Climate Change 

 Increased Gross Value Added (GVA) per worker, average worker income and productivity – 

addressing our current position of one of the areas with the lowest GVA per capita in England 

 Improvement in educational attainment and workforce skills– increasing the number of 

residents qualified to deliver the jobs needed by local business 

 High levels of business start-up, with increased survival rates beyond 3 years  

 

With sustained increases in each of these measures during the life of the Economic Growth 

Strategy, Torbay will improve its resilience and improve its economic diversity. This will assist in 

weathering future global economic trends and market cycles, aiding recovery from economic Page 239



 

8 

downturns. Improvements will assist Torbay in being agile enough to adapt to changing 

technologies and importantly, provide benefit to all residents. The Economic Growth Strategy 

Action Plan sets out the basepoint and future targets which the delivery of the strategy will be 

measured against.  

Page 240



 

9 

3 The Council’s Approach to Economic Growth  

Enabling inclusive and sustainable economic growth is integral to Torbay Council, its partners and 

the community. Sustaining a productive economy will contribute to making Torbay a prosperous, 

healthy, safe and clean place.  

The Torbay Economic Growth Strategy is a key strategy for the Council, its partners and the 

community that will shape the future of Torbay’s economy bringing business and place together, 

enable the safeguarding and creation of local jobs, stimulate wealth creation for residents, tackling 

poverty and improving health outcomes. Conversely failure of this strategy will exacerbate the 

challenges Torbay faces with the challenges that will bring to the community in the medium and 

longer term. 

The Coronavirus Pandemic has demonstrated the impact economic shocks can have upon local, 

national and international economies. We want to ensure that we have a clear strategy in place 

that both enables a quick and full recovery from the impact of Coronavirus and also puts in place 

plans for future potential shocks and challenges such as the potential for public sector funding 

restrictions in the early stage of this strategy.  

The Council recognises that economic growth is fundamental to increasing the prosperity of the 

community and the businesses in Torbay and that, as through the pandemic, the role of partners 

across Torbay will be pivotal in securing economic growth. The Council will work with partners and 

where appropriate through them to deliver this strategy and will seek the support of those partners, 

particularly the public sector anchor institutions and the business leaders locally, in collaborating 

and championing the needs and opportunities of Torbay.  

Achieving sustainable economic growth is a priority therefore we also recognise the responsibility 

we have for the Environment. The Council declared a Climate Emergency on 24 June 2019. The 

Council has agreed a target that by 2030 Torbay will have become carbon neutral, zero waste and 

a climate resilient place, playing its part in limiting the impacts of climate change. Business and 

community support will be vital in helping to meet the carbon neutral target. This strategy supports 

this important objective and will encourage carbon neutral growth.  

Over the lifespan of this strategy, maximising Torbay’s economic potential by improving 

productivity and leveraging investment in local specialisms will remain constant and aligned to the 

priorities of contemporary regional funding structures. 

Torbay’s long-standing ambition is to raise its profile within the national and international economy 

and its contribution to UK plc aligns with the government’s Levelling Up Agenda. Our interventions 

and funding bids are targeted to this theme.  

The Economic Growth Strategy is a key part of a suite of strategies that will improve Torbay as a 

place to live, work and play. Key linkages are made within the Strategy to   

 Torbay Council’s Community and Corporate Plan 

 The Torbay Story 

 Torbay Local Plan – 2012-2030 

Page 241



 

10 

 English Riviera Destination Management Plan – 2022-2030 

 

To inform this strategy, two specific actions have been undertaken: -    

 An economic baseline analysing trends and progress impacting the Torbay economy has 

been developed.  

 Consultation with, and input from, a wide range of stakeholders has informed the strategy.  

This has ensured that the Economic Growth Strategy has been co-produced by the Council and its 

partners. 

The Council is able to celebrate the success of its previous Economic Strategy, which guided the 

delivery of a number of important initiatives including. 

 The Electronics and Photonics Innovation Centre (EPIC) is already proving to be an 

invaluable asset to the local electronics, photonics and micro-electronics business 

community. Open in 2019 the Centre now houses over a dozen businesses, many of which 

are involved in cutting edge technologies and innovation. 

 Secured £22m Town Deal to drive Town Centre improvements in Torquay and £13.36m 

Future High Streets Fund programme for Paignton that will further catalyse investment into 

our town centres 

 Secured inward investment from high tech companies such as Nanusens creating high value 

jobs 

 Supporting the growth of Castings Support Systems (CSS) through developing a new 

purpose-built 5,550m² manufacturing facility at Claylands in Paignton enabling CSS Group to 

take on the building to support their growing business.  

 Secured funding to support the development of Edginswell Business Park and business units 

totalling 1056 sqm at Lymington Road 

  

Page 242



 

11 

4 The Torbay Economy overview 

The Torbay Economic Growth Strategy Evidence Base (2022) sets out a comprehensive picture of 

the Torbay economy. The key issues facing the economy can be summarised as.  

 The Torbay economy contributed £1.98bn to the UK economy in 2019 (by Gross 

 Value Added at current prices). Our Productivity performance in Torbay has continued to fall 

behind the UK average.  

 Business survival rates in Torbay are below the South West average over the five-year 

period, and broadly in line with the UK average for the first four years of trading, however, 

then fall marginally behind the national average in 2019.  

 The number of jobs in Torbay has decreased by 3% from 49,500 in 2015 to 48,000 in 2020. 

In the past five years, the rankings of the top employment sectors have remained unchanged 

with; health (24%), accommodation & food services (14.6%), retail (12.5%), education (9.4%), 

and business administration & services (6.8%) 

 The level of qualifications by Torbay’s residents reveals a current economic weakness that 

needs addressing with 9.0% of the working population in Torbay have no qualifications, a 

figure which has increased since 2017, leaping from 6.2% to 9.0%. the largest increase came 

from 2019 to 2020 (6.6% to 9.0%). At present, Torbay falls behind the national and regional 

percentages across NVQ1+ right through to NVQ4+. 

 Latest population estimates show Torbay is home to 134,300 people, with 52% aged 50 and 

over. This is significantly above the national (42%) and regional (46%) averages and has an 

inevitable impact on income levels and healthcare provision. At the other end of the age 

spectrum 27% of Torbay’s population are aged between 20-44, 7% below the national 

average. This highlights the challenge Torbay faces in retaining graduates and supports the 

view that many students who leave the Bay to enter higher education do not return until later 

in life, impacting on productivity levels. 

 Torbay has pockets of severe deprivation, and areas of relative affluence. Torbay is amongst 

the most deprived in England. Within Torbay around one-in-three of the population live in 

areas in the top 20% most deprived in England 

 From 2016 to 2020, Torbay’s employment rate dropped year-on-year. The lowest being 

between 2019 and 2020 where the figure was 72.5% (lower than the comparative areas 

below). While the Coronavirus Pandemic has had an impact, encouragingly between 2020-

2021 the figures have increased from 72.5% to 77%. While Torbay’s unemployment rate is 

the lowest it has been for five years (2.3%).  

 Despite the level of unemployment and drop-in employment rate, vacancies are currently at 

the highest level they have been over the last five years. We find ourselves in unprecedent 

times where there are currently more vacancies than people actively looking for work. Sectors 

such as retail, tourism and health and social care have significant levels of job vacancies with 

many businesses struggling to recruit to meet their operational requirements. 

 Disproportionately high housing costs contribute to in-work poverty exacerbating the labour 

shortage in the lower paid sectors 

 A significant challenge is that part time employment is more common than full time. At 

present 58.1% of employees are full-time whereas 41.9% are part-time. Across Torbay the 

statistics demonstrate that there remains a stronger prevalence of part-time work as the 

41.9% figure is higher than all its comparators. This prevalence is indicative of Torbay’s 

economic make-up with its dominance in tourism and hospitality, social care, and retail.  
Page 243



 

12 

 Despite a 30% increase in wages for people working in Torbay since 2015, income remain 

below the national and regional averages.  

 Economic growth can also contribute to increasing carbon emissions. Our businesses and 

industry were responsible for 20% of Torbay’s carbon emissions in 2019. In 2019 transport 

emissions made up 31% of Torbay’s carbon emissions and waste made up over 4% of 

Torbay’s carbon emissions. 

 The recent announcement of the Plymouth and South Devon Freeport presents a risk to 

Torbay. Freeport areas will be able to offer incentives for investment and therefore could 

present a risk to Torbay businesses if we are not able to accommodate growth locally and 

incentive investment. 

 

Key Sector Profiles 

Torbay’s key sectors have been heavily impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic, with the fishing 

sector demonstrating greater resilience with the volume of fish caught remaining relatively stable 

but witnessing a decrease in value compared to the previous year, partly due to Brexit and the 

increased export administration, and partly due to the lack of demand from overseas markets as 

their hospitality sectors locked down due to the pandemic. Equally in the UK, both the staying 

visitor and day visitor numbers substantially declined in 2020 as these parts of the economy were 

locked down for significantly longer periods of time compared to others, however anecdotally 

tourism businesses have suggested a strong bounce back in the ‘staycation’ market over 2020 

and 2021. The Photonics and Micro-electronics sector can demonstrate continued growth and 

offers hi-tech growth for Torbay in the future. Evidence indicates that there are emerging 

opportunity sectors around health, in particular medical and healthcare technology, and creative 

industries. 

The Evidence base sets out the performance of our key sectors, they are summarised below. 

Photonics and Micro-electronics 

Employment within the Photonics and Micro-electronics sector has increased by 24.3% 

over the period, albeit from a relatively low base, however economic output within the 

sector has increased at a faster rate by 37% which shows an increase in productivity levels 

within the sector and the sectors contribution to the local economy. The sector has potential 

for further growth and is an example of the potential for Torbay to support High Tech 

economic growth. However future growth may be restricted by the limited availability of 

employment space in Torbay. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 244



 

13 

Figure X GVA per employee in Torbay Photonics and Micro-electronics sector (2015-

2019) 

 

 

Fishing 

In 2020, the port of Brixham landed the highest value of catch and the second highest 

volume across England. The volume of fish caught in Brixham has remained relatively 

unchanged over the past three years, however the value has declined in the last year along 

with employment in the sector mainly due to the pandemic. 

Figure X: Volume, Value and Employment in Torbay’s Fishing sector 

 

Source: UK Sea Fisheries Statistics, Gov.uk 

 

Tourism 

The English Riviera has a strong history of being a premier coastal resort, with a tourism 

sector that supports local and regional businesses, creates local jobs, and contributes to 

the sense of place and quality of life. But in recent times the English Riviera has struggled 

to keep pace with changing market needs, and the impact of Covid-19 and the climate crisis Page 245



 

14 

are creating unprecedented challenges, with a reduction of 55% of tourism earnings from 

staying visitors and a 50% reduction from day visitors in 2020 compared to 2019. 

The Economic Growth Strategy aligns with the Destination Management Plan which has set 

out interventions that can help propel the destination forward. The plan seeks to build on 

the inherent strengths and reflect market trends and opportunities and help to achieve a 

more sustainable and resilient destination.  

The objectives for Destination Management Plan are:  

 Recover – return to 2019 spend and visitor levels by 2024  

 Grow – achieve an additional £75m of tourism spend and 1,500 new FTE jobs by 2027  

 Re-balance – more sustainable visits, with 40% of visits from October - March 

(currently 35%) 

 These objectives will be achieved by:  

 Attracting new and existing visitor markets and an improved reputation and profile for 

the destination  

 New product investment and development of the existing offer  

 Better destination management and visitor welcome (and resident satisfaction)  

 Clear delivery arrangement 

 

Medical & Healthcare  

Torbay has a number of key strategic assets in this regard including; a major hospital 

rebuilding programme, a leading NHS pharmaceutical manufacturing facility, numerous 

businesses engaged in the medical and healthcare sector with many as key suppliers to 

Tier 1 companies with others also undertaking research and development in new 

technology or products for medical and healthcare uses. In the provision of Adult and Social 

care digital delivery and Torbay’s population demographics could combine to provide 

opportunities for clinical trials and new product development.  

 

Creative and Digital  

Recent University of Exeter research into Creative Industries Policy and Evidence Centre, 

– Creative Industries Innovation in Seaside Resorts and Country Towns indicates Torbay 

has an opportunity in the creative sector, possibly focussed on digital technologies. The 

creative industries definition is broad and includes but is not limited to, arts, culture, and 

heritage, crafts, photography, radio and TV production along with digital applications such 

as website design, advertising and programming and app design. 

Torbay has a strong representation in the creative industries through Torbay Culture and 

Digital Torbay stakeholder groups, Cockington Court, and small clusters located around 

Torquay Harbour could enable effective programme delivery.  

 

  

Page 246

https://pec.ac.uk/policy-briefings/seaside-resorts-and-country-towns


 

15 

5. Working with our partners  

The Economic Growth Strategy is an important partnership document. The Council can help 

provide the conditions through which the private sector can grow and thrive, however it can deliver 

alone and will work with partners to develop deeper relationships, cultivate strong leadership 

recognising that effective partnership is essential to develop these conditions.  

Similarly, there are a range of social outcomes which are intangible which impact upon Torbay’s 

economic potential. The table below demonstrates the range of inputs needed to drive economic 

growth; where there are challenges and under-performance, the local economy will suffer. In 

Torbay evidence shows that current levels of deprivation and low-wage low skill levels negatively 

impact our economic potential. Each factor set out in the pillars below are an important element of 

the local economy. Where there is weakness, it will lead to poorer outcomes and a continued 

weaking of the local economy, for example, fewer people to take employment opportunities or 

limited high skilled candidates in the local area to take high skilled job opportunities. 

The Council and its partners must work together to address each of the pillars set out below. 

Partnership is key to addressing the vicious cycles that currently exists in the Torbay economy.  

 

Source: IED Golden thread for local economies 

 

 

Torbay has received support from the Government through the Towns Deal and Future High 

Streets Funding. Government funding initiatives will provide opportunities to deliver projects and 
Page 247



 

16 

initiatives that will help address Torbay’s challenges. We will work with our partners to shape these 

projects and initiatives.  

The Government has also signalled that a Devon County Deal can be progressed across Devon, 

Plymouth and Torbay. The County Deal will provide a collaborative approach to help lever more 

investment into the area for the benefit of Torbay’s businesses and residents. A County Deal will 

provide opportunities for deeper collaboration with stakeholders such as universities, colleges, 

business, the voluntary, community and social enterprise sectors, National Parks, town and parish 

councils.  

The Council also supports a Community Wealth Building (CWB) approach which focuses on 

increasing local spend by supporting local businesses to bid for local public sector contracts. 

Torbay Council has committed to using its financial powers more effectively to help benefit the 

local economy and create new employment and training opportunities for people through its 

regeneration projects. 

The CWB approach brings together public sector partners from across Torbay and has secured 

their commitment to collaborate and adopt the principles of CWB. Torbay Council, Torbay and 

South Devon Foundation Trust, South Devon College, and TDA have pledged to spend more with 

local companies where possible. 

The Economic Growth Strategy provides the platform for stakeholders to work together. Through 

consultation stakeholders have had a key role in shaping the strategy. The strategy is focused and 

includes objectives and actions that will make a step change to our prosperity. We now need our 

business community to work with the Council to play a leadership role in addressing the 

challenges we face and seizing the opportunities we have. We want our key partners such as the 

Chamber of Commerce, FSB and members of the Torbay Business Forum to step up and 

proactively work with the Council to deliver this Economic Growth Strategy and raise Torbay’s 

profile nationally.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 248



 

17 

6 Torbay’s economic priorities  

The factors that influence Torbay’s economy are numerous. The following represents some of the 

key characteristics, assets and ‘influencing factors’ which impact our economy.  

We have identified 4 priority areas that through partnership working and taking a long term view 

we can make necessary interventions to support the local economy and its businesses. These 

priorities are underpinned by an action plan which sets out the initiatives which will take forward to 

enable growth across Torbay.  

Our priorities are: 

 Supporting innovators, entrepreneurs and business owners  

 Building on our economic specialisms 

 Helping our community and residents to reach their economic potential and build an inclusive 

economy 

 Maximising economic value of natural capital 

In addition, the Council recognises that addressing the Climate Emergency is a cross-cutting 

theme. The challenge is significant and will offer economic opportunities over the lifetime of the 

strategy. It will also impact all four of our priorities are impacted by new policy or approaches. 

impacted by new policy or approaches. 

i) Supporting Innovators, Entrepreneurs and Business Owners 

The Council will continue to encourage enterprise. We will work with local business networks and 

key businesses to ensure that the Torbay economy is successful. We will welcome entrepreneurs, 

innovators and social enterprises and will develop programmes and projects that will ensure that 

the economy offers the conditions for businesses to thrive.  

Why is this important to Torbay? 

 To raise GVA per worker 

 To attract new jobs 

 To encourage more full time jobs 

 Improve living standards 

What challenges does Torbay face? 

 Limited amount of commercial workspace and employment land available  

 Limited skills available from residents  

 A fragmented business voice  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 249



 

18 

Our approach  Our focus 

Supporting start-ups and 

scale-ups 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Boosting innovation 

throughout the economy, 

including commercialising 

knowledge from 

universities and 

government, and 

supporting firms of all 

sizes in all sectors to 

improve their products, 

processes and capabilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Using the findings of the 

DBI research that will help 

our under-represented 

business communities to 

engage with local business 

networks 

 

 

We will target inward 

investment opportunities 

proactively to ensure that 

we can accommodate new 

business investment 

 

 

Whilst Torbay is home to innovative firms, we 

need more companies investing in R&D ensuring 

we have the infrastructure to support scale up. We 

will also support the growth of the social economy. 

We are aware that we need more commercial 

space and land to meet demand from our growing 

businesses and potential new investors.  

 

Innovation does not just occur in high tech sectors 

and top universities. Simple improvements to 

processes, finding new markets or adapting to new 

technology can increase productivity. We will 

continue to support the creation of new 

businesses and the growth of small businesses, 

including independents, which are an important 

part of the Torbay economy. We will commission a 

business support programme that will facilitate 

growth. 

 

We will support companies engaged in the Hi-

Tech Cluster to ensure that they can thrive within 

Torbay by developing the relationship with 

Universities and embedding SetSquared, or a 

similar organisation, in EPIC.  

 

We will establish an Ethnic Minority Networking 

Group to support Torbay’s under represented 

business community.  Encourage more 

underrepresented businesses to participate in the 

Torbay Business Forum and the Torbay 

Champions Programme. 

 

 

We will work with our partners to attract inward 

investment that we can accommodate within our 

limited employment space. We will research new 

business targets recognising that we can attract 

smaller agile companies associated with our key 

sectors 

 

Page 250



 

19 

To maximise benefits for 

local people, we need to 

provide first class support 

that will enable Torbay 

businesses to start, grow 

and prosper. As part of 

this, we will contribute to 

quality workplaces with a 

healthy, skilled, and 

motivated workforce 

 

Through providing expert advice and support to 

access national grant investment, we will continue 

to help businesses to expand and innovate, 

creating new jobs and products and boosting the 

local economy. New businesses are particularly 

important, and we will continue to target start-ups 

and entrepreneurs in our key growth sectors. 

 

 

ii)  Building on our Economic Specialisms  

The Council will continue to encourage growth in key sectors. Our sectors play a key role in 

delivering growth and providing employment opportunities for Torbay residents.  

This strategy is seeking to build on the foundations which are already in place around our 

photonics and micro-electronics, tourism and fishing industries, as well as emerging opportunities 

in medical and healthcare technologies and creative industries. The outstanding marine and 

natural experience are as important for attracting, retaining and growing leading edge tech 

businesses. These businesses will provide important employment and growth that will underpin 

improvements in the Torbay economy.  

Why is this important to Torbay? 

 To secure new opportunities for Torbay’s residents   

 To attract new jobs and investment to strengthen the Torbay economy 

 To raise GVA per worker 

 To attract new jobs 

 To encourage more full time and high-quality jobs 

What challenges does Torbay face? 

 Limited amount of commercial workspace and employment land available  

 Limited skills available from residents  

 The seasonal nature and low value of the tourism sector  

 

Our approach  Our focus 

Growth in our main sectors 

will create wealth and jobs. 

We are creating the base 

for business to grow.  

 

 

This will be achieved by building on and 

enhancing our existing support programmes that 

are already enabling individuals and businesses to 

address barriers to growth, improve resource 

efficiency, raise productivity and compete on an 

international scale.  

Page 251



 

20 

 

Innovation is a key driver of 

growth, and we will 

continue to support the 

development of an 

inventive and pioneering 

economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Businesses are finding it 

difficult to recruit to a 

range of roles. This is 

demonstrated by there 

being more vacancies 

available in Torbay than at 

any other point 

 

The medical and healthcare 

sector offers opportunities 

for economic growth. With 

an ageing population there 

is potential to explore 

different opportunities 

during the life of the 

strategy 

 

We will work with the 

tourism and visitor 

economy sector to explore 

how Torbay can develop as 

a year-round destination 

 

Explore how the 

maintenance of the South 

 

TDA will continue to support our key sectors and 

play a facilitative role in connecting businesses 

with new opportunities. We will establish new 

sector-led business groups to facilitate growth 

opportunities and linking into support and funding 

opportunities. In relation to the Photonics and 

Micro-electronics sector, we will deliver support via 

our MOU with Set Squared which will provide 

advice and guidance to innovative companies.  

We will work closely with our key sectors and large 

employers, to understand the skills that are 

required and whether current provision meets 

those requirements. 

 

We will work with the business community, 

schools (both secondary and primary), colleges, 

universities and training providers to shape a skills 

system that meets the needs of our economy. 

 

 

 

 

We will work with our health partners and medical 

and healthcare technology based businesses to 

explore new opportunities that will contribute to 

economic growth.  

 

 

 

 

 

We will support the delivery of the English Riviera 

Destination Management Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Brixham is the UK’s leading port for the Fishing 

sector. We will continue to support its ambitious 

growth plans in the fishing sector. We will explore 

Page 252



 

21 

West’s fishing fleet can be 

serviced within Torbay 

 

 

 

The Council will address 

the challenge we face 

regarding the limited 

amount of employment 

land we have available to 

support economic growth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

whether there is demand for a regional hub in 

Torbay as the sector currently uses maintenance 

centres in the Netherlands. 

 

The Council will review the employment land it has 

available and work with stakeholders to identify 

both short- and long-term opportunities to bring 

more employment land forward. We will review the 

potential for land acquisition or repurposing 

existing land and property on an ongoing basis. 

 

The Council will work to ensure that existing 

employment land sites are protected and not lost 

to housing development. Furthermore, the 

employment land allocated in mixed sites 

developments will also be protected and 

developed. 

 

We will work with stakeholders to establish 

whether vacant high street units can be used to 

provide more employment space through formal 

change of planning use. 

 

 

iii) Helping our community and residents to reach their economic potential and build an 

inclusive economy 

At the heart of the Council’s Corporate Strategy and Community Plan and this Economic Growth 

Strategy are the people of Torbay. We will work with residents and businesses to create the social 

prosperity that allows everyone to live and contribute well. We will: 

 Continue to work to tackle poverty and reduce economic disadvantage, by transforming 

prospects for low-income families and creating better futures for our young people particularly 

care experienced young people.  

 Work with local businesses to create good quality jobs and pathways for people to access 

opportunities. 

 Help the most vulnerable by removing or managing barriers to work and connecting our 

poorest communities to economic growth.  

 Focus on activity which helps raise the employment rate of the most disadvantaged residents.  

 Encourage the maximum social benefit from the Council’s commissioning and procurement 

activity through our Community Wealth Building approach.  

Increasingly employers are reporting that they are unable to recruit, or when they do skills levels 

are not at a level they require. There is a move nationally to engage with businesses more 

Page 253



 

22 

significantly to ensure that their demands are understood and acted upon within the education 

system. This is a fundamental challenge the UK is facing, which Torbay needs to address.  

The HotSW Local Skills Report (2022) states that Torbay has ‘Lower supply and lower demand for 

skills’ (i.e., “Low skills equilibrium”). The Strategy identifies that work in Torbay will focus on 

‘maximising the development of existing and new opportunities within Torbay. This will include 

new employment and upskilling within HotSW wide growth sectors such as Photonics and Micro-

electronics, marine engineering, tourism and wider coastal industries. Recognising long standing 

challenges within the area around inclusion and employment, a specific focus will be placed upon 

aspiration and talent retention, seeking to support young people and adults to grow and develop 

within Torbay, as well as supporting companies to upskill, renew and refocus as the economy 

evolves.  

Torbay has an ageing population with over 50% of the working population aged 50 and over. This 

presents issues in terms of Torbay’s productivity rates and impacts on economic opportunities for 

younger people. We will explore how we can support the 50+ age group to enhance their work 

opportunities and contribution to the local economy.  

Why is this important to Torbay? 

 To secure new opportunities for Torbay’s residents  

 To increase the economic performance and productivity of Torbay 

 To ensure that our residents reach their potential and reduce pressures on other public 

services   

 To ensure residents have access to well paid, full-time work, to combat economic shocks that 

impact upon cost of living, wellbeing and health 

 To turn the tide on poverty 

What challenges does Torbay face? 

 Torbay has high levels of workless households 

 Torbay has high levels of deprivation based on National indices 

 Only 20% of residents possess a NVQ level 4 qualification, the South West 40.4% 

 9% of our residents do not have a qualification (+6.2% since 2017) 

 Only 29% of the workforce are graduates  

 Claimant count reached its highest point in 2021 

 Our key sectors such as tourism and health and social care are not seen as attractive careers 

 There are now more vacancies in Torbay than unemployed people 

 

Our approach Our focus  

We will facilitate activity 

across key skills 

stakeholders in Torbay to 

transform local skills 

support 

 

We will facilitate closer working between 

employers and education providers, with business 

involvement directly in the classroom to mentor 

and inspire young people. Greater collaboration 

will help to develop and commission education 

and training that is tailored to the needs of 

Page 254



 

23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

employers and our economic priorities. We want 

our employers to commit to invest more in skills 

training, engage more with schools, and deepen 

their involvement in education.  

 

We will promote apprenticeships as a key route for 

our communities to access employment. We will 

encourage our private sector stakeholders to 

explore Degree level apprenticeships as a 

mechanism for attracting highly skilled employees. 

Good work has been done in this area over the 

last five years to put employers at the heart of the 

apprenticeship system, they now write the 

standards required and commission training 

providers, this not only benefits trainees but also 

business as the apprenticeship levy can offset 

funding costs to train staff.  

 

The photonics and micro-electronics sector has 

demonstrated best practice around skills 

development through the establishment of a 

training suite and course development, securing 

associate lecturers from across the sector. This 

has led to an undergraduate Photonics and Micro-

electronics degree and how industry has shaped 

this work is a model that could be followed by 

other sectors within Torbay.  

 

We will work with our stakeholders to ensure that 

roles in key sectors such as tourism and health 

and social care are viewed as positive 

opportunities. We will look at how we can work 

with employers and providers to improve the skills 

of the existing workforce, to enhance people’s 

productivity, progression and resilience. This will 

include looking at how greater support can be 

provided to people who lose their jobs or whose 

skills need to be kept up to date. 

 

We will develop pathways to help our people enter 

and progress in our key sectors  

Page 255



 

24 

We will support 

economically inactive 

people to enhance their 

economic opportunities 

 

 

We will help those who are 

in work access training 

opportunities to further 

develop their career 

 

We will work with 

construction companies to 

drive recruitment into the 

sector ensuring we have 

the skills available to 

deliver Torbay’s place-

shaping capital 

regeneration programmes 

 

We will support the over 

50s to enhance their 

economic opportunities  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We will continue to provide the support needed to 

help people who are out of work to build their 

confidence and develop the skills need to secure 

employment (paid or voluntary) or move into 

further education and training. 

 

We will work with career advice providers and 

training providers to find solutions to help those in 

work access the necessary training and support to 

help them develop their career. 

 

We will support the delivery of construction skills 

through the Build Torbay programme to ensure the 

sector has enough skilled labour to deliver the 

growing number of construction projects  

 

 

 

 

 

We will explore how in-work poverty can be 

addressed through closer working with employers, 

DWP and with education providers to ensure that 

those residents in work are aware of opportunities 

to gain better employment, new skills or retrain. 

We will also work with partners to ensure that the 

long-term unemployed have the opportunity to 

build their skills, become more work-ready and 

have the opportunity to access employment.   

Torbay has a major construction programme 

underway throughout the lifetime of the Economic 

Growth Strategy. We will work with education 

providers and businesses via the Build Torbay 

project to ensure that young people are informed 

and inspired by working in the construction sector. 

Torbay has developed a Community Wealth 

Building programme. Adopting this approach 

provides value for our communities wherever 

possible, through the goods we buy, people we 

employ, assets we own and the powers we have 

Page 256



 

25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Build a carbon neutral 

workforce in Torbay. 

that can bring about change to maximise Torbay’s 

local economic opportunities. 

Working with training providers, stakeholders and 

DWP we will explore options that will support the 

economic potential of our over 50s population.  

 

Need to understand the economic potential that a 

carbon neutral Torbay by 2030 will bring, and the 

skills needed to achieve this. 

 

iv) Maximising the economic value of natural capital 

Torbay offers a premier and natural experience and was designated a Geopark in 2007 by 

UNESCO because of our unique and spectacular geology and natural environment. Torbay is 

home to varied natural assets, its outstanding marine and natural experience is as important for 

attracting, re-training and growing leading edge tech businesses as it is for bringing visitors to the 

area and being a place where people want to live. The geography of Torbay shapes our economy 

to a large extent.  

Tourism related sectors account for around a third of employment and the draw of the South 

Devon lifestyle attracts people of all ages to relocate here permanently, often setting up small 

businesses within the sector. The Torbay economy is focused on the service industry, with more 

than 80% of the workforce employed in service sectors, higher than the regional and national 

averages. This high proportion of service sector employees is due to local concentrations in 

distribution, hotels and restaurants, and in the public sector. Around one third of Torbay’s 

workforce is employed in public administration, education and health, and all three sub-sectors are 

of significant importance to the local economy.  

 

Why is this important to Torbay? 

 Torbay’s natural capital offers new opportunity for economic growth, both onshore and 

offshore 

 The fishing port of Brixham currently lands the highest value of catch in England 

 To ensure that new opportunities drive productivity, provide new opportunities for residents 

and ensure that the Torbay economy performs better 

 To make our town centres more vibrant 

What challenges does Torbay face? 

 Torbay’s economy relies on a limited number of sectors  

 The economy currently relies on a greater proportion of part time, low skilled workers  

 Investment will be required to maximise opportunities for Torbay 

 Need to protect and enhance our natural environment 

 

 
Page 257



 

26 

Our approach  Our focus 

We want to positively and 

sustainable use our natural 

environment to help secure 

economic growth  

 

We want to ensure that our 

High Streets and Town 

Centres are high 

performing, providing the 

services businesses, 

residents and visitors need 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We will explore how we can support the visitor 

economy and fish processing sector to ensure they 

can increase their profitability and productivity in a 

sustainable way. 

 

We will deliver the £21.9m Torquay Towns Fund 

focusing on the following key priorities increasing 

density in town centres strengthening local economic 

assets including local cultural assets site acquisition, 

remediation, preparation, regeneration and making 

full use of planning tools to bring strategic direction 

and change. 

 

We will deliver the £13.36m Paignton Future High 

Streets Fund which will kick start the exciting 

transformation of Paignton town centre. The funding 

will allow us to deliver infrastructure improvements, 

new homes in the town centre and an improved 

cultural offer 

 

We will identify and deliver suitable regeneration in 

Brixham Town Centre. 

 

 

  

Page 258



 

27 

7 Cross cutting themes 

The Economic Growth Strategy has identified tackling the Climate Emergency as a cross cutting 

theme. The Council has recognised the urgency of addressing the Climate emergency. The 

Economic Growth Strategy has identified contributions that can be made to support this objective. 

We recognise that these will evolve over the lifetime of the strategy and will report on new 

approaches as they come forward. 

i)Tackling the Climate Emergency  

Climate change and its repercussions is an acknowledged global problem. Torbay Council is 

committed to addressing the Climate Emergency as a key priority. In a special report of the Inter-

Governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the United Nations highlights the need to take 

immediate action to limit the increase in average global temperatures to a 1.5°C threshold. Even 

an increase of half a degree beyond this will drastically worsen the risk of drought, floods, extreme 

heat and poverty. We are also seeing impacts locally such as more severe storms and flooding 

which are occurring more frequently. 

It has been predicted that due to climate change we will see over the next 100 years the sea level 

rise in Torbay by over 1m. Over the next 100 years the frequency and impact of water coming over 

the top of the sea walls will increase, resulting in more infrastructure and properties being affected 

by flooding. On top of that, more intense rainfall will increase the risk of localised flooding and 

erosion. 

Tackling climate change requires global and local action. Everyone needs to play their part. This is 

why Torbay Council has declared a Climate Emergency. Torbay carbon emissions have been 

falling steadily since 2008. However, in 2018 Torbay emitted 424,000 tonnes of carbon emissions 

(BEIS). In Torbay, housing is responsible for over 40% of our areas emissions. Transport is 

responsible for just over 30% and commerce and industry 20%. To achieve Torbay’s 2030 target 

we will need to reduce our 424,000 tonnes of carbon emissions as much as we can towards zero. 

Any residual emissions will have to be offset through local and national tree planting and other 

offset programmes. Our approach to addressing the climate emergency is as follows:   

Why is this important to Torbay? 

 Carbon emissions arising from Torbay equated to 424,000 tonnes in 2019. These emissions 

come from our homes and our businesses. We need to play our part locally to help reduce 

our emissions, tackle climate change and avoid a further warming of our planet and the wide 

ranging adverse impacts it will have on us all. 

What challenges does Torbay face? 

 Torbay has been reducing carbon emissions year on year. Further work is needed to 

implement a carbon neutral future. The Carbon Neutral Torbay – initial action plan sets the 

course for addressing the issue  

 

 

Page 259



 

28 

Our approach Our focus 

Establish a net zero emission 

economy  

 

We will focus our work on developing approaches to 

address: 

• Transport 

• Buildings 

• Waste 

• Energy 

• Procurement 

• Green infrastructure 

Support our businesses to 

adopt climate neutral policies 

and practices 

 

We will ensure that cutting carbon presents economic 

opportunities for Torbay’s companies through the 

development of local programmes of activity. Work with 

existing businesses to improve their environmental 

performance: 

• Develop a low carbon skilled workforce who are able 

to secure local jobs 

•          Commission resource efficiency business support 

programmes 

• Encourage innovative and inclusive local growth 

Develop a resilient economy We will explore with our partners the potential to 

• Use land to capture and store carbon 

• Improve building standards to target net zero 

Implement Retrofit on public buildings and increased 

development of Green Skills 

 

We will seek to secure funding for specialist business 

support advice through ESW to help businesses reduce 

their carbon footprint and establish net zero targets. 

We will ensure that any 

intervention supports 

improvements to air quality 

and health across Torbay 

We will support development of a local energy action plan 

and identify energy efficiency programmes such as 

insulating homes and further renewables will play a vital role 

in reducing energy demand. 

 

 

 

  

Page 260



 

29 

8. Measuring economic outcomes  

 

To ensure effective delivery of our priorities, project teams and strategic leads will be assigned to 

each. It is important to recognise that the actions prioritised by this review are not static, nor do 

they reflect all activities undertaken by partners in delivering economic development. Therefore, 

while the overarching strategic framework should remain stable, the actions themselves will be 

more fluid, subject to periodic review and tweaked to incorporate new opportunities/interventions 

as they emerge. The Torbay Economic Logic Model set out below highlights the high-level and 

long-term nature of economic improvement which will be needed through this Economic Growth 

Strategy up to 2030, but also beyond.  

 

In order to measure progress, the Council will produce an Annual Economic Monitor which will 

draw together a suite of ‘real time’ economic intelligence indicators. The Economic Growth Action 

Plan sets out the measures and outcomes that Torbay is seeking to deliver against each of the 

Priority areas. The Action Plan also establishes core outcomes by 2030, which sets the overall 

target by the conclusion of the lifespan of this Economic Growth Strategy. These plans will be 

‘living’ documents, monitored and refreshed by project teams. This will ensure all partners are 

working together towards a coherent set of economic objectives, prioritising resources and 

delivery where appropriate. The Council will also host an Annual Economic Forum to highlight 

progress being made on the strategy, and to provide an update on economic performance.  

 

 

 

Page 261



 

30 

Our Priority Key performance 

indicators 

Core outcomes Source 

Supporting 

innovators, 

entrepreneurs 

and Business 

Owners 

Business start-up rate  

Business density  

Business survival rates  

Increased Gross 

Value Added 

(GVA) per worker, 

average worker 

income and 

productivity  

ONS Business Births, 

Deaths, and Survival 

Rates 2021 

Business Density & 

Business Population 

Estimates 2021 

Building on 

our economic 

specialisms 

 

New investment from 

companies in Photonics 

and Micro-electronics, 

Fishing or Tourism 

sectors 

Number of inward 

investment successes in 

key sectors 

Improved recruitment 

position reported by key 

companies 

High levels of 

business start-up, 

with increased 

survival rates 

beyond 3 years 

Number of inward 

investment 

successes 

Increase in the 

number of jobs in 

our core sectors 

UK Business 

Investment Data 

ONS 

Inward investment 

successes 

Primary research to 

find recruitment 

position with 

companies in Torbay 

ft/pt employment 

outcome (BRES data) 

Helping our 

community 

and residents 

to reach their 

economic 

potential 

 

Businesses reporting 

skills shortages  

Number of schools 

engaged 

Youth-unemployment rate 

Number of 

apprenticeships 

Creating more 

full-time job 

opportunities for 

Torbay residents 

and provide good 

work for all 

Improvement in 

educational 

attainment – 

increasing the 

number of 

residents qualified 

to deliver the jobs 

needed by local 

business 

Primary research with 

local schools/ 

businesses 

Unemployment rate 

and Claimant count 

Youth unemployment 

rate national statistics 

(UK Gov) 

Youth unemployment 

by region (ONS) 

House of Commons 

Apprenticeships 

Statistics 

Supporting 

our key 

sectors 

Employment Land 

Acquired/Developed 

GVA levels for the Torbay  

Increase in employment 

levels 

High levels of 

business start-up, 

with increased 

survival rates 

beyond 3 years 

Torbay Gov Housing 

and Economic Land 

Availability 

Assessment ONS 

CVA Nomis Labour 

Market Profile 

Page 262

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/businessinvestment/previousReleases
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN05871/SN05871.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN05871/SN05871.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN05871/SN05871.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peoplenotinwork/unemployment/datasets/regionalunemploymentbyagex02
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peoplenotinwork/unemployment/datasets/regionalunemploymentbyagex02
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn06113/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn06113/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn06113/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/helaa/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/helaa/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/helaa/
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/planning-policies/helaa/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/datasets/regionalgrossvalueaddedbalancedbyindustrylocalauthoritiesbyitl1region
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/datasets/regionalgrossvalueaddedbalancedbyindustrylocalauthoritiesbyitl1region
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157356/report.aspx
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157356/report.aspx


 

31 

9.  Implementing the Economic Growth Strategy 

 

Torbay has several economic strengths; we are however facing deep-rooted challenges. The 

Economic Growth Strategy outlines the necessary steps needed to begin to address the issues. 

Many will be generational challenges where we need to make a start and address for the long 

term – such as Skills issues. Other have shorter term solutions upon, including regenerating and 

refocusing our Town Centres and supporting our entrepreneurs and innovators, these are set out 

in our priorities and apply across all sectors. Delivering inclusive growth is a key theme within this 

strategy. This is about ensuring that people and places contribute to and benefit from growth to 

their full potential. Our priority activities are set out in the Economic Growth Strategy Action Plan. 

The Action Plan identifies the projects and approach that Torbay will be taking to support the local 

economy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This document can be made available in other languages and formats. For more information, 

please contact Terri Johnson terri.johnson@tda.uk.net  

 

Page 263



 

32 

 

Page 264



Standing Order D11 (in relation to Overview and Scrutiny) – Call-in and Urgency 
Council Meeting, 8 December 2022 

 
In accordance with Standing Order D11, the call-in procedure does not apply where the executive decision being taken is 
urgent.  A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would prejudice the Council’s or 
the publics’ interests. 
 
Before deciding whether a decision is urgent the decision making person or body must consult the Overview and Scrutiny 
Co-ordinator, or in his absence either: 
 

(a) (if the decision is a Key Decision and Standing Order E14 (General Exception) applies) each member of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board shall be consulted; or 

 
(b) (in all other cases) the Civic Mayor, or (if there is no Civic Mayor appointed) the Deputy Civic Mayor, shall be 

consulted. 
 

Decisions taken as a matter of urgency shall be reported to the next available meeting of the Council, together with the 
reasons for urgency and a summary of the consultation undertaken.   
 
The table below sets out this information: 

Matter for decision Decision-taker Reasons for urgency Consultation 
 

Governance 
Oversight of Capital 
Spend 

The Cabinet The Cabinet took a decision, at an extra meeting held on 13 October 
2022, in respect of Governance Oversight of Capital Spend which 
needed to be implemented immediately. 
 
The decision taken by the Cabinet needed to be implemented 
immediately as any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would prejudice the publics and Council’s interests. 
 

The Overview and 
Scrutiny Co-ordinator was 
consulted on 10 October 
2022. 

 

P
age 265

A
genda Item

 11



Investment Zones in 
England – 
Expression of 
Interest 

The Cabinet The Cabinet took a decision, at an extra meeting held on 13 October 
2022, in respect of submitting an expression of interest to become an 
Investment Zone, the deadline for the submission of the expression 
of interest was 14 October 2022. 
 
The decision taken by the Cabinet needed to be implemented 
immediately as any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would prejudice the publics and Council’s interests. 
 

The Overview and 
Scrutiny Co-ordinator was 
consulted on 10 October 
2022. 

Torquay Town Deal 
– Land Assembly 

The Cabinet The Cabinet took a decision, at its meeting held on 18 October 2022, 
in respect of Torquay Town Deal – Land Assembly which needed to 
be implemented by 28 October 2022. 
 
The decision taken by the Cabinet needed to be implemented 
immediately as any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would prejudice the publics and Council’s interests. 
 

The Overview and 
Scrutiny Co-ordinator was 
consulted on 10 October 
2022. 

 P
age 266



Torbay Council – Constitution  Schedule 5 – Delegation of Executive Functions  
 

Schedule 5 - Scheme of Delegation of Executive Functions to the Cabinet, 
Committees of the Cabinet and Officers 

 
This report is presented to the meeting of Council on 8 December 2022 in accordance with 
Standing Order C4.2(a) for inclusion in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation (Schedule 5 of 
Part 3) of the Constitution of Torbay Council. 
 
1. The names, addresses and wards of the people appointed to the Cabinet by the 

Leader of the Council are set out below:  
 

Name Address Electoral Ward 

Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance – 
Councillor Darren Cowell 

Torbay Council 
Town Hall 
Torquay 
TQ1 3DR 
 
07808 765486 

Shiphay 

Cabinet Member for Adults and 
Public Health – Councillor Jackie 
Stockman 

Torbay Council 
Town Hall 
Torquay 
TQ1 3DR 
 
01803 851255 

Furzeham with 
Summercombe 

Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services – Councillor Cordelia 
Law 

Torbay Council 
Town Hall 
Torquay 
TQ1 3DR 
 
07733 550133 

Tormohun 

Cabinet Member for Economic 
Regeneration, Tourism and 
Housing – Councillor Swithin Long  

Torbay Council 
Town Hall 
Torquay 
TQ1 3DR 
 
07413 111648 

Barton with Watcombe 

Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, 
Environment and Culture – 
Councillor Mike Morey 

Torbay Council 
Town Hall 
Torquay 
TQ1 3DR 
 
01803 853316 

Furzeham with 
Summercombe 

Cabinet Member for Equality & 
Diversity and Corporate and 
Community Services – Councillor 
Christine Carter 

Torbay Council 
Town Hall 
Torquay 
TQ1 3DR 
 
07848 829159 

Roundham with Hyde 

 

Page 267

Agenda Item 12



Torbay Council – Constitution  Schedule 5 – Delegation of Executive Functions  
 

 
2. The Cabinet will carry out all the local authority’s functions which are not the 

responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this 
Constitution.  Executive functions will be exercised collectively unless the Leader of 
the Council directs otherwise in accordance with Article 6.06 of the Constitution.   

 

Cabinet Member Service Areas 

 
Leader of the Council - Councillor Steve Darling 

 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 
Councillor Darren Cowell 
 

Finance: 
Creditors 
Debtors 
Payments 
Internal Audit 
Cashiers 
Procurement 
Systems 
Accountancy  

 

Cabinet Member for Adults and Public 
Health 
 
Councillor Jackie Stockman 

Adult Services (NHS Trust 
Provider): 

Adult Mental Health 
Adult Safeguarding 
Care Homes 
Commissioning & Management 
Community Alarms 
Community Equipment 
Domiciliary & Day Care 
 

Adult Social Care Commissioning: 
Community Engagement 
Healthwatch  
NHS Advisory Service 
Performance Management 
 

Public Health: 
Epidemiology 
Health Improvement 
Health Protection and Infection 
Control 
NHS Health Services and 
Support 

 

Page 268



Torbay Council – Constitution  Schedule 5 – Delegation of Executive Functions  
 

Cabinet Member Service Areas 

Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
 
Councillor Cordelia Law 

Children’s Safeguarding: 
Early Help 
Targeted Support Services 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
Single Assessment 
Children in Need/Child 
Protection 
Children Looked After/Care 
Leavers 
Children with Disabilities 
Fostering 
Adoption 
Independent Reviewing 
Youth Offending Service 
Integrated Youth Support 
Services 
Quality Assurance 
Professional Support to Torbay 
Safeguarding Children Board 

 
Education, Learning and Skills: 

Early Years and Childcare 
Pupil Place Planning 
Special Educational Needs and 
Disability 
School Admissions 
School Improvement and 
Commissioning 
School Transport 
Virtual School 
Children’s Centres 
 

Cabinet Member for Economic 
Regeneration, Tourism and Housing 
 
Councillor Long 

Business Services: 
TDA Commissioning 
Asset Management 
Investment Fund Management 

 
Adult Social Care Commissioning: 

Housing Strategy & Development 
 
Community Services: 

Housing Options 
Housing Standards 
Homes Improvement Agency 

Page 269



Torbay Council – Constitution  Schedule 5 – Delegation of Executive Functions  
 

Cabinet Member Service Areas 

Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, 
Environment and Culture 
 
Councillor Mike Morey 
 

Business Services: 
Resort Services (Beaches) 
Parking Services 
SWISCo (Commissioning) and 
Service Delivery 
Natural Environment, Parks and 
Open Spaces 
Flood Risk Management 
Culture and Events 
Heritage 
Geopark 
Sports Development 
Theatres, Arts and Museums 
Leisure Contracts 
Waste Disposal 
 

Planning and Transport: 
Local Transport and Strategic 
Transport 
Highways and Street Scene 
Building Control 

 

Page 270



Torbay Council – Constitution  Schedule 5 – Delegation of Executive Functions  
 

Cabinet Member Service Areas 

Cabinet Member for Equality & Diversity 
and Corporate and Community Services 
 
Councillor Christine Carter 

Corporate Services: 
Communications 
Community Engagement and 
Strategic Partnership 
Coroner 
Governance Support (Democratic 
and Electoral Services) 
Registrars 
Human Resources and Payroll 
Information and Freedom of 
Information 
Legal Services 
Performance and Business 
Development 
ICT 
Library Services 
Print and Post Room 
Website Support  

 
Transformation: 

Programme Management 
Project Management 

 
Community and Customer Services: 

Corporate Health and Safety 
Emergency Planning 
Food and Safety 
Safer Communities 
Licensing and Public Protection 
Trading Standards 
CCTV and Security 
Crematorium 
Customer Services and 
Connections 
Revenue & Benefits 

 
3. No executive functions have been delegated to area committees, any other authority 

or any joint arrangements at the present time. 
 
4. The Leader of the Council has also (so far as lawful) delegated to officers the 

discharge of those functions that are referred to in Schedule 7 and are executive 
functions in the manner set out in that Schedule, in accordance with (and subject to) 
the Council’s Standing Orders in relation to the Cabinet . 

 
5. So far as the Constitution requires officers to consult with “the relevant member”, the 

areas of responsibility of the Cabinet Members are as set out paragraph 2 above. 
 

Page 271


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	6 Petitions
	7 Members' questions
	8 Proposed Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24
	torbay-s13a-202223-scheme-final
	Structure Bookmarks


	10 Torbay Economic Growth Strategy
	Torbay Economic Growth Strategy
	Torbay Economic Growth Strategy Appendix 1
	Torbay Economic Growth Strategy Appendix 2

	11 Standing Order D11 (in relation to Overview and Scrutiny) - Call-in and Urgency
	12 Composition and Constitution of the Cabinet and Record of Delegations of Executive Functions



Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		Torbay S13A 202223 Scheme Final.pdf






		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk


		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022





 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.



		Needs manual check: 0


		Passed manually: 2


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 0


		Passed: 30


		Failed: 0





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top
